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Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to �NeuStar,� �we,� �us,� the �Company� and �our� refer to
NeuStar, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

PART I

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS

Overview

We provide the communications industry with essential clearinghouse services. Our customers use the databases we
contractually maintain in our clearinghouse to obtain data required to successfully route telephone calls in North
America, to exchange information with other communications service providers and to manage technological changes
in their own networks. We operate the authoritative directories that manage virtually all telephone area codes and
numbers, and we enable the dynamic routing of calls among thousands of competing communications service
providers, or CSPs, in the United States and Canada. All CSPs that offer telecommunications services to the public at
large, or telecommunications service providers, such as Verizon Communications Inc., Sprint Nextel Corporation,
AT&T Corp. and AT&T Mobility LLC, must access our clearinghouse to properly route virtually all of their
customers� calls. We provide clearinghouse services to emerging CSPs, including Internet service providers, mobile
network operators, cable television operators, and voice over Internet protocol, or VoIP, service providers. In addition,
we provide domain name services, including internal and external managed DNS solutions that play a key role in
directing and managing traffic on the Internet, and we manage the authoritative directories for the .us and .biz Internet
domains. We operate the authoritative directory for U.S. Common Short Codes, part of the short messaging service
relied upon by the U.S. wireless industry, and provide solutions used by mobile network operators worldwide to
enable mobile instant messaging for their end users.

We were founded to meet the technical and operational challenges of the communications industry when the
U.S. government mandated local number portability in 1996. While we remain the provider of the authoritative
solution that the communications industry relies upon to meet this mandate, we have developed a broad range of
innovative services to meet an expanded range of customer needs. We provide the communications industry in North
America with critical technology services that solve the addressing, interoperability and infrastructure needs of CSPs.
These services are used by CSPs to manage a range of their technical and operating requirements, including:

� Addressing.  We enable CSPs to use critical, shared addressing resources, such as telephone numbers, Internet
top-level domain names, and U.S. Common Short Codes.

� Interoperability.  We enable CSPs to exchange and share critical operating data so that communications
originating on one provider�s network can be delivered and received on the network of another CSP. We also
facilitate order management and work flow processing among CSPs.

� Infrastructure.  We enable CSPs to manage their networks more efficiently by centrally managing certain
critical data they use to route communications over their networks.

Company Information and History

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1998 to acquire our business from Lockheed Martin Corporation. This
acquisition was completed in November 1999. Our principal executive offices are located at 46000 Center Oak Plaza,
Sterling, Virginia, 20166, and our telephone number at that address is (571) 434-5400.
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On June 28, 2005, we effected a recapitalization which involved (i) payment of all accrued and unpaid dividends on
all of the then-outstanding shares of preferred stock, followed by the conversion of all such shares into shares of
common stock, (ii) the amendment of our certificate of incorporation to provide for Class A common stock and
Class B common stock, and (iii) the split of each share of common stock into 1.4 shares and the reclassification of the
common stock into shares of Class B common stock. We refer to these transactions collectively as the
Recapitalization. Each share of Class B common stock is convertible at the option of the holder into one share of
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Class A common stock, and we anticipate that all holders of Class B common stock will ultimately convert their
shares into shares of Class A common stock.

On June 28, 2005, we made an initial public offering of 31,625,000 shares of Class A common stock, which included
the underwriters� over-allotment option exercise of 4,125,000 shares of Class A common stock. All the shares of
Class A common stock sold in the initial public offering were sold by selling stockholders and, as such, we did not
receive any proceeds from that offering. In December 2005, we completed an additional offering of 20,000,000 shares
of Class A common stock, all of which were sold by selling stockholders. As such, we did not receive any proceeds
from that offering.

Industry Background

Changes in the structure of the communications industry over the past two decades have presented increasingly
complex technical and operating challenges. Whereas the Bell Operating System once dominated the
U.S. telecommunications industry, there are now thousands of service providers, all with disparate networks. Today
these service providers must interconnect their networks and carry each other�s traffic to route phone calls, unlike in
the past when a small number of incumbent wireline carriers used established, bilateral relationships. In addition,
CSPs are delivering a broad set of new services using a diverse array of technologies. These services, which include
voice, data and video, are used in combinations that are far more complex than the historical, uniform voice services
of traditional carriers.

The increasing complexity of the communications industry has produced operational challenges, as the legacy,
in-house network management and back office systems of traditional carriers were not designed to capture all of the
information necessary for provisioning, authorizing, routing and billing these new services. In particular, it has
become significantly more difficult for service providers to:

� Locate end users.  Identify the appropriate destination for a given communication among multiple networks
and unique addresses, such as wireline and wireless phone numbers as well as IP and e-mail addresses;

� Establish identity.  Authenticate that the users of the communications networks are who they represent
themselves to be and that they are authorized to use the services being provided;

� Connect.  Route the communication across disparate networks;

� Provide services.  Authorize and account for the exchange of communications traffic across multiple
networks; and

� Process transactions.  Capture, process and clear accounting records for billing, and generate settlement data
for inter-provider compensation.

Our Clearinghouse

We provide our services from a set of unique databases, systems and platforms in geographically dispersed data
centers, which we refer to collectively as our clearinghouse. Our clearinghouse has been designed to provide
substantial advantages in meeting the challenges facing the communications industry for both traditional voice and IP
networks. First, our clearinghouse databases and capabilities provide competing CSPs with fair, equal and secure
access to essential shared resources such as telephone numbers and domain names. This sharing of data is critical for
locating end-users and establishing their identity. Second, our clearinghouse databases and capabilities serve as an
authoritative directory to ensure proper routing of voice, advanced data applications and IP-based communications,
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such as mobile instant messaging, regardless of originating or terminating technologies. Third, our clearinghouse
allows CSPs access through standard interfaces. Our clearinghouse also enables connections to authoritative operating
data for CSPs and providers of other service elements, including content, entertainment and financial transactions. As
a result, it facilitates advanced services, such as multi-media content services and mobile instant messaging. Finally,
our services facilitate the management of networks and services, including the deployment of new technologies and
protocols, the balancing of communications traffic

2
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across a CSP�s internal networks, network consolidation, and the control of instant messaging services, which promote
a CSP�s ability to create differentiated and value-added services.

To ensure our role as a provider of essential services to the communications industry, we designed our clearinghouse
to be:

� Reliable.  Our clearinghouse services depend on complex technology that is designed to deliver reliability
consistent with telecommunications industry standards. Under our contracts, we have committed to our
customers to deliver high quality services meeting numerous service levels, such as system availability,
response times for help desk inquiries and billing accuracy, consistent with telecommunications industry
standards.

� Scalable.  The modular design of our clearinghouse enables capacity expansion without service interruption
and with incremental investment, providing significant economies of scale.

� Neutral.  We provide our services in a competitively neutral way to ensure that no one telecommunications
service provider, telecommunications industry segment or technology or group of telecommunications
customers is favored over any other. Moreover, we have committed not to be a telecommunications service
provider in competition with our customers.

� Trusted.  The data we collect are important and proprietary. Accordingly, we have appropriate procedures and
systems to protect the privacy and security of customer data, restrict access to the system and generally protect
the integrity of our clearinghouse. Our performance with respect to neutrality, privacy and security is
independently audited regularly.

NeuStar Services

Addressing

�Addresses� are a shared resource among CSPs. Each communications device must have a unique address so that
communications can be routed properly to that device. With the development of new technologies, the number and
type of addressing resources increase, and the advent of bundled services, such as voice plus text messaging, may
require that multiple addresses be identified for what is intended to be a single, integrated communication to one or
more devices used by a single user or a group of users.

For communications to reliably reach the intended users, we believe that the communications industry requires a
trusted, authoritative administrator of addressing directories to route communications. Moreover, we believe that
CSPs must have fair access to shared addressing resources and must be able to access the administrator�s systems to
ensure the proper routing of communications. We provide a range of addressing services to meet these needs,
including:

� Telephone Number Administration.  As the North American Numbering Plan Administrator, we maintain the
authoritative database of telephone numbering resources for North America. We allocate telephone numbers by
geographic location and assign telephone numbers to telecommunications service providers. We administer
area codes, including area code splits and overlays, and collect and forecast telephone number utilization rates
by service providers. As the National Pooling Administrator, we also manage the administration of inventory
and allocation of pooled blocks of unassigned telephone numbers by reassigning 1,000-number blocks of
assigned but unused telephone numbers to telecommunications service providers requiring additional telephone
numbers. We provide these services under fixed-fee annual and cost-plus contracts with the Federal
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Communications Commission, or FCC.

� Telephone Number Pooling.  In addition to the administrative functions associated with our role as the National
Pooling Administrator, we implement the administration of the allocation of pooled blocks of unassigned
telephone numbers through our clearinghouse, including the reallocation of pooled blocks of telephone
numbers to the consolidated network of consolidating carriers following a merger or other business
combination. We are paid on a per transaction basis for this service.

3
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� Internet Domain Name Services.

� Ultra Services.  We provide a suite of services that play a key role in directing and managing Internet traffic,
enabling thousands of customers to intelligently and securely control and distribute that traffic, and ensuring
security, scalability and reliability of websites and email. We are paid a recurring monthly fee based on
contractually established monthly transaction volumes, and a per-transaction fee for transactions processed
in excess of these monthly volumes.

� .BIZ and .US Domains.  We operate the authoritative registries of Internet domain names for the .biz and .us
top level domains. All Internet communications routing to a .biz or .us address must query a copy of our
directory to ensure that the communication is routed to the appropriate destination. We are paid on a
subscription basis for each name in the registries, which together currently contain over two million
registered domain names.

� Registry Gateway Services.  We are the exclusive provider of wholesale registration services to domain
name retailers for the .cn (China) and .tw (Taiwan) Internet domains for all regions outside of the home
countries. We are paid on a subscription basis for each name sold through the gateway.

� U.S. Common Short Codes.  We operate the authoritative U.S. Common Short Code registry on behalf of the
leading wireless providers in the United States. A Common Short Code is a string of five or six numbers,
which serves as the �address� for text messages that are sent from wireless devices to businesses or organizations
on a many-to-one basis. U.S. Common Short Codes are often used to count votes using wireless devices in
promotional marketing efforts, such as votes for sporting event MVPs, to register for contests, and even to
download applications such as ring tones. We are paid on a subscription basis for each code in the registry.

Interoperability

To provide communications across multiple networks involving multiple service providers, industry participants must
exchange essential operating data. We believe that our clearinghouse is the most efficient, logistically practical and
economical means for each CSP to exchange the large volumes of operating data that are required to deliver
communications services between networks. Our services include:

� Wireline and Wireless Number Portability.  Our clearinghouse is the master, authoritative directory that allows
end users to change their telephone carrier without changing their telephone numbers. In addition, service
providers use this service to change the network identification associated with their end users� telephone
numbers after a merger or consolidation. We have provided this service for wireline local number portability
since 1997, and in 2003 we expanded our service to provide portability of telephone numbers between wireless
telecommunications service providers and between wireline and wireless telecommunications service
providers. We are paid on a per transaction basis for this service.

� Order Management Services.  We provide centralized clearinghouse services that permit our customers,
through a single interface, to exchange essential operating data with multiple CSPs in order to provision
services. We are typically paid on a per transaction basis for each order we process.

Infrastructure and Other

Constant changes in the communications service industry require providers to make frequent and extensive changes in
their own network infrastructure. Our infrastructure services are used by CSPs to efficiently reconfigure their
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networks and systems in response to changes in the market. Our services include:

� Network Management.  Our customers use our clearinghouse to centrally process changes to essential network
elements that are used to route telephone calls. We are paid on a per transaction basis for these services. Our
network management services are used by our customers for a variety of different purposes, such as to replace
and upgrade technologies, to balance network traffic and to reroute traffic on alternative networks in the event
of a service disruption.

4
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� Connection Services.  We provide standard connections for those CSPs that connect directly to our
clearinghouse. We are paid an established fee based on the type of connection.

� Service Order Provisioning.  We provide service order provisioning services that enable CSPs to manage their
internal systems through an automated interface to our clearinghouse and other shared industry databases. This
service eliminates the need for service providers to build and maintain their own internal service order
provisioning system. We are paid on a per transaction basis for these services.

� Mobile Instant Messaging.  Through our recent acquisition of Followap Inc., we provide scalable solutions to
mobile network operators worldwide, which allow them to manage instant messaging, or IM, and to create
their own branded IM services.

Operations

Sales Force and Marketing

As of December 31, 2006, our sales and marketing organization consisted of approximately 240 people who work
together to proactively deliver advanced technologies and solutions to serve our customers� needs. Our sales teams
work closely with our customers to identify and address their needs, while our marketing team works closely with our
sales teams to deliver comprehensive services, develop a clear and consistent corporate image and offer a full
customer support system.

We have an experienced sales and marketing staff who offer extensive knowledge in the management of telephone
numbers and domain name systems, number portability and IP clearinghouse services. We believe we have close
relations with our customers, and we know their systems and operations. We have worked closely with our customers
to develop solutions such as national pooling, U.S. Common Short Codes, number translation services, and the
provisioning of service requests for VoIP providers. Our sales teams strive to increase the services purchased by
existing customers and to expand the range of services we provide to our customers.

Customer Support

Our customer support organization operates 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and 365 days a year. It is in charge of
implementation of our service offerings from the point at which a contract is signed until the point at which our
services are fully operational. Post-delivery, our staff works closely with our customers to ensure that our service level
agreements are being met. They continually solicit customer feedback and are in charge of bringing together the
proper internal resources to troubleshoot any problems or issues that customers may have. Performance of the group is
measured by customer satisfaction surveys as well by the group�s ability to limit service downtime.

Operational Capabilities

We operate geographically diverse state-of-the-art data centers that support our clearinghouse services. Our data
centers are custom designed for the processing and transmission of high volumes of transaction-related, time-sensitive
data in a highly secure environment. We are committed to employing best-of-breed tools and equipment for
application development, infrastructure management, operations management, and information security. These
include equipment from International Business Machines Corporation, or IBM, Cisco Systems, Inc., Sun
Microsystems, Inc., Dell Inc., and EMC Corporation, and database systems and software from Oracle Corporation and
IBM. In general, we subscribe to the highest level of service and responsiveness available from each third party
vendor that we use. Further, to protect the integrity of our systems, the major components of our networks are
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generally designed to eliminate any single point of failure. In addition, we employ encryption and other security
techniques that well exceed industry standards.

We consistently exceed our contractual service level requirements, and our performance results are monitored
internally and subjected to independent audits on a regular basis for some of our services.

5
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Research and Development

Our first focus in research and development is to innovate. We understand our customers� challenges in managing an
expanding array of technologies and end-user services across a growing number of CSPs. We employ industry experts
in areas of technology that we believe are key to solving these problems. We believe their work has had a profound
impact on the communications industry. For instance, we led the industry effort to design the architecture that
underlies local number portability, which today is necessary to route virtually all calls in North America.

Our second focus in research and development is to promote open industry standards around innovative solutions that
serve our customers� needs. We are active in industry forums where our technical expertise and neutral position in the
industry are valuable in promoting consensus among competing CSPs. We led the development of the Session
Initiation Protocol (SIP) technology at the Internet Engineering Task Force. This technology has been adopted by
most global industry communication groups, including wireline, wireless, and IP, as the standard for VoIP and other
real-time multimedia transmission over IP, such as video, music, and multimedia conferencing, and other enhanced
services.

Once the standard has been adopted, our third focus is to develop the standards-based solution that can be delivered
industry-wide as a service through our clearinghouse, yielding significant benefits both to the communications
industry and us. The communications industry benefits from a uniform solution that can be delivered in a timely
fashion in a cost-effective manner. We benefit by introducing new services that leverage our clearinghouse and
expand the sources of our revenue. For example, in a collaborative effort with several of the world�s largest Internet
Exchange providers, we are currently in the development process for SIP-IX, the first comprehensive suite of services
designed to enable direct network-to-network peering between trading partners for voice, video and content services
using SIP-based technologies such as IP multimedia subsystem (IMS) and VoIP.

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximately 130 employees dedicated to research and development,
approximately 70 of whom were added through our acquisition of Followap. We expense our research and
development costs as incurred. Our research and development expense was $7.4 million, $11.9 million and
$17.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Customers

We serve traditional providers of communications, including local exchange carriers, such as Verizon
Communications Inc. and AT&T, Inc.; competitive local exchange carriers, such as XO Holdings, Inc. and Level 3
Communications, Inc.; wireless service providers, such as Verizon Wireless Inc., AT&T Mobility LLC and Sprint
Nextel Corporation; and long distance carriers. We also serve emerging CSPs, including Comcast Corporation, Time
Warner Telecom Inc., Cox Communications, Inc. and Cbeyond, Inc., and fast-growing emerging providers of VoIP
services, such as Vonage Holdings Corp.

In addition to serving traditional CSPs, we also serve a growing number of customers who are either enablers of
Internet services or providers of information and content to Internet and telephone users. For example, customers for
our managed DNS services include a wide range of both large and small enterprises, including registry operators, such
as Afilias Limited, and e-commerce companies, such as Amazon.com, Inc. All Internet service providers rely on our
Internet registry services to route all communications to .biz and .us Internet addresses. Domain name registrars,
including Network Solutions, Inc., The Go Daddy Group, Inc., and Register.com, Inc. pay us for each .biz and .us
domain name they register on behalf of their customers. Wireless service providers rely on our registry to route all
U.S. Common Short Code communications, but the bulk of our customers for U.S. Common Short Codes are the
information and entertainment content providers who register codes with us to allow wireless subscribers to
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communicate with them via text messaging. Mobile network operators throughout Europe, including Vodafone Group
Plc and Wind Telecomunicazioni SpA, rely on our instant messaging solutions to provide mobile instant messaging to
their end users.

Our customers include over 7,300 different entities, each of which is separately billed for the services we provide,
regardless of whether it may be affiliated with one or more of our other customers. No single entity accounted for
more than 10% of our total revenue in 2006. The amount of our revenue derived from customers

6
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inside the United States was $159.8 million, $235.5 million and $317.3 million for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The amount of our revenue derived from customers outside the United States was
$5.2 million, $7.0 million and $15.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The
amount of our revenue derived under our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC was
$130.0 million, $188.8 million and $249.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively.

Competition

Our services most frequently compete against the legacy in-house systems of our customers. We believe our services
offer greater reliability and flexibility on a more cost-effective basis than these in-house systems.

In our roles as the North American Numbering Plan Administrator, National Pooling Administrator, administrator of
local number portability for the communications industry, operator of the sole authoritative registry for the .us and .biz
Internet domain names, and operator of the sole authoritative registry for U.S. Common Short Codes, there are no
other providers currently providing the services we offer. However, we were awarded the contracts to administer these
services in open and competitive procurement processes where we competed against companies including Accenture
Ltd, Computer Sciences Corporation, Hewlett-Packard Company, IBM, Mitretek Systems, Inc., Nortel Networks
Corporation, NCS Pearson, Inc., Perot Systems Corporation, Telcordia Technologies, Inc. and VeriSign, Inc. We have
renewed or extended the term of several of these contracts since we first entered into them. As the terms of these
contracts expire, we expect that other companies may seek to bid on renewals or new contracts, and we may not be
successful in renewing them. In addition, prior to the expiration of our contracts to provide number portability
services, North American Portability Management LLC could solicit, or our competitors may submit, proposals to
replace us, in whole or in part, as the provider of the services covered by these contracts. Similarly, with respect to our
contracts to act as the North American Number Plan Administrator, the National Pooling Administrator, operator of
the authoritative registry for the .us and .biz Internet domain names, and the operator of the authoritative registry for
U.S. Common Short Codes, the relevant counterparty could elect not to exercise the extension period under the
contract, if applicable, or to terminate the contract in accordance with its terms, in which case we could be forced to
compete with other providers to continue providing the services covered by the relevant contract. However, we
believe that our position as the incumbent provider of these services will enable us to compete favorably for contract
renewals or for new contracts to continue to provide these services.

While we do not face direct competition for the registry of .us and .biz Internet domain names, we compete with other
companies that maintain the registries for different domain names, including Afilias Limited, which manages the .org
and .info registries, VeriSign, Inc., which manages the .com and .net registries, and a number of managers of
country-specific domain name registries (such as .uk for domain names in the United Kingdom).

For the remainder of our services, we compete against a range of providers of interoperability and infrastructure
services and/or software, as well as the in-house network management and information technology organizations of
our customers. Our competitors, other than in-house network systems, generally fall into three categories:

� companies that develop and sell software solutions to CSPs, such as Evolving Systems, Inc., MetaSolv, Inc.
and NetCracker Technology Corp.;

� systems integrators such as Accenture Ltd, Electronic Data Systems Corporation, Hewlett-Packard Company,
IBM, Oracle Corporation and Perot Systems Corporation, which develop customized solutions for CSPs and in
some cases operate and manage certain back-office systems for CSPs on an outsourced basis;

� 
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with respect to our Ultra services, companies such as Akamai Technologies, Inc., VeriSign, Inc., and F5
Networks, Inc., who provide internal and external managed DNS services;

� with respect to mobile instant messaging, companies that develop presence and instant messaging solutions,
such as Oz Communications, Inc. and Colibria AS; and

7
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� with respect to order management services, companies such as CGI Group Inc., Synchronoss Technologies,
Inc., Syniverse Technologies, Inc., Telcordia Technologies, Inc. VeriSign, Inc. and Wisor Telecom
Corporation, which offer communications interoperability services, including inter-CSP order processing and
workflow management on an outsourced basis.

We believe our clearinghouse has inherent advantages relative to discrete software solutions that require sales,
customization and ongoing maintenance for CSPs on a one-customer-at-a-time basis. Many companies that have
developed discrete software solutions have lacked the scale and financial resources necessary to develop carrier-grade
solutions and achieve sufficiently broad customer acceptance to create viable business models. We also believe that
our one-to-many clearinghouse can offer more economical services than in-house solutions or outsourcing to a
systems integrator. However, many of our current and potential competitors have the financial, technical, marketing
and other resources to develop a clearinghouse and compete with us directly with similar services and a similar
delivery model.

Competitive factors in the market for our services include breadth and quality of services offered, reliability, security,
cost-efficiency, and customer support. Our ability to compete successfully depends on numerous factors, both within
and outside our control, including:

� our responsiveness to customers� needs;

� our ability to support existing and new industry standards and protocols;

� our ability to continue development of technical innovations; and

� the quality, reliability, security and price-competitiveness of our services.

We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors and competitive pressures that we
face may materially adversely affect our business. The market for clearinghouse services may not continue to develop,
and CSPs may not continue to use clearinghouse services rather than in-house systems and purchased or
internally-developed software.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we employed 822 persons worldwide. None of our employees is currently represented by a
labor union. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider our relationship with our employees to be
good.

Contracts

We provide many of our addressing, interoperability and infrastructure services pursuant to private commercial and
government contracts. Specifically, we provide wireline and wireless number portability, implement the allocation of
pooled blocks of telephone numbers and provide network management services pursuant to seven contracts with
North American Portability Management LLC, an industry group that represents all telecommunications service
providers in the United States. Although the FCC has plenary authority over the administration of telephone number
portability, it is not a party to our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC. The North American
Numbering Council, a federal advisory committee to which the FCC has delegated limited oversight responsibilities,
reviews and oversees North American Portability Management LLC�s management of these contracts. See �� Regulatory
Environment � Telephone Numbering.� We recognize revenue under our contracts with North American Portability
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Management LLC primarily on a per transaction basis. The aggregate fees for transactions processed under these
contracts are determined by the total number of transactions, and these fees are billed to telecommunications service
providers based on their allocable share of the total transaction charges. This allocable share is based on each
respective telecommunications service provider�s share of the aggregate end-user services revenues of all
U.S. telecommunications service providers as determined by the FCC. On November 4, 2005, BellSouth Corporation
filed a petition seeking changes in the way our customers are billed for services provided by us under our contracts
with North American Portability Management LLC. In response to the BellSouth petition, the FCC requested
comments from interested parties. As of February 15, 2007, the FCC had not initiated a formal rulemaking process,
and the BellSouth petition remains pending. We do not
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believe that this proposed change to the manner in which we bill for services under these contracts would have a
material impact on our customers� demand for these services. Under our contracts, we also bill a revenue recovery
collections, or RRC, fee of a percentage of monthly billings to our customers, which is available to us if any
telecommunications service provider fails to pay its allocable share of total transaction charges. If the RRC fee is
insufficient for that purpose, these contracts also provide for the recovery of such differences from the remaining
telecommunications service providers. Under these contracts, users of our clearinghouse also pay fees to connect to
our data center and additional fees for reports that we generate at the user�s request. Our contracts with North
American Portability Management LLC continue through June 2015.

We also provide wireline number portability and network management services in Canada pursuant to a contract with
the Canadian LNP Consortium Inc., a private corporation composed of telecommunications service providers who
participate in number portability in Canada. The Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission
oversees the Canadian LNP Consortium�s management of this contract. We bill each telecommunications service
provider for our services under this contract primarily on a per-transaction basis. This contract continues through
December 2011. The services we provide under the contracts with North American Portability Management LLC and
the Canadian LNP Consortium are subject to rigorous performance standards, and we are subject to corresponding
penalties for failure to meet those standards.

We serve as the North American Numbering Plan Administrator and the National Pooling Administrator pursuant to
two separate contracts with the FCC. Under these contracts, we administer the assignment and implementation of new
area codes in North America, the allocation of central office codes (which are the prefixes following the area codes) to
telecommunications service providers in the United States, and the assignment and allocation of pooled blocks of
telephone numbers in the United States in a manner designed to conserve telephone number resources. The North
American Numbering Plan Administration contract is a fixed-fee government contract that was awarded by the FCC
in 2003. The contract is structured as a one-year agreement with four one-year options exercisable by the FCC. The
FCC has exercised three of these one-year extension options and may extend the contract for two additional one-year
periods continuing through July 8, 2008. The National Pooling Administration contract is a cost-plus government
contract that was awarded by the FCC in 2001. This contract also is structured as a one-year agreement with four
one-year options exercisable by the FCC. The FCC exercised each of the four options, and this contract was due to
expire on June 14, 2006. Since that time, the National Pooling Administration contract has been extended for several
short-term periods while the FCC conducts a formal rebid of the contract. We expect to compete for a renewal of this
contract.

We are the operator of the .biz Internet top-level domain by contract with the Internet Corporation for Assigned
Names and Numbers, or ICANN. The .biz contract was originally granted in May 2001. In December 2006, the
ICANN awarded to us a renewal of the .biz contract through December 2012. Under the terms of the amended
agreement, the .biz contract automatically renews after 2012 unless it has been determined that we have been in
fundamental and material breach of certain provisions of the agreement and have failed to cure such breach. Similarly,
pursuant to a contract with the U.S. Department of Commerce, we operate the .us Internet domain registry. This
contract was awarded in October 2001 for a period of four years, which may be extended by the government for two
additional one-year periods. The government exercised the first one-year option in October 2005, and the second
one-year option in October 2006. These contracts allow us to provide domain name registration services to domain
name registrars, who pay us on a per-name basis. We expect to compete for a renewal of this contract.

We have an exclusive contract with the CTIA � The Wireless Association® to serve as the registry operator for the
administration of U.S. Common Short Codes. U.S. Common Short Codes are short strings of numbers to which text
messages can be addressed � a common addressing scheme that works across all participating wireless networks. We
were awarded this contract in October 2003 through an open procurement process by the major wireless carriers. The
initial term of the contract continued through April 2006, and was renewed automatically for an additional two-year
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period pursuant to the terms of the contract. Under the terms of the contract, the term automatically renews for
additional two-year periods unless terminated in accordance with its terms. We provide U.S. Common Short Code
registration services to wireless content providers, who pay us subscription fees per U.S. Common Short Code
registered.
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Regulatory Environment

Telephone Numbering

Overview.  The Telecommunications Act of 1996 was enacted to remove barriers to entry in the communications
market. Among other things, the Telecommunications Act mandates portability of telephone numbers and requires
traditional telephone companies to provide non-discriminatory access and interconnection to potential competitors.
The FCC has plenary jurisdiction over issues relating to telephone numbers, including telephone number portability
and the administration of telephone number resources. Under this authority, the FCC promulgated regulations
governing the administration of telephone numbers and telephone number portability. In 1995, the FCC established
the North American Numbering Council, a federal advisory committee, to advise and make recommendations to the
FCC on telephone numbering issues, including telephone number resources administration and telephone number
portability. The members of the North American Numbering Council include representatives from local exchange
carriers, interexchange carriers, wireless providers, manufacturers, state regulators, consumer groups and
telecommunications associations.

Telephone Number Portability.  The Telecommunications Act requires telephone number portability, which is the
ability of users of telecommunications services to retain existing telephone numbers without impairment of quality,
reliability, or convenience when switching from one telecommunications service provider to another. Through a series
of competitive procurements, we were selected by a consortium of service providers representing the
telecommunications industry to develop, build and operate a solution to enable telephone number portability in the
United States. We ultimately entered into seven regional contracts to administer the system that we developed, after
which the North American Numbering Council recommended to the FCC, and the FCC approved, our selection to
serve as a neutral administrator of telephone number portability. The FCC also directed the seven original regional
entities, each comprising a consortium of service providers operating in the respective regions, to manage and oversee
the administration of telephone number portability in their respective regions, subject to North American Numbering
Council oversight. Under the rules and policies adopted by the FCC, North American Portability Management LLC,
as successor in interest to the seven regional consortiums, has the power and authority to negotiate master agreements
with an administrator of telephone number portability, so long as that administrator is neutral.

North American Numbering Plan Administrator and National Pooling Administrator.  We have contracts with the
FCC to act as the North American Numbering Plan Administrator and the National Pooling Administrator, and we
must comply with the rules and regulations of the FCC that govern our operations in each capacity. We are charged
with administering numbering resources in an efficient and non-discriminatory manner, in accordance with FCC rules
and industry guidelines developed primarily by the Industry Numbering Committee. These guidelines provide
governing principles and procedures to be followed in the performance of our duties under these contracts. The
communications industry regularly reviews and revises these guidelines to adapt to changed circumstances or as a
result of the experience of industry participants in applying the guidelines. A committee of the North American
Numbering Council evaluates our performance against these rules and guidelines each year and provides an annual
review to the North American Numbering Council and the FCC. If we violate these rules and guidelines, or if we fail
to perform at required levels, the FCC may reevaluate our fitness to serve as the North American Numbering Plan
Administrator and the National Pooling Administrator and may terminate our contracts or impose fines on us. The
division of the North American Numbering Council responsible for reviewing our performance as the North American
Numbering Plan Administrator and the National Pooling Administrator has determined that, with respect to our
performance in 2005, we �exceeded� and �more than met� our performance guidelines under each such respective review.
Similar reviews of our performance in 2006 have not yet been completed.
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Neutrality.  Under FCC rules and orders establishing the qualifications and obligations of the North American
Numbering Plan Administrator and National Pooling Administrator, and under our contracts with North American
Portability Management LLC to provide telephone number portability services, we are required to comply with
neutrality regulations and policies. Under these neutrality requirements, we are required to operate our numbering
plan, pooling administration and number portability functions in a neutral and impartial manner, which means that we
cannot favor any particular telecommunications service provider, telecommunications industry segment or technology
or group of telecommunications consumers over any other telecommunications service
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provider, industry segment, technology or group of consumers in the conduct of those businesses. We are examined
periodically on our compliance with these requirements by independent third parties. The combined effect of our
contracts and the FCC�s regulations and orders requires that we:

� not be a telecommunications service provider, which is generally defined by the FCC as an entity that offers
telecommunications services to the public at large, and is, therefore, providing telecommunications services on
a common carrier basis;

� not be an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider, which means, among other things, that we:

� must restrict the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by telecommunications service providers or
affiliates of a telecommunications service provider; and

� may not otherwise, directly or indirectly, control, be controlled by, or be under common control with, a
telecommunications service provider;

� not derive a majority of our revenue from any single telecommunications service provider; and

� not be subject to undue influence by parties with a vested interest in the outcome of numbering administration
and activities. Notwithstanding our satisfaction of the other neutrality criteria above, the North American
Numbering Council or the FCC could determine that we are subject to such undue influence. The North
American Numbering Council may conduct an evaluation to determine whether we meet this �undue influence�
criterion.

We are required to maintain complete confidentiality of competitive customer information obtained during the
conduct of our business. In addition, as part of our neutrality framework, we are required to comply with a code of
conduct that is designed to ensure our continued neutrality. Among other things, our code of conduct, which was
approved by the FCC, requires that:

� we never, directly or indirectly, show any preference or provide any special consideration to any
telecommunications service provider;

� we prohibit access by our stockholders to user data and proprietary information of telecommunications service
providers served by us (other than access of employee stockholders that is incident to the performance of our
numbering administration duties);

� our stockholders take steps to ensure that they do not disclose to us any user data or proprietary information of
any telecommunications service provider in which they hold an interest, other than the sharing of information
in connection with the performance of our numbering administration duties;

� we not share confidential information about our business services and operations with employees of any
telecommunications service provider;

� we refrain from simultaneously employing, whether full-time or part-time, any individual who is an employee
of a telecommunications service provider and that none of our employees hold any interest, financial or
otherwise, in any company that would violate these neutrality standards;

� we prohibit any individual who serves in the management of any of our stockholders to be involved directly in
our day-to-day operations;
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� we implement certain requirements regarding the composition of our board of directors;

� no member of our board of directors simultaneously serve on the board of directors of a telecommunications
service provider; and

� we hire an independent party to conduct a quarterly neutrality audit to ensure that we and our stockholders
comply with all the provisions of our code of conduct.

In connection with the neutrality requirements imposed by our code of conduct and under our contracts, we are subject
to a number of neutrality audits that are performed on a quarterly and semi-annual basis. In connection with these
audits, all of our employees, directors and officers must sign a neutrality certification that states that they are
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familiar with our neutrality requirements and have not violated them. Failure to comply with applicable neutrality
requirements could result in government fines, corrective measures, curtailment of contracts or even the revocation of
contracts. See �Risk Factors � Risks Related to Our Business � Failure to comply with neutrality requirements could
result in loss of significant contracts� in Item 1A of this report.

In contemplation of the initial public offering of our securities, we sought and obtained FCC approval for a �safe
harbor� from previous orders of the FCC that required us to seek prior approval from the FCC for any change in our
overall ownership structure, corporate structure, bylaws, or distribution of equity interests, as well as certain types of
transactions, including the issuance of indebtedness by us. Under the safe harbor order, we are required to maintain
provisions in our organizational and other corporate documents that require us to comply with all applicable neutrality
rules and orders. However, we are no longer required to seek prior approval from the FCC for many of these changes
and transactions, although we are required to provide notice of such changes or transactions. In addition, we are
subject to the following requirements:

� we may not issue indebtedness to any entity that is a telecommunications service provider or an affiliate of a
telecommunications service provider without prior approval of the FCC;

� we may not acquire any equity interest in a telecommunications service provider or an affiliate of a
telecommunications service provider without prior approval of the FCC;

� we must restrict any telecommunications service provider or affiliate of a telecommunications service provider
from acquiring or beneficially owning 5% or more of our outstanding capital stock;

� we must report to the FCC the names of any telecommunications service providers or telecommunications
service provider affiliates that own a 5% or greater interest in our company; and

� we must make beneficial ownership records available to our neutrality auditors, and must certify upon request
that we have no actual knowledge of any ownership of our outstanding capital stock by a telecommunications
service provider or telecommunications service provider affiliate other than as previously disclosed.

Internet Domain Name Registrations

We are also subject to government and industry regulation under our Internet registry contracts with the
U.S. government and ICANN, the industry organization responsible for regulation of Internet top-level domains. We
are the operator of the .biz Internet domain under a contract with ICANN originally granted to us in May 2001, which
currently runs through December 2012 and renews automatically thereafter unless it has been determined that we have
been in fundamental and material breach of certain provisions of the agreement and have failed to cure such breach.
Similarly, pursuant to a contract with the U.S. Department of Commerce, we operate the .us Internet domain registry.
This contract was granted in October 2001 for a period of four years, with two one-year extension periods exercisable
at the option of the U.S. Department of Commerce. The Department of Commerce exercised the first one-year option
in October 2005, and the second one-year option in October 2006. Under each of these registry service contracts, we
are required to:

� provide equal access to all registrars of domain names;

� comply with Internet standards established by the industry;

� implement additional policies as they are adopted by the U.S. government or ICANN; and
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� with respect to the .us registry, establish, operate and ensure appropriate content on a kids.us domain to serve
as a haven for material that promotes positive experiences for children and families using the Internet.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our proprietary technology. We rely principally upon trade secret and copyright law
to protect our technology, including our software, network design, and subject matter expertise. We enter into
confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, distributors, customers, and potential customers and limit
access to and distribution of our software, documentation, and other proprietary
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information. We believe, however, that because of the rapid pace of technological change in the communications
industry, the legal protections for our services are less significant factors in our success than the knowledge, ability,
and experience of our employees and the timeliness and quality of services provided by us. With our entry into the IM
market, we may become reliant on patents to protect our technology and our ability to deliver our IM solutions to our
customers.

Available Information and Exchange Certifications

We maintain an Internet website at www.neustar.biz. Information contained on, or that may be accessed through, our
website is not part of this report. Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available on the Investor Relations section of our website under the heading
�SEC Filings by NeuStar,� as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such reports with, or furnish
those reports to, the Securities and Exchange Commission. Our Principles of Corporate Governance, Board of
Directors committee charters (including the charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee) and code of ethics entitled �Corporate Code of Business Conduct�
also are available on the Investor Relations section of our website. Stockholders may request free copies of these
documents, including a copy of our annual report on Form 10-K, by sending a written request to our Corporate
Secretary at NeuStar, Inc., 46000 Center Oak Plaza, Sterling, VA 20166. In the event that we make any changes to, or
provide any waivers from, the provisions of our Corporate Code of Business Conduct, we intend to disclose these
events on our website or in a report on Form 8-K within four business days of such event.

Because our common stock is listed on the NYSE, our Chief Executive Officer is required to make an annual
certification to the NYSE stating that he is not aware of any violation by us of the corporate governance listing
standards of the NYSE. Our Chief Executive Officer made his annual certification to that effect to the NYSE on
July 27, 2006. In addition, we have filed, as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the certification of our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer required under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding the quality of our public disclosure.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as �may,� �will,� �should,� �expects,� �intends,� �plans,� �anticipates,� �believes,� �estimates,� �predicts,� �potential,�
�continue� or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements relate to future events or
our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause
our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from any future results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Many of these risks
are beyond our ability to control or predict. These risks and other factors include those listed under �Risk Factors� in
Item 1A of this report and elsewhere in this report and include:

� failures or interruptions of our systems and services;

� security or privacy breaches;

� loss of, or damage to, a data center;

� termination, modification or non-renewal of our contracts to provide telephone number portability and other
clearinghouse services;
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� adverse changes in statutes or regulations affecting the communications industry;

� our failure to adapt to rapid technological change in the communications industry;

� competition from our customers� in-house systems or from other providers of addressing, interoperability or
infrastructure services;

� our failure to achieve or sustain market acceptance at desired pricing levels;
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� a decline in the volume of transactions we handle;

� inability to manage our growth;

� economic, political, regulatory and other risks associated with our potential expansion into international
markets;

� inability to obtain sufficient capital to fund our operations, capital expenditures and expansion; and

� loss of members of senior management, or inability to recruit and retain skilled employees.

ITEM 1A.  RISK FACTORS

Risks Related to Our Business

Failures or interruptions of our clearinghouse could materially harm our revenue and impair our ability to
conduct our operations.

We provide addressing, interoperability and infrastructure services that are critical to the operations of our customers.
Notably, our clearinghouse is essential to the orderly operation of the U.S. telecommunications system because it
enables CSPs to ensure that telephone calls are routed to the appropriate destinations. Our system architecture is
integral to our ability to process a high volume of transactions in a timely and effective manner. We could experience
failures or interruptions of our systems and services, or other problems in connection with our operations, as a result
of:

� damage to, or failure of, our computer software or hardware or our connections and outsourced service
arrangements with third parties;

� errors in the processing of data by our system;

� computer viruses or software defects;

� physical or electronic break-ins, sabotage, distributed denial of service, or DDoS, attacks, intentional acts of
vandalism and similar events;

� increased capacity demands or changes in systems requirements of our customers; or

� errors by our employees or third-party service providers.

If we cannot adequately protect the ability of our clearinghouse to perform consistently at a high level or otherwise
fail to meet our customers� expectations:

� we may experience damage to our reputation, which may adversely affect our ability to attract or retain
customers for our existing services, and may also make it more difficult for us to market our services;

� we may be subject to significant damages claims, under our contracts or otherwise, including the requirement
to pay substantial penalties related to service level requirements in our contracts;
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� our operating expenses or capital expenditures may increase as a result of corrective efforts that we must
perform;

� our customers may postpone or cancel subsequently scheduled work or reduce their use of our services; or

� one or more of our significant contracts may be terminated early, or may not be renewed.

Any of these consequences would adversely affect our revenue and performance.

Security breaches could result in an interruption of service or reduced quality of service, which could increase our
costs or result in a reduction in the use of our services by our customers.

Our systems may be vulnerable to physical break-ins, computer viruses, attacks by computer hackers or similar
disruptive problems. If unauthorized users gain access to our databases, they may be able to steal, publish, delete or
modify sensitive information that is stored or transmitted on our networks and that we are required by our contracts
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and FCC rules to keep confidential. A security or privacy breach could result in an interruption of service or reduced
quality of service, and we may be required to make significant expenditures in connection with corrective efforts we
are required to perform. In addition, a security or privacy breach may harm our reputation and cause our customers to
reduce their use of our services, which could harm our revenue and business prospects.

The loss of, or damage to, a data center could interrupt our operations and materially harm our revenue and
growth.

Because virtually all of the services we provide require communications service providers to query a copy of our
continuously updated databases and directories to obtain necessary routing and other essential operational data, the
integrity of our data centers is essential to our business. We may not have sufficient redundant systems or back-up
facilities to allow us to receive and process data in the event of a loss of, or damage to, a data center. We could lose, or
suffer damage to, a data center in the event of power loss; natural disasters such as fires, earthquakes, floods and
tornadoes; telecommunications failures, such as transmission cable cuts; or other similar events that could adversely
affect our customers� ability to access our clearinghouse. We may be required to make significant expenditures to
repair or replace a data center. Further, as the scope of services we provide expands or changes, we may be required to
make significant expenditures establish new data centers from which we may provide services. Any interruption to our
operations due to the loss of, or damage to, a data center could harm our reputation and cause our customers to reduce
their use of our services, which could harm our revenue and business prospects.

The failure of the third-party software and equipment used by our customers or that we use to provide our services
could cause interruptions or failures of our systems.

We incorporate hardware, software and equipment developed by third parties in our clearinghouse. Our third-party
vendors include, among others, IBM and Oracle Corporation for database systems and software, and EMC
Corporation and Sun Microsystems, Inc. for equipment. Similarly, to access our clearinghouse and utilize our
services, many of our customers rely on hardware, software and other equipment developed, supported and maintained
by third-party providers. In addition, we rely on third parties to provide the connection between us and our customers
through which we deliver and receive data. As a result, our ability to provide clearinghouse services depends in part
on the continued performance and support of the third-party products and services on which we and our customers
rely. If these products or services experience failures or have defects and the third parties that supply the products or
services fail to provide adequate support, this could result in or exacerbate an interruption or failure of our systems or
services. In some cases, failures of third party products or services could subject us to significant damages claims
under the service level requirements in our contracts, for which we would have limited or no recourse against the third
party who supplied such products or services.

Our seven contracts with North American Portability Management LLC represent in the aggregate a substantial
portion of our revenue, are not exclusive and could be terminated or modified in ways unfavorable to us, and we
may be unable to renew these contracts at the end of their term.

Our seven contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, an industry group that represents all
telecommunications service providers in the United States, to provide telephone number portability and other
clearinghouse services are not exclusive and could be terminated or modified in ways unfavorable to us. These seven
separate contracts, each of which represented between 8.5% and 13.4% of our total revenue in 2006, represented in the
aggregate approximately 74.9% of our total revenue in 2006. North American Portability Management LLC could, at
any time, solicit or receive proposals from other providers to provide services that are the same as or similar to ours.
In addition, these contracts have finite terms and are currently scheduled to expire in June 2015. Furthermore, any of
these contracts could be terminated in advance of its scheduled expiration date in limited circumstances, most notably
if we are in default of these contracts. Although these contracts do not contain cross-default provisions, conditions
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leading to a default by us under one of our contracts could lead to a default under others, or all seven.

We may be unable to renew these contracts on acceptable terms when they are being considered for renewal if we fail
to meet our customers� expectations, including for performance or other reasons, or if another provider offers to
provide the same or similar services at a lower cost. In addition, competitive forces resulting from the
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possible entrance of a competitive provider could create significant pricing pressure, which could then cause us to
reduce the selling price of our services under our contracts. If these contracts are terminated or modified in a manner
that is adverse to us, or if we are unable to renew these contracts on acceptable terms upon their expiration, it would
have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC contain provisions that may restrict our ability to
use data that we administer in our clearinghouse, which may limit our ability to offer services that we currently, or
intend to, offer.

In addition to offering telephone number portability and other clearinghouse services under our contracts with North
American Portability Management LLC, some of our service offerings not related to these contracts require that we
use certain data from our clearinghouse. We have been informed by North American Portability Management LLC
that they believe that use of this data, which is unrelated to our performance under these contracts, may not be
permissible under the current agreements. If we are subject to burdensome terms of access or are not permitted to use
this data, our ability to offer new services requiring the use of this data may be limited.

Certain of our other contracts may be terminated or we may be unable to renew these contracts, which may reduce
the number of services we can offer and damage our reputation.

In addition to our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, we rely on other contracts to provide
other services that we offer, including the contracts that appoint us to serve as the:

� North American Numbering Plan Administrator, under which we maintain the authoritative database of
telephone numbering resources in North America;

� National Pooling Administrator, under which we perform the administrative functions associated with the
administration and management of telephone number inventory and allocation of pooled blocks of unassigned
telephone numbers;

� provider of number portability services in Canada;

� operator of the .us registry;

� operator of the .biz registry; and

� operator of the registry of U.S. Common Short Codes.

Each of these contracts provides for early termination in limited circumstances, most notably if we are in default. In
addition, our contracts to serve as the North American Numbering Plan Administrator and as the National Pooling
Administrator and to operate the .us registry, each of which is with the U.S. government, may be terminated by the
government at will. If we fail to meet the expectations of the FCC, the U.S. Department of Commerce or our
customers, as the case may be, for any reason, including for performance-related or other reasons, or if another
provider offers to perform the same or similar services for a lower price, we may be unable to extend or renew these
contracts. In that event, the number of services we are able to offer may be reduced, which would adversely affect our
revenue from the provision of these services. Each of the contracts listed above establishes us as the sole provider of
the particular services covered by that contract during its term. If one of these contracts were terminated, or if we were
unable to renew or extend the term of any particular contract, we would no longer be able to provide the services
covered by that contract and could suffer a loss of prestige that would make it more difficult for us to compete for
contracts to provide similar services in the future.
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Failure to comply with neutrality requirements could result in loss of significant contracts.

Pursuant to orders and regulations of the U.S. government and provisions contained in our material contracts, we must
continue to comply with certain neutrality requirements, meaning generally that we cannot favor any particular
telecommunications service provider, telecommunications industry segment or technology or group of
telecommunications consumers over any other telecommunications service provider, industry segment, technology or
group of consumers in the conduct of our business. The FCC oversees our compliance with the neutrality
requirements applicable to us in connection with some of the services we provide. We provide to the FCC and the
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North American Numbering Council, a federal advisory committee established by the FCC to advise and make
recommendations on telephone numbering issues, regular certifications relating to our compliance with these
requirements. Our ability to comply with the neutrality requirements to which we are subject may be affected by the
activities of our stockholders or other parties. For example, if the ownership of our capital stock subjects us to undue
influence by parties with a vested interest in the outcome of numbering administration, the FCC could determine that
we are not in compliance with our neutrality obligations. Our failure to continue to comply with the neutrality
requirements to which we are subject under applicable orders and regulations of the U.S. government and commercial
contracts may result in fines, corrective measures or termination of our contracts, any one of which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Regulatory and statutory changes that affect us or the communications industry in general may increase our costs
or impair our growth.

The FCC has regulatory authority over certain aspects of our operations, most notably our compliance with our
neutrality requirements. We are also affected by business risks specific to the regulated communications industry.
Moreover, the business of our customers is subject to regulation that indirectly affects our business. As
communications technologies and the communications industry continue to evolve, the statutes governing the
communications industry or the regulatory policies of the FCC may change. If this were to occur, the demand for our
services could change in ways that we cannot easily predict and our revenue could decline. These risks include the
ability of the federal government, most notably the FCC, to:

� increase regulatory oversight over the services we provide;

� adopt or modify statutes, regulations, policies, procedures or programs that are disadvantageous to the services
we provide, or that are inconsistent with our current or future plans, or that require modification of the terms of
our existing contracts, including the manner in which we charge for certain of our services. For example, in
November 2005, BellSouth Corporation filed a petition with the FCC seeking changes in the way our
customers are billed for services provided by us under our contracts with North American Portability
Management LLC;

� prohibit us from entering into new contracts or extending existing contracts to provide services to the
communications industry based on actual or suspected violations of our neutrality requirements, business
performance concerns, or other reasons;

� adopt or modify statutes, regulations, policies, procedures or programs in a way that could cause changes to our
operations or costs or the operations of our customers;

� appoint, or cause others to appoint, substitute or add additional parties to perform the services that we currently
provide; and

� prohibit or restrict the provision or export of new or expanded services under our contracts, or prevent the
introduction of other services not under the contracts based upon restrictions within the contracts or in FCC
policies.

In addition, we are subject to risks arising out of the delegation of the Department of Commerce�s responsibilities for
the domain name system to the ICANN. Changes in the regulations or statutes to which our customers are subject
could cause our customers to alter or decrease the services they purchase from us. We cannot predict when, or upon
what terms and conditions, further regulation or deregulation might occur or the effect future regulation or
deregulation may have on our business.

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

37



If we do not adapt to rapid technological change in the communications industry, we could lose customers or
market share.

Our industry is characterized by rapid technological change and frequent new service offerings. Significant
technological changes could make our technology and services obsolete. We must adapt to our rapidly changing
market by continually improving the features, functionality, reliability and responsiveness of our addressing,
interoperability and infrastructure services, and by developing new features, services and applications to meet
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changing customer needs. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to adapt to these challenges or respond
successfully or in a cost-effective way. Our failure to do so would adversely affect our ability to compete and retain
customers or market share.

Although we currently provide our services primarily to traditional telecommunications companies, many existing and
emerging companies are providing, or propose to provide, IP-based voice services. Our future revenue and profits will
depend, in part, on our ability to provide services to IP-based service providers. For example, we are currently
developing and conducting trial tests of SIP-IX, a comprehensive suite of services designed to enable direct
network-to-network peering between trading partners for voice, video and content services using Session Initiation
Protocol (SIP)-based technologies such as IP multimedia subsystem (IMS) and Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP).
There can be no assurance that IP communications will grow in any meaningful fashion, or that SIP-IX will be
adopted by potential customers, nor can we guarantee that we will be able to reach acceptable contract terms with
customers to provide this service. In addition, we may experience delays in the development of one or more features
of SIP-IX, which could materially reduce the potential benefits to us for providing this service.

Our customers face implementation and support challenges in introducing IP-based services, which may slow their
rate of adoption or implementation of our solutions.

We have limited or no control over the pace at which communications service providers implement new, complex
services, such as instant messaging and other IP-based communications. Moreover, the launch of new IP-based
services by communications service providers requires significant capital expenditures by our customers to market
and drive adoption by end users. We cannot control the decision over whether such capital expenditures will occur or
the timing of such expenditures. In turn, even if CSPs attempt to drive adoption of new IP-based services, our future
revenue and profits will also depend, in part, on the wide adoption of such services by end users. The failure of, or
delay by, communications service providers to introduce and support IP-based services utilizing our solutions in a
timely and effective manner could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

The market for certain of our addressing, interoperability, and infrastructure services is competitive, which could
result in fewer customer orders, reduced revenue or margins or loss of market share.

Our services frequently compete against the legacy in-house systems of our customers. In addition, although we are
not a telecommunications service provider, we compete in some areas against communications service companies,
communications software companies and system integrators that provide systems and services used by CSPs to
manage their networks and internal operations in connection with telephone number portability, instant messaging and
other communications transactions. We face competition from large, well-funded providers of addressing,
interoperability and infrastructure services. Moreover, we are aware of other companies that are focusing significant
resources on developing and marketing services that will compete with us. We anticipate continued growth of
competition. Some of our current and potential competitors have significantly more employees and greater financial,
technical, marketing and other resources than we have. Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new
or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements than we can. Also, many of our current and potential
competitors have greater name recognition that they can use to their advantage. Increased competition could result in
fewer customer orders, reduced revenue, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any of which could harm
our business.

Our technology relies in part on the use of open standards, which makes us vulnerable to competition.

We frequently integrate our technology, particularly in the area of instant messaging, with the systems of our CSP
customers and with communications devices through the use of open standards. If we are unable to integrate our
technology with systems used by our customers or device manufacturers because they do not adopt open standards or
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otherwise, our revenue may decline. In addition, the failure of, or delay by, the communications industry to create
open standards and protocols could have an adverse effect on the communications market in general and,
consequently, our business and operating results. Conversely, the proliferation of open standards and protocols could
make it easier for new market entrants and existing competitors to introduce products that compete with our solutions,
which could adversely affect our business and operating results.
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Our intellectual property could be misappropriated, which could force us to become involved in expensive and
time-consuming litigation.

Our ability to compete and continue to provide technological innovation is substantially dependent upon internally
developed technology. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, and trade secret laws to protect our intellectual
property or proprietary rights in such technology. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property and
proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may copy or otherwise obtain and use our products, technology or trademarks.
Effectively policing our intellectual property is time consuming and costly, and the steps taken by us may not prevent
infringement of our intellectual property or proprietary rights in our products, technology and trademarks, particularly
in foreign countries where in many instances the local laws or legal systems do not offer the same level of protection
as in the United States.

Our services and solutions may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, subjecting us to claims for
infringement, payment of license royalties, or other damages.

Our services and solutions may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, subjecting us to claims for
infringement, payment of license royalties, or other remedies. As we expand our business and introduce new services
and solutions, there may be an increased risk of infringement and other intellectual property claims by third parties.
From time to time, we and our customers may receive claims alleging infringement of intellectual property rights, or
may become aware of certain third party patents that may relate to our services and solutions. For example, our instant
messaging solutions are designed to conform to Open Mobile Alliance, or OMA, specifications and those of other
standards bodies. To the extent that any individual or organization that has contributed intellectual property to OMA
or other standards bodies claims that it has retained its rights relating to such intellectual property, we may be subject
to claims of infringement by such individuals or organizations, some of which have greater financial resources and
larger intellectual property portfolios than our own.

Additionally, some of our customer agreements require that we indemnify our customers for infringement of our
intellectual property embedded in their products. Any litigation regarding patents or other intellectual property could
be costly and time consuming and could divert our management and key personnel from our business operations. The
complexity of the technology involved, and the number of parties holding intellectual property within the
communications industry, increase the risks associated with intellectual property litigation. Moreover, the commercial
success of our services and solutions may increase the risk that an infringement claim may be made against us.
Royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Any
infringement claim successfully asserted against us or against a customer for which we have an obligation to defend
could result in costly litigation, the payment of substantial damages, and an injunction that prohibits us from
continuing to offer the service or solution in question.

Our failure to achieve or sustain market acceptance at desired pricing levels could impact our ability to maintain
profitability or positive cash flow.

Our competitors and customers may cause us to reduce the prices we charge for our services and solutions. The
primary sources of pricing pressure include:

� competitors offering our customers services at reduced prices, or bundling and pricing services in a manner that
makes it difficult for us to compete. For example, a competing provider of interoperability services might offer
its services at lower rates than we do, or a competing domain name registry provider may reduce its prices for
domain name registration;
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� customers with a significant volume of transactions may have enhanced leverage in pricing negotiations with
us; and

� if our prices are too high, potential customers may find it economically advantageous to handle certain
functions internally instead of using us.

We may not be able to offset the effects of any price reductions by increasing the number of transactions we handle or
the number of customers we serve, by generating higher revenue from enhanced services or by reducing our costs.
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A decline in the volume of transactions we handle could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We earn revenue for the vast majority of the services that we provide on a per transaction basis. There are no
minimum revenue requirements in our contracts, which means that there is no limit to the potential adverse effect on
our revenue from a decrease in our transaction volumes. As a result, if industry participants reduce their usage of our
services from their current levels, our revenue and results of operations will suffer. For example, consolidation in the
industry could result in a decline in transactions if the remaining CSPs decide to handle changes to their networks
internally rather than use the services that we provide. Moreover, if customer churn between CSPs in the industry
stabilizes or declines, or if CSPs do not compete vigorously to lure customers away from their competitors, use of our
telephone number portability and other services may decline. If CSPs develop internal systems to address their
infrastructure needs, or if the cost of such transactions makes it impractical for a given carrier to use our services for
these purposes, we may experience a reduction in transaction volumes. If instant messaging is not broadly adopted by
the end users serviced by our customers, revenue from our instant messaging solutions will be adversely impacted.
Finally, the trends that we believe will drive the future demand for our clearinghouse services, such as the emergence
of IP services, growth of wireless services, consolidation in the industry, and pressure on carriers to reduce costs, may
not actually result in increased demand for our services, which would harm our future revenue and growth prospects.

If we are unable to manage our growth, our revenue and profits could be adversely affected.

Our business was founded in 1996 and we have experienced substantial growth since our inception. Sustaining our
growth has placed significant demands on our management as well as on our administrative, operational and financial
resources. For us to continue to manage our growth, we must continue to improve our operational, financial and
management information systems and expand, motivate and manage our workforce. If we are unable to successfully
manage our growth without compromising our quality of service and our profit margins, or if new systems that we
implement to assist in managing our growth do not produce the expected benefits, we may experience higher turnover
in our customer base and our revenue and profits could be adversely affected.

We may be unable to complete suitable acquisitions, or we may undertake acquisitions that could increase our
costs or liabilities or be disruptive to our business.

We have made a number of acquisitions in the past, and one of our strategies is to pursue acquisitions selectively in
the future. We may not be able to locate suitable acquisition candidates at prices that we consider appropriate or to
finance acquisitions on terms that are satisfactory to us. Even if we do identify an appropriate acquisition candidate
and pursue an acquisition, we may not be able to successfully negotiate the terms of an acquisition, finance the
acquisition or, if the acquisition occurs, integrate the acquired business into our existing business. Acquisitions of
businesses or other material operations may require additional debt or equity financing, resulting in the incurrence of
additional leverage or dilution to our stockholders.

Acquisitions involve significant risks. In 2006 alone, we acquired UltraDNS Corporation and Followap Inc. If we fail
to successfully integrate and support the operations of acquired businesses, or if anticipated revenue enhancements
and cost savings are not realized, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially
adversely affected. Integration of acquired business operations could disrupt our business by diverting management
away from day-to-day operations. The difficulties of integration may be exacerbated by the necessity of coordinating
geographically dispersed organizations, integrating personnel with disparate business backgrounds, integrating
systems, products or technologies, integrating internal controls, procedures and policies and combining different
corporate cultures. We also may not realize cost efficiencies or synergies or other benefits that we anticipated when
selecting our acquisition candidates, and we may be required to invest significant capital and resources after
acquisition to integrate, maintain or grow the businesses that we acquire. In addition, we may need to record
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write-downs from future impairments of goodwill or intangible assets in connection with acquisitions, which could
reduce our future reported earnings. We also run the risk of failing to retain key employees of an acquired business or
existing key employees. Further, at times, acquisition candidates may have liabilities, neutrality-related risks or
adverse operating issues that we fail to discover through due diligence prior to the acquisition, and the
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failure to discover such issues prior to such acquisition could have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations.

Our expansion into international markets may be subject to uncertainties that could increase our costs to comply
with regulatory requirements in foreign jurisdictions, disrupt our operations, and require increased focus from our
management.

We recently acquired Followap Inc., a UK-based enterprise, and we intend to pursue international business
opportunities in the future. International operations and business expansion plans are subject to numerous additional
risks, including economic and political risks in foreign jurisdictions in which we operate or seek to operate, the
difficulty of enforcing contracts and collecting receivables through some foreign legal systems, unexpected changes in
regulatory requirements and the difficulties associated with managing a large organization spread throughout various
countries. If we continue to expand our business globally, our success will depend, in large part, on our ability to
anticipate and effectively manage these and other risks associated with our international operations. However, any of
these factors could adversely affect our international operations and, consequently, our operating results.

For example, our instant messaging solutions currently target international markets almost exclusively. Risks inherent
in conducting business internationally include:

� differing technology standards and pace of adoption;

� export restrictions on encryption and other technologies;

� fluctuations in currency exchange rates and any imposition of currency exchange controls;

� increased competition by local, regional, or global companies; and

� difficulties in collecting accounts receivable and longer collection periods.

While we attempt to hedge our currency risk, we may be unable to do so effectively. In addition, international sales
could decline due to unexpected changes in regulatory requirements applicable to our business, or differences in
foreign laws and regulations, including foreign tax, intellectual property, labor and contract law. Any of these factors
could harm our international operations and, consequently, our operating results.

Our senior management is important to our customer relationships, and the loss of one or more of our senior
managers could have a negative impact on our business.

We believe that our success depends in part on the continued contributions of our Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey
Ganek, and other members of our senior management. We rely on our executive officers and senior management to
generate business and execute programs successfully. In addition, the relationships and reputation that members of our
management team have established and maintain with our customers and our regulators contribute to our ability to
maintain good customer relations. The loss of Jeffrey Ganek or any other member of senior management could impair
our ability to identify and secure new contracts and otherwise to manage our business.

We must recruit and retain skilled employees to succeed in our business, and our failure to recruit and retain
qualified employees could harm our ability to maintain and grow our business.

We believe that an integral part of our success is our ability to recruit and retain employees who have advanced skills
in the services and solutions that we provide and who work well with our customers in the regulated environment in
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which we operate. In particular, we must hire and retain employees with the technical expertise and industry
knowledge necessary to maintain and continue to develop our operations and must effectively manage our growing
sales and marketing organization to ensure the growth of our operations. Our future success depends on the ability of
our sales and marketing organization to establish direct sales channels and to develop multiple distribution channels
with Internet service providers and other third parties. The employees with the skills we require are in great demand
and are likely to remain a limited resource in the foreseeable future. If we are unable to recruit and
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retain a sufficient number of these employees at all levels, our ability to maintain and grow our business could be
negatively impacted.

Our ability to access additional capital in the future may be limited.

We have historically relied on outside financing and cash flow from operations to fund our operations, capital
expenditures and expansion. We may require additional capital in the future to fund our operations, finance
investments in equipment or infrastructure, or respond to competitive pressures or strategic opportunities. However,
our neutrality requirements may limit or prohibit our ability to obtain debt or equity financing by restricting the ability
of certain parties from acquiring our stock or our debt, or the amount that such parties may acquire. In addition,
additional financing may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. Further, the terms of available financing
may place limits on our financial and operating flexibility. If we are unable to obtain sufficient capital in the future,
we may:

� not be able to continue to meet customer demand for service quality, availability and competitive pricing;

� be forced to reduce our operations;

� not be able to expand or acquire complementary businesses; and

� not be able to develop new services or otherwise respond to changing business conditions or competitive
pressures.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our common stock price may be volatile.

The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate widely. Fluctuations in the market price of our Class A
common stock could be caused by many things, including:

� our perceived prospects, including the impact of acquisitions or potential acquisitions, and the prospects of the
communications and Internet industry in general;

� differences between our actual financial and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts;

� changes in analysts� recommendations or projections;

� changes in general valuations for communications companies;

� adoption or modification of regulations, policies, procedures or programs applicable to our business;

� sales of our Class A common stock by our officers, directors or principal stockholders;

� sales of significant amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the perception that such
sales may occur;

� sales of our Class A common stock due to a required divestiture under the terms of our certificate of
incorporation; and
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� changes in general economic or market conditions and broad market fluctuations.

Each of these factors, among others, could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our Class A common
stock. In addition, in recent years, the stock market in general and the shares of technology companies in particular
have experienced extreme price fluctuations. This volatility has had a substantial effect on the market prices of
securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to the operating performance of the specific companies.
Some companies that have had volatile market prices for their securities have had securities class action suits filed
against them. If a suit were to be filed against us, regardless of the outcome, it could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of our management�s attention and resources. This could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
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Delaware law and provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or
proxy contest difficult, and the market price of our Class A common stock may be lower as a result.

We are a Delaware corporation, and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may
discourage, delay or prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an
interested stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change
of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws
may discourage, delay or prevent a change in our management or control over us that stockholders may consider
favorable. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws:

� authorize the issuance of �blank check� preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors to thwart a
takeover attempt;

� prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise enable holders of less than a
majority of our voting securities to elect some of our directors;

� establish a classified board of directors, as a result of which the successors to the directors whose terms have
expired will be elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until the third annual meeting
following election;

� require that directors only be removed from office for cause;

� provide that vacancies on the board of directors, including newly-created directorships, may be filled only by a
majority vote of directors then in office;

� disqualify any individual from serving on our board if such individual�s service as a director would cause us to
violate our neutrality requirements;

� limit who may call special meetings of stockholders;

� prohibit stockholder action by written consent, requiring all actions to be taken at a meeting of the
stockholders; and

� establish advance notice requirements for nominating candidates for election to the board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In order to comply with our neutrality requirements, our certificate of incorporation contains ownership and
transfer restrictions relating to telecommunications service providers and their affiliates, which may inhibit
potential acquisition bids that our stockholders may consider favorable, and the market price of our Class A
common stock may be lower as a result.

In order to comply with neutrality requirements imposed by the FCC in its orders and rules, no entity that qualifies as
a �telecommunications service provider� or affiliate of a telecommunications service provider, as such terms are defined
under the Communications Act of 1934 and FCC rules and orders, may beneficially own 5% or more of our capital
stock. As a result, subject to limited exceptions, our certificate of incorporation prohibits any telecommunications
service provider or affiliate of a telecommunications service provider from beneficially owning, directly or indirectly,
5% or more of our outstanding capital stock. Among other things, our certificate of incorporation provides that:

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

49



� if one of our stockholders experiences a change in status or other event that results in the stockholder violating
this restriction, or if any transfer of our stock occurs that, if effective, would violate the 5% restriction, we may
elect to purchase the excess shares (i.e., the shares that cause the violation of the restriction) or require that the
excess shares be sold to a third party whose ownership will not violate the restriction;

� pending a required divestiture of these excess shares, the holder whose beneficial ownership violates the 5%
restriction may not vote the shares in excess of the 5% threshold; and
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� if our board of directors, or its permitted designee, determines that a transfer, attempted transfer or other event
violating this restriction has taken place, we must take whatever action we deem advisable to prevent or refuse
to give effect to the transfer, including refusal to register the transfer, disregard of any vote of the shares by the
prohibited owner, or the institution of proceedings to enjoin the transfer.

Our board of directors has the authority to make determinations as to whether any particular holder of our capital
stock is a telecommunications service provider or an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider. Any person
who acquires, or attempts or intends to acquire, beneficial ownership of our stock that will or may violate this
restriction must notify us as provided in our certificate of incorporation. In addition, any person who becomes the
beneficial owner of 5% or more of our stock must notify us and certify that such person is not a telecommunications
service provider or an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider. If a 5% stockholder fails to supply the
required certification, we are authorized to treat that stockholder as a prohibited owner � meaning, among other things,
that we may elect to purchase the excess shares or require that the excess shares be sold to a third party whose
ownership will not violate the restriction. We may request additional information from our stockholders to ensure
compliance with this restriction. Our board will treat any �group,� as that term is defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as a single person for purposes of applying the ownership and transfer restrictions in
our certificate of incorporation.

Nothing in our certificate of incorporation restricts our ability to purchase shares of our capital stock. If a purchase by
us of shares of our capital stock results in a stockholder�s percentage interest in our outstanding capital stock increasing
to over the 5% threshold, such stockholder must deliver the required certification regarding such stockholder�s status as
a telecommunications service provider or affiliate of a telecommunications service provider. In addition, to the extent
that a repurchase by us of shares of our capital stock causes any stockholder to violate the restrictions on ownership
and transfer contained in our certificate of incorporation, that stockholder will be subject to all of the provisions
applicable to prohibited owners, including required divestiture and loss of voting rights.

These restrictions and requirements may:

� discourage industry participants that might have otherwise been interested in acquiring us from making a
tender offer or proposing some other form of transaction that could involve a premium price for our shares or
otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders; and

� discourage investment in us by other investors who are telecommunications service providers or who may be
deemed to be affiliates of a telecommunications service provider.

The standards for determining whether an entity is a �telecommunications service provider� are established by the FCC.
In general, a telecommunications service provider is an entity that offers telecommunications services to the public at
large, and is, therefore, providing telecommunications services on a common carrier basis. Moreover, a party will be
deemed to be an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider if that party controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, a telecommunications service provider. A party is deemed to control another if that party,
directly or indirectly:

� owns 10% or more of the total outstanding equity of the other party;

� has the power to vote 10% or more of the securities having ordinary voting power for the election of the
directors or management of the other party; or

� has the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of the other party.
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The standards for determining whether an entity is a telecommunications service provider or an affiliate of a
telecommunications service provider and the rules applicable to telecommunications service providers and their
affiliates are complex and may be subject to change. Each stockholder is responsible for notifying us if it is a
telecommunications service provider or an affiliate of a telecommunications service provider.

ITEM 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters are located in Sterling, Virginia under leases that are scheduled to expire in July and
August 2010. We have two five-year renewal options on these leases.

As a result of the Followap acquisition, we now lease operating space in Stainsfield, United Kingdom, Haifa, Israel
and Dusseldorf, Germany, which supplement our existing leases in Hong Kong and Singapore. Within the United
States, we also lease operating space in North Carolina, the District of Columbia, and California. These domestic and
international leases expire on various dates through March 2017. We believe that our existing facilities are sufficient
to meet our requirements, and that new space will be available on commercially reasonable terms as we expand.

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to claims in legal proceedings arising in the normal course of our business. We do
not believe that we are party to any pending legal action that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on our business or operating results.

ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART II

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT�S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Our Common Stock

Prior to June 29, 2005, there was no established public trading market for our Class A common stock. Since June 29,
2005, our Class A common stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol �NSR.� As of
February 15, 2007, our Class A common stock was held by 112 stockholders of record. The following table sets forth
the per-share range of the high and low sales prices of our Class A common stock as reported on the New York Stock
Exchange for the periods indicated:

High Low

Fiscal year ended December 31, 2005
First quarter N/A N/A
Second quarter $ 26.67 $ 24.50
Third quarter $ 33.02 $ 25.35
Fourth quarter $ 32.95 $ 28.85
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2006
First quarter $ 32.32 $ 27.00
Second quarter $ 37.73 $ 28.41
Third quarter $ 33.01 $ 25.03
Fourth quarter $ 33.80 $ 26.80
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There is no established public trading market for our Class B common stock. As of February 15, 2007, our Class B
common stock was held by 10 stockholders of record.

Dividends

We did not pay any cash dividends on our Class A or Class B common stock in 2005 or 2006 and we do not expect to
pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain any future
earnings to finance our operations and growth. Our revolving credit facility limits our ability to declare or pay

25

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

54



dividends. We are also limited by Delaware law in the amount of dividends we can pay. Any future determination to
pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on earnings, financial condition,
operating results, capital requirements, any contractual restrictions and other factors that our board of directors deems
relevant.

Performance Graph

The following chart shows how $100 invested in our Class A common stock on June 29, 2005, the day our Class A
common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange, would have grown through the period ended
December 31, 2006, compared with: (a) $100 invested in the Russell 2000 Index, and (b) $100 invested in the NYSE
TMT Index, each over that same period. The comparison assumes reinvestment of dividends. The stock performance
in the graph is included to satisfy our SEC disclosure requirements, and is not intended to forecast or to be indicative
of future performance.

This Performance Graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into our SEC filings and shall not
constitute soliciting material or otherwise be considered filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

 Company Name/Index 6/29/05 12/31/05 12/31/06
NeuStar, Inc. $ 100 $ 117 $ 125
Russell 2000 Index $ 100 $ 105 $ 123
NYSE TMT Index $ 100 $ 103 $ 126

ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The tables below present selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the five years ended
December 31, 2006 and selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and
2006. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the three years ended December 31, 2004,
2005 and 2006, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, have been
derived from, and should be read together with, our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes
appearing in this report. The selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the two years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2002, 2003 and
2004, have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes not included in this
report. The share and per share data included in the selected consolidated statements of operations data for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004 reflect the 1.4-for-1 split of our common stock effected as part of the
Recapitalization, but do not reflect other aspects of the Recapitalization.
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The following information should be read together with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the more
detailed information contained in �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations� in Item 7 of this report and our consolidated financial statements and related notes in Item 8 of this report.

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Data:
Total revenue $ 90,972 $ 111,693 $ 165,001 $ 242,469 $ 332,957
Operating expense:
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation
and amortization shown separately below) 36,677 37,846 49,261 64,891 86,106
Sales and marketing 13,855 14,381 22,743 29,543 47,671
Research and development 6,256 6,678 7,377 11,883 17,639
General and administrative 13,366 11,359 21,144 28,048 34,902
Depreciation and amortization 27,020 16,051 17,285 16,025 24,016
Restructuring charges (recoveries) 7,332 (1,296) (220) (389) �
Asset impairment charge 13,190 � � � �

117,696 85,019 117,590 150,001 210,334

(Loss) income from operations (26,724) 26,674 47,411 92,468 122,623
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (6,260) (3,119) (2,498) (2,121) (1,300)
Interest income 1,876 1,299 1,629 2,406 4,024

(Loss) income before minority interest
and income taxes (31,108) 24,854 46,542 92,753 125,347
Minority interest 1,908 10 � (104) (95)

(Loss) income before income taxes (29,200) 24,864 46,542 92,649 125,252
Provision for income taxes � 836 1,166 37,251 51,353

Net (loss) income (29,200) 24,028 45,376 55,398 73,899
Dividends on and accretion of preferred
stock (9,102) (9,583) (9,737) (4,313) �

Net (loss) income attributable to common
stockholders $ (38,302) $ 14,445 $ 35,639 $ 51,085 $ 73,899

Net (loss) income attributable to common
stockholders per common share:
Basic $ (9.04) $ 3.09 $ 6.33 $ 1.48 $ 1.02

Diluted $ (9.04) $ 0.31 $ 0.57 $ 0.72 $ 0.94
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Weighted average common shares
outstanding:
Basic 4,236 4,680 5,632 34,437 72,364

Diluted 4,236 76,520 80,237 77,046 78,267

As of December 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments $ 21,347 $ 63,987 $ 63,929 $ 103,475 $ 58,252
Working capital 3,633 23,630 38,441 113,296 53,970
Goodwill and intangible assets 44,087 54,751 50,703 54,150 257,051
Total assets 132,544 190,245 211,454 283,215 448,259
Deferred revenue and customer credits,
excluding current portion 2,910 14,840 13,892 18,463 17,921
Long-term debt and capital lease
obligations, excluding current portion 7,722 5,996 7,964 4,459 3,925
Convertible preferred stock, Series B,
Series C and Series D 151,458 161,041 140,454 � �
Total stockholders� (deficit) equity (87,300) (68,581) (31,858) 186,163 341,146

27

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

57



ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with the information set forth under �Selected
Financial Data� in Item 6 of this report and our consolidated financial statements and related notes in Item 8 of this
report. The statements in this discussion related to our expectations regarding our future performance, liquidity and
capital resources, and other non-historical statements in this discussion, are forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, the risks and
uncertainties described in �Risk Factors� in Item 1A of this report and �Business � Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward-Looking Statements� in Item 1 of this report. Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in
or implied by any forward-looking statements.

Overview

We continued to experience increased demand for our clearinghouse services in 2006, and we made significant steps
to innovate and expand the range and value of the services that we provide to meet the evolving needs of the
communications industry. Under our contracts to provide telephone number portability services in the United States,
we processed 234.4 million transactions, a growth of 37% over 2005. We believe that this growth in transaction
volume demonstrates strong demand for our services from numerous sources, including, most significantly, customers
who have been upgrading to next generation technologies, such as Internet Protocol, or IP, systems, and the entry of
new service providers. In 2006, we also saw significant demand for our services from content providers to market
their products and services using U.S. Common Short Codes.

The growth in demand for our clearinghouse services led to the amendment and extension of our seven contracts with
the North American Portability Management LLC under which we provide telephone number portability and other
clearinghouse services in the United States. Under these amendments, which we announced in September 2006, these
contracts now run until June 2015. Pricing for 2006, including volume-based credits, remained unchanged. For 2007,
pricing is $0.91 per transaction regardless of transaction volume. Pricing from 2008 through the expiration of the
contracts contains volume-based pricing that ranges from $0.95 per transaction to $0.75 per transaction, with the
precise effective rate being determined based on transaction volumes within the applicable calendar year. In July
2006, working with the CTIA, we also expanded the U.S. Common Short Codes directory to include six-digit short
codes, enabling an unprecedented number of new codes for providers to establish relationships with mobile customers.
In December 2006, we renewed our agreement to operate the .biz registry.

During 2006, we executed on our long-standing strategy to expand the scope of our services and customers through
acquisitions. Specifically, in April 2006, we acquired UltraDNS Corporation for $61.8 million in cash. As a result of
this acquisition, our Ultra services now play a key role in directing and managing Internet traffic, enabling thousands
of our customers to intelligently and securely control and distribute that traffic, and ensuring security, scalability and
reliability of websites and email. In November 2006, we announced the acquisition of Followap Inc. for
$139.0 million in cash, adding an end-to-end solution for the routing and delivery of mobile instant messaging, or
mobile IM. These two acquisitions position us to provide solutions to meet the challenges that our customers face as
new and different communications services arise.

Our Company

We were founded to meet the technical and operational challenges of the communications industry when the
U.S. government mandated local number portability in 1996. While we remain the provider of the authoritative
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solution upon which the industry relies to meet this mandate, we have developed a broad range of innovative services
that meet an expanded range of customer needs. We provide the communications industry with critical technology
services that solve the industry�s addressing, interoperability and infrastructure needs.

These services are now used by CSPs to manage a range of their technical and operating requirements, including:

� Addressing.  We enable CSPs to use critical, shared addressing resources, such as telephone numbers, Internet
top-level domain names, and U.S. Common Short Codes.
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� Interoperability.  We enable CSPs to exchange and share critical operating data so that communications
originating on one provider�s network can be delivered and received on the network of another CSP. We also
facilitate order management and work flow processing among CSPs.

� Infrastructure and Other.  We enable CSPs to manage changes in their own networks more efficiently by
centrally managing certain critical data they use to route communications over their own networks.

We derive a substantial portion of our annual revenue on a transaction basis, most of which is derived from long-term
contracts.

Our costs and expenses consist of cost of revenue, sales and marketing, research and development, general and
administrative, and depreciation and amortization.

Cost of revenue includes all direct materials, direct labor, and those indirect costs related to the generation of revenue
such as indirect labor, materials and supplies and facilities cost. Our primary cost of revenue is related to personnel
costs associated with service implementation, product maintenance, customer deployment and customer care,
including salaries, stock-based compensation and other personnel-related expense. In addition, cost of revenue
includes costs relating to developing modifications and enhancements of our existing technology and services, as well
as royalties paid related to our U.S. Common Short Code services. Cost of revenue also includes our information
technology and systems department, including network costs, data center maintenance, database management, data
processing costs, and facilities costs.

Sales and marketing expense consists of personnel costs, such as salaries, sales commissions, travel, stock-based
compensation, and other personnel-related expense; costs associated with attending and sponsoring trade shows; costs
of computer and communications equipment and support services; facilities costs; consulting fees; costs of marketing
programs, such as Internet and print, including product branding, market analysis and forecasting; and customer
relationship management.

Research and development expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, stock-based
compensation and other personnel-related expense; consulting fees; and the costs of facilities, computer and support
services used in service and technology development.

General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, stock-based
compensation, and other personnel-related expense, for our executive, administrative, legal, finance, and human
resources functions. General and administrative expense also includes facilities, management information systems,
support services, professional services fees, certain audit, tax and license fees.

Depreciation and amortization relates to amortization of identifiable intangibles, and the depreciation of our property
and equipment, including our network infrastructure and facilities related to our services.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or
U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to utilize
accounting policies and make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expense during a fiscal period. The Securities and Exchange Commission considers an accounting policy

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

60



to be critical if it is important to a company�s financial condition and results of operations, and if it requires significant
judgment and estimates on the part of management in its application. We have discussed the selection and
development of the critical accounting policies with the audit committee of our board of directors, and the audit
committee has reviewed our related disclosures in this report. Although we believe that our judgments and estimates
are appropriate and correct, actual results may differ from those estimates.

We believe the following to be our critical accounting policies because they are important to the portrayal of our
financial condition and results of operations and they require critical management judgments and estimates about
matters that are uncertain. If actual results or events differ materially from those contemplated by us in making these
estimates, our reported financial condition and results of operation for future periods could be
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materially affected. See Item 1A of this report, �Risk Factors,� for certain matters that may bear on our future results of
operations.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue recognition policies are in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition. We provide the following services pursuant to various private commercial
and government contracts.

Addressing.  Our addressing services include telephone number administration, implementing the allocation of pooled
blocks of telephone numbers, directory services for Internet domain names and U.S. Common Short Codes, and
internal and external managed domain name services. We generate revenue from our telephone number administration
services under two government contracts. Under our contract to serve as the North American Numbering Plan
Administrator, we earn a fixed annual fee and recognize this fee as revenue on a straight-line basis as services are
provided. In the event we estimate losses on our fixed fee contract, we recognize these losses in the period in which a
loss becomes apparent. Under our contract to serve as the National Pooling Administrator, we are reimbursed for costs
incurred plus a fixed fee associated with administration of the pooling system. We recognize revenue for this contract
based on costs incurred plus a pro rata amount of the fixed-fee.

In addition to the administrative functions associated with our role as the National Pooling Administrator, we also
generate revenue from implementing the allocation of pooled blocks of telephone numbers under our long-term
contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, and we recognize revenue on a per-transaction fee basis
as the services are performed. For our Internet domain name services, we generate revenue for Internet domain
registrations, which generally have contract terms between one and ten years. We recognize revenue on a straight-line
basis over the lives of the related customer contracts.

Following the acquisition of UltraDNS Corporation in April 2006, we generate revenue through internal and external
managed domain name services. Our revenue consists of customer set-up fees followed by transaction processing
under contracts with terms ranging from one to three years. Customer set-up fees are not considered a separate
deliverable and are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract. Under our contracts
to provide our managed domain name services, customers have contractually established monthly transaction volumes
for which they are charged a recurring monthly fee. Transactions processed in excess of the pre-established monthly
volume are billed at a contractual per-transaction rate. Each month we recognize the recurring monthly fee and usage
in excess of the established monthly volume on a per-transaction basis as services are provided. We generate revenue
from our U.S. Common Short Code services under short-term contracts ranging from three to twelve months, and we
recognize revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the customer contracts.

Interoperability.  Our interoperability services consist primarily of wireline and wireless number portability and order
management services. We generate revenue from number portability under our long-term contracts with North
American Portability Management LLC and Canadian LNP Consortium Inc. We recognize revenue on a per
transaction fee basis as the services are performed. We provide order management services consisting of customer
set-up and implementation followed by transaction processing under contracts with terms ranging from one to three
years. Customer set-up and implementation is not considered a separate deliverable; accordingly, the fees are deferred
and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract. Per-transaction fees are recognized as
the transactions are processed.

Infrastructure and Other.  Our infrastructure services consist primarily of network management and connection
services. We generate revenue from network management services under our long-term contracts with North
American Portability Management LLC. We recognize revenue on a per transaction fee basis as the services are
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performed. In addition, we generate revenue from connection fees and system enhancements under our contracts with
North American Portability Management LLC. We recognize our connection fee revenue as the service is performed.
System enhancements are provided under contracts in which we are reimbursed for costs incurred plus a fixed fee.
Revenue is recognized based on costs incurred plus a pro rata amount of the fee.
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Significant Contracts

We provide wireline and wireless number portability, implement the allocation of pooled blocks of telephone numbers
and provide network management services pursuant to seven contracts with North American Portability Management
LLC, an industry group that represents all telecommunications service providers in the United States. We recognize
revenue under our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC primarily on a per-transaction basis.
The aggregate fees for transactions processed under these contracts are determined by the total number of transactions,
and these fees are billed to telecommunications service providers based on their allocable share of the total transaction
charges. This allocable share is based on each respective telecommunications service provider�s share of the aggregate
end-user services revenue of all U.S. telecommunications service providers, as determined by the FCC. On
November 4, 2005, BellSouth Corporation filed a petition seeking changes in the way our customers are billed for
services provided by us under our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC. In response to the
BellSouth petition, the FCC solicited comments from other interested parties. As of February 15, 2007, the FCC had
not indicated whether it will take any action based on this petition, and the BellSouth petition remains pending. We do
not believe that this proposed change to the manner in which we bill for services under these contracts would have a
material impact on our customers� demand for these services. Under our contracts, we also bill a Revenue Recovery
Collections, or RRC, fee of a percentage of monthly billings to our customers, which is available to us if any
telecommunications service provider fails to pay its allocable share of total transactions charges. If the RRC fee is
insufficient for that purpose, these contracts also provide for the recovery of such differences from the remaining
telecommunications service providers.

The per-transaction pricing under these contracts provided for annual volume-based credits that were earned on all
transactions in excess of the pre-determined annual volume threshold. For 2005 and 2006, the maximum aggregate
volume-based credit was $7.5 million, which was applied via a reduction in per-transaction pricing once the
pre-determined annual volume threshold was surpassed. When the aggregate credit was fully satisfied, the per-
transaction pricing was restored to the prevailing contractual rate. In both 2005 and 2006, the pre-determined annual
transaction volume threshold under these contracts was exceeded, which resulted in the issuance of $7.5 million of
volume-based credits for both years. In September 2006, we amended our contracts with North American Portability
Management LLC. Under these amended terms, there are no volume-based credits that will be applied in 2007 or later
fiscal periods.

Contrasted to the application of volume-based credits in 2005 and 2006, billings in 2004 continued at the original
contractual rate after the annual volume threshold was surpassed. Billings in excess of the discounted pricing were
recorded as customer credits (liability) on the consolidated balance sheet with a corresponding reduction to revenue.
In the following year when the credits were applied to invoices rendered, customer credits were reduced with a
corresponding credit to accounts receivable. The annual pre-determined volume threshold was surpassed in the fourth
quarter of 2004, resulting in the reduction of revenue and recognition of customer credits of $11.9 million in the
aggregate for 2004. Further, as part of the amendments to these contracts in December 2003, we agreed to apply the
then-current transaction fee retroactively to all 2003 transactions processed and granted credits totaling $16.0 million.
These credits were applied to customer invoices over a 23-month period beginning in January 2004. Additionally, we
obtained letters of credit totaling $16.0 million in January 2004 to secure a portion of these customer credits. As of
December 31, 2005, none of these customer credits were outstanding.

Service Level Standards

Pursuant to certain of our private commercial contracts, we are subject to service level standards and to corresponding
penalties for failure to meet those standards. We record a provision for these performance-related penalties when we
become aware that required service levels that would trigger such a penalty have not been met, which results in a
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corresponding reduction of our revenue.

For more information regarding how we recognize revenue for each of our service categories, please see the
discussion above under �� Revenue Recognition.�
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Our acquisition of our business from the Lockheed Martin Corporation in November 1999 as well as subsequent
acquisitions resulted in the recording of goodwill, which represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value
of assets acquired, as well as other definite-lived intangible assets. Under present accounting rules (Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets), goodwill is no longer subject to
amortization; instead it is subject to impairment testing criteria. Other acquired definite-lived intangible assets are
being amortized over their estimated useful lives, although those with indefinite lives are not to be amortized but are
tested at least annually for impairment, using a lower of cost or fair value approach. We test for impairment on an
annual basis or on an interim basis if circumstances change that would indicate the possibility of impairment. The
impairment review may require an analysis of future projections and assumptions about our operating performance. If
such a review indicates that the assets are impaired, an expense would be recorded for the amount of the impairment,
and the corresponding impaired assets would be reduced in carrying value.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Our long-lived assets primarily consist of property and equipment and intangible assets. In accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, we
evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. If an indication of impairment is present, we
compare the estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by the asset to its carrying amount. If the
undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, we record an impairment loss equal to
the excess of the asset�s carrying amount over its fair value. Substantially all of our long-lived assets are located in the
United States.

Accounts Receivable, Revenue Recovery Collections, and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. In accordance with our contracts
with North American Portability Management LLC, we bill an RRC fee of a percentage of monthly billings to our
customers. The aggregate RRC fees collected may be used to offset uncollectible receivables from an individual
customer. The RRC fees are recorded as an accrued liability when collected. For the period from January 1, 2002
through June 30, 2004, this fee was 3% of monthly billings. On July 1, 2004, the RRC fee was reduced to 2%. On
July 1, 2005, the RRC fee was reduced to 1%. Any accrued RRC fees in excess of uncollectible receivables are paid
back to the customers annually on a pro rata basis. RRC fees of $2.5 million and $2.9 million are included in accrued
expenses as of December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006, respectively. All other receivables related to services not
covered by the RRC fees are evaluated and, if deemed not collectible, are appropriately reserved.

Deferred Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on temporary differences between the financial reporting bases
and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax
rates and laws that will be in effect when such amounts are expected to reverse or be utilized. The realization of
deferred tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future taxable income. When appropriate, we recognize a
valuation allowance to reduce such deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be ultimately
realized. The calculation of deferred tax assets (including valuation allowances) and liabilities requires us to apply
significant judgment related to such factors as the application of complex tax laws, changes in tax laws and our future
operations. We review our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis to determine if a valuation allowance is required
based upon these factors. Changes in our assessment of the need for a valuation allowance could give rise to a change
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in such allowance, potentially resulting in additional expense or benefit in the period of change.

Income tax provision includes U.S. federal, state and local income taxes and is based on pre-tax income or loss. The
provision or benefit for income taxes is based upon our estimate of our annual effective income tax rate. In
determining the estimated annual effective income tax rate, we analyze various factors, including projections of our
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annual earnings and taxing jurisdictions in which the earnings will be generated, the impact of state and local income
taxes and our ability to use tax credits and net operating loss carryforwards.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards, or SFAS, No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which requires companies to expense the estimated fair value
of employee stock options and similar awards. This statement is a revision to SFAS No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, or APB No. 25, Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for our stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and
measurement provisions of APB No. 25, and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123. Effective
January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R), including the fair value recognition provisions, using the
modified-prospective transition method. Under the modified-prospective transition method, compensation cost
recognized in fiscal 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all stock-based awards granted prior to but not yet vested
as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS No. 123, and (b) compensation cost for all stock-based awards granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on
the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Under the modified
prospective transition method, prior periods are not restated. For stock-based awards subject to graded vesting, we
have utilized the �straight-line� method for allocating compensation cost by period. Stock-based compensation expense
recognized under SFAS No. 123(R) for 2006 was $11.9 million. At December 31, 2006, total unrecognized estimated
compensation expense related to non-vested stock options, non-vested restricted stock and non-vested phantom stock
units granted prior to that date was $30.5 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period
of 2.1 years.

In accordance with FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects
of Share-Based Payment Awards, we elected to adopt the alternative method provided in this FASB Staff Position for
calculating the tax effects of stock-based compensation pursuant to SFAS No. 123(R). The alternative transition
method includes a simplified method to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in capital pool related to
the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation, which is available to absorb tax deficiencies recognized
subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

Prior to adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we presented all benefits of tax deductions resulting from the exercise of
stock-based compensation as an operating cash flow in the consolidated statements of cash flows. Beginning on
January 1, 2006, we changed our cash flow presentation in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), which requires benefits
of tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized (excess tax benefits) to be classified as a financing
cash inflow with a corresponding operating cash outflow. For the year ended December 31, 2006, we included
$49.5 million of excess tax benefits as a financing cash inflow with a corresponding operating cash outflow. As a
result of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, our income before income taxes and net income for the year
ended December 31, 2006 were approximately $10.4 million and $7.6 million less, respectively, than if we had
continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB No. 25. Basic and diluted net income per common
share for the year ended December 31, 2006 were each approximately $0.10 less than if we had not adopted
SFAS No. 123(R).

Both prior and subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we estimated the value of stock-based awards on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the value of
each stock-based award was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for the pro
forma information required to be disclosed under SFAS No. 123. The determination of the fair value of stock-based
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payment awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as
well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not
limited to, our expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, risk-free interest rate and the expected term
of the awards.

If factors change and we employ different assumptions in the application of SFAS No. 123(R) in future periods, the
compensation expense that we record under SFAS No. 123(R) may differ significantly from what we have
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recorded in the current period. Therefore, we believe it is important for investors to be aware of the high degree of
subjectivity involved when using option pricing models to estimate stock-based compensation under
SFAS No. 123(R). Option-pricing models were developed for use in estimating the value of traded options that have
no vesting or hedging restrictions, are fully transferable and do not cause dilution. Because our stock-based awards
have characteristics significantly different from those of freely traded options, and because changes in the subjective
input assumptions can materially affect our estimates of fair values, in our opinion, existing valuation models,
including the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, may not provide reliable measures of the fair values of our
stock-based compensation. Consequently, there is a risk that our estimates of the fair values of our stock-based
compensation awards on the grant dates may bear little resemblance to the actual values realized upon the exercise,
expiration, early termination or forfeiture of those stock-based awards in the future. Certain stock-based awards, such
as employee stock options, may expire worthless or otherwise result in zero intrinsic value as compared to the fair
values originally estimated on the grant date and reported in our consolidated financial statements. Alternatively,
value may be realized from these instruments that is significantly in excess of the fair values originally estimated on
the grant date and reported in our consolidated financial statements. Although the fair value of our stock-based awards
is determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R) and the SEC�s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based
Payment, using an option-pricing model, that value may not be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing
buyer/willing seller market transaction.

Acquisitions

We have expanded the scope of our services and increased our customer base through selective acquisitions. Our
objective for each acquisition was to expand the scope of the services that we provide and to leverage our
clearinghouse capabilities in order to maximize efficiency and provide added value to our customers. The stock
consideration described below reflects the 1.4-for-1 stock split effected as part of the Recapitalization, but does not
reflect the other aspects of the Recapitalization.

fiducianet, Inc.

In February 2005, we acquired fiducianet, Inc. for $2.2 million in cash and the issuance of 35,745 shares of our
common stock for total purchase consideration of $2.6 million. The acquisition of fiducianet enables us to serve as a
single point of contact in managing all day-to-day customer obligations involving subpoenas, court orders and law
enforcement agency requests under electronic surveillance laws, including CALEA, the USA Patriot Act of 2001 and
the Homeland Security Act of 2002. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase, and we allocated the purchase
price principally to customer lists ($2.6 million) and goodwill ($1.1 million) based on their estimated fair values on
the acquisition date. Customer lists are included in intangible assets and are being amortized on a straight-line basis
over five years. In accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, or SFAS No. 109, we recorded a
deferred tax liability of approximately $1.0 million with a corresponding increase to goodwill.

Foretec Seminars Inc.

In December 2005, we acquired Foretec Seminars Inc., a provider of secretariat services to the Internet Engineering
Task Force (IETF), from the Corporation for National Research Initiatives (CNRI) for $875,000 in cash, of which
$500,000 is payable upon the achievement of certain milestones, as well as the payment of approximately $213,000 in
legal fees incurred by CNRI to establish a public trust to administer IETF-related intellectual property. In accordance
with SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, or SFAS No. 141, the $500,000 payable upon the achievement of certain
milestones has been included in the purchase consideration since this amount was determinable as of the date of
acquisition. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and the purchase price was allocated to net liabilities
assumed of approximately $53,000 and goodwill ($929,000) based on their estimated fair values on the acquisition
date.
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NeuLevel, Inc.

In March 2006, we acquired 10% of NeuLevel, Inc. from Melbourne IT Limited for cash consideration of
$4.3 million, raising the Company�s ownership interest from 90% to 100%. The acquisition of the remaining 10% of
NeuLevel was accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance with SFAS No. 141. We allocated
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the purchase price principally to customer lists ($4.1 million) based on their estimated fair values on the acquisition
date. Customer lists are included in intangible assets and are being amortized on an accelerated basis over five years.
In accordance with SFAS No. 109, we recorded a deferred tax liability of approximately $1.6 million with a
corresponding increase to goodwill.

UltraDNS Corporation

On April 21, 2006, we acquired UltraDNS Corporation for $61.8 million in cash and acquisition costs of $0.8 million.
The acquisition further expanded our domain name services and our Internet protocol technologies. The acquisition
was accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance with SFAS No. 141. Of the total cash
consideration, approximately $6.1 million was distributed to an escrow account for indemnification claims as set forth
in the acquisition agreement. All funds remaining in the account will be distributed to the former stockholders of
UltraDNS in accordance with the acquisition agreement on the first anniversary of the acquisition.

Of the total purchase price, a preliminary estimate of $9.5 million has been allocated to net tangible assets acquired
and $20.0 million has been allocated to definite-lived intangible assets acquired. We utilized a third party valuation
specialist to assist management in determining the fair value of the definite-lived intangible asset base. The income
approach, which includes an analysis of cash flows and the risks associated with achieving such cash flows, was the
primary technique utilized in valuing the identifiable intangible assets. The $20.0 million of definite-lived intangible
assets acquired consists of the value assigned to UltraDNS�s direct customer relationships of $14.7 million, web
customer relationships of $0.3 million, acquired technology of $4.8 million, and trade names of $0.2 million. We are
amortizing the value of the UltraDNS direct and web customer relationships in proportion to the respective discounted
cash flows over an estimated useful life of 7 and 5 years, respectively. Both acquired technology and trade names are
being amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

Followap Inc.

On November 27, 2006, we acquired Followap Inc. for $139.0 million in cash and acquisition costs of $1.8 million
along with the assumption and payment of certain Followap debt and other liabilities of $5.6 million. The acquisition
further expanded our Internet protocol technologies, which is a key strategic initiative for us. The acquisition was
accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance with SFAS No. 141. Of the total cash consideration,
approximately $14.1 million was distributed to an escrow account for indemnification claims as set forth in the
acquisition agreement. All funds remaining in the account will be distributed to the former stockholders of Followap
in accordance with the acquisition agreement on the first anniversary of the acquisition.

Of the total estimated purchase price, a preliminary estimate of $3.9 million has been allocated to net tangible
liabilities assumed and $30.6 million has been allocated to definite-lived intangible assets acquired. We utilized a third
party valuation in determining the fair value of the definite-lived intangible asset base. The income approach, which
includes an analysis of cash flows and the risks associated with achieving such cash flows, was the primary technique
utilized in valuing the identifiable intangible assets. The $30.6 million of definite lived intangible assets acquired
consists of the value assigned to Followap�s customer relationships of $20.8 million and acquired technology of
$9.8 million. We are amortizing the value of the Followap customer relationships using an accelerated basis over five
years and the value of the acquired technology on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

Current Trends Affecting Our Results of Operations

We have experienced increased demand for our services and solutions, which has been driven by market trends such
as the implementation of new technologies, expansion of new applications and end-user services, industry
consolidation, increased demand for secure and scalable DNS systems, and increased use of U.S. Common Short
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Codes. At the same time, our growth will require continued investment by us to keep pace with the evolving needs of
the communications industry, and to ensure that we are able to deliver the quality of services that our customers
demand.

We expect continued growth in wireless subscribers and competition among mobile network operators, as well as
continued development of new wireless applications. As CSPs expand and upgrade their networks and technology to
enable the delivery of high-speed wireless services, we anticipate that they will increasingly rely
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on our services, and wireless-related transactions will remain a major contributor to our transaction volume growth.
Further, we believe that mobile network operators will continue to launch and support mobile IM, which will result in
increased demand for our solutions.

Advancements in the communications industry, such as changes from time division multiplexing, or TDM, to global
system for mobile, or GSM, and the proliferation of VoIP service providers and the pervasive industry change to
IP-based networks, have driven increased addressing and infrastructure transactions in our clearinghouse. We expect
that VoIP service providers will continue to require access to inventories of telephone number resources, which will
drive demand for our addressing services. Further, as the industry migrates towards next generation technologies and
applications, we anticipate that demand for our infrastructure services will increase.

As the communications industry has changed to meet consumer demands and new technological advancements,
consolidation among industry participants has increased. Consolidation requires the integration of disparate systems
and networks, which has driven increased demand for our addressing, interoperability and infrastructure services. We
anticipate that future consolidations will continue to drive growth in our transaction volumes.

Since becoming a public company in 2005, we have experienced, and will continue to experience, increases in certain
general and administrative expenses to comply with the laws and regulations applicable to public companies. These
laws and regulations include the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange. For example, we have incurred, and will continue to incur,
increases in such items as personnel costs, professional services fees, fees for independent directors and the cost of
directors and officers liability insurance. We believe that these costs will approximate $3.0 to $3.5 million annually.

In addition, as our scope of services and solutions expands, we must continue to invest in hiring and retaining
necessary personnel and building internal infrastructure to manage our anticipated growth, particularly with respect to
businesses that we have acquired and will acquire in the future. For example, we made, and anticipate making,
substantial investments in additions to our sales force, increased facilities and personnel in international markets, and
costs related to the marketing of our expanded services and solutions. This use of resources may affect our operating
margins.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2006

The following table presents an overview of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2006.

2005 2006 2005 vs. 2006

$ $
$

Change
%

Change
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue:
Addressing $ 75,036 $ 103,858 $ 28,822 38.4%
Interoperability 52,488 56,454 3,966 7.6%
Infrastructure and other 114,945 172,645 57,700 50.2%

Total revenue 242,469 332,957 90,488 37.3%
Operating expense:
Cost of revenue (excludes depreciation and
amortization shown separately below) 64,891 86,106 21,215 32.7%
Sales and marketing 29,543 47,671 18,128 61.4%
Research and development 11,883 17,639 5,756 48.4%
General and administrative 28,048 34,902 6,854 24.4%
Depreciation and amortization 16,025 24,016 7,991 49.9%
Restructuring recoveries (389) � 389 (100.0)%

150,001 210,334 60,333 40.2%

Income from operations 92,468 122,623 30,155 32.6%
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (2,121) (1,300) 821 (38.7)%
Interest income 2,406 4,024 1,618 67.2%

Income before minority interest and income taxes 92,753 125,347 32,594 35.1%
Minority interest (104) (95) 9 (8.7)%

Income before income taxes 92,649 125,252 32,603 35.2%
Provision for income taxes 37,251 51,353 14,102 37.9%

Net income 55,398 73,899 18,501 33.4%
Dividends on and accretion of preferred stock (4,313) � 4,313 (100.0)%

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 51,085 $ 73,899 $ 22,814 44.7%

Net income attributable to common stockholders per
common share:
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Basic $ 1.48 $ 1.02

Diluted $ 0.72 $ 0.94

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 34,437 72,364

Diluted 77,046 78,267
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Revenue

Total revenue.  Total revenue increased $90.5 million due to increases in addressing, interoperability and
infrastructure transactions.

Addressing.  Addressing revenue increased $28.8 million due primarily to the expanded range of DNS services
offered by NeuStar as a result of the acquisition of UltraDNS in April 2006, and the continued increase in the number
of subscribers for U.S. Common Short Codes. This increase in addressing revenue was also driven by the continued
implementation and expansion of carrier networks to facilitate new communications services, such as Internet
telephony. Specifically, revenue from DNS services increased $18.4 million, consisting of $15.4 million in revenue
from NeuStar Ultra Services and a $3.0 million increase in revenue from our other DNS services as a result of an
increased number of domain names under management. In addition, revenue from U.S. Common Short Codes
increased $8.3 million and national pooling revenue increased $1.7 million.

Interoperability.  Interoperability revenue increased $4.0 million due to an increase in wireline and wireless
competition and the associated movement of end users from one CSP to another, and carrier consolidation.
Specifically, revenue from number portability transactions increased $4.5 million, partially offset by a decrease of
$0.5 million in revenue principally due from our order management services.

Infrastructure and other.  Infrastructure and other revenue increased $57.7 million due to an increase in the demand
for our network management services. Of this amount, $55.4 million was attributable to customers making changes to
their networks that required actions such as disconnects and modifications to network elements. We believe these
changes were driven largely by trends in the industry, including the implementation of new technologies by our
customers, wireless technology upgrades, carrier vendor changes and network optimization. The remaining increase of
$2.3 million was principally due to other infrastructure services.

Expense

Cost of revenue.  Cost of revenue increased $21.2 million due to growth in personnel, contractor costs to support
higher transaction volumes and royalties related to our U.S. Common Short Code services. Of this amount,
personnel-related expense increased $6.8 million due to increased personnel to support our customer deployment
group, software engineering group and operations group. Included in personnel-related expense for the year ended
December 31, 2006 is $1.8 million in stock-based compensation expense; there was no stock-based compensation
expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2005. Contractor costs for software maintenance activities and
managing industry changes to our clearinghouse increased $5.4 million. Cost of revenue also increased by
$7.1 million principally due to royalty expenses related to U.S. Common Short Code services and revenue share cost
associated with our Internet domain names and registry gateway services. Additionally, general data center facility
costs increased $1.0 million to support higher transaction volumes and expanded service offerings.

Sales and marketing.  Sales and marketing expense increased $18.1 million due to additions to our sales and
marketing team to focus on branding, product launches, expanded DNS service offerings and new business
development opportunities, including international expansion. Of this amount, personnel and personnel-related
expense increased $16.0 million, and professional fees for product branding increased $0.9 million. Included in
personnel-related expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 is $3.9 million in stock-based compensation, as
compared to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Research and development.  Research and development expense increased $5.8 million due to the development of
Internet telephony solutions to enhance our service offerings. Of this increase, personnel and personnel-related costs
increased $4.5 million due to increased headcount. Included in personnel-related expense for the year ended
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December 31, 2006 is $1.2 million in stock-based compensation expense; there was no stock-based compensation
expense included in research and development expense for the year ended December 31, 2005. In addition, consulting
expenses increased $1.2 million due to expanded use of outside consultants to augment our internal research and
development resources.

General and administrative.  General and administrative expense increased $6.9 million primarily due to costs
incurred to support business growth and costs incurred to comply with our requirements as a public company,
including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Specifically, personnel and personnel-related costs increased
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$9.7 million to support business growth and compliance with our requirements as a public company. Included in this
personnel-related expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 is $4.9 million in stock-based compensation
expense, as compared to $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. In addition, professional fees increased
$0.7 million and general operational costs also increased $3.6 million, which included a $1.5 million increase in bad
debt expense related to our Ultra Services and order management services. These increases were partially offset by a
$5.8 million reduction of general and administrative expense related to costs and related expenses we incurred in
connection with our two public offerings in 2005 for which there was no comparable expense in 2006. These increases
were further offset by the reversal of a legal contingency accrual of $1.5 million in the second quarter of 2006 for
which there was no comparable reversal in 2005.

Depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization expense increased $8.0 million due primarily to an
increase of $5.0 million in the amortization of identified intangibles, which is primarily a result of our acquisition of
UltraDNS and Followap. Additionally, depreciation and amortization expense increased $2.8 million relating to
additional capital assets to support operations.

Restructuring recoveries.  In 2005, we recorded a net restructuring recovery of $0.4 million, which included a
restructuring recovery of $0.7 million after entering into a sub-lease for our leased property in Chicago with sub-lease
rates more favorable than originally assumed when the restructuring liability for the closure of excess facilities was
recorded in 2002. This was partially offset by a restructuring charge of $317,000 for the closure of our facility in
Oakland, CA, which was completed on October 31, 2005. There were no similar charges during the year ended
December 31, 2006.

Interest expense.  Interest expense decreased $0.8 million in 2006 as compared to 2005 due predominantly to a
decrease in the principal amount outstanding under notes payable and a decrease in the amount of assets subject to
existing capital leases.

Interest income.  Interest income increased $1.6 million due to higher average cash balances.

Provision for income taxes.  Income tax provision in 2006 increased $14.1 million as compared to 2005 due to an
increase in net income. Our annual effective statutory rate increased to 41.0% for the year ended December 31, 2006
from 40.2% for the year ended December 31, 2005.
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Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2005

The following table presents an overview of our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2005. The share and per share data in the following table reflect the 1.4-for-1 stock split effected as part of the
Recapitalization, but do not reflect the other aspects of the Recapitalization.

2004 2005 2004 vs. 2005

$ $
$

Change % Change
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue:
Addressing $ 50,792 $ 75,036 $ 24,244 47.7%
Interoperability 34,228 52,488 18,260 53.3%
Infrastructure and other 79,981 114,945 34,964 43.7%

Total revenue 165,001 242,469 77,468 47.0%
Operating expense:
Cost of revenue (excludes depreciation and
amortization shown separately below) 49,261 64,891 15,630 31.7%
Sales and marketing 22,743 29,543 6,800 29.9%
Research and development 7,377 11,883 4,506 61.1%
General and administrative 21,144 28,048 6,904 32.7%
Depreciation and amortization 17,285 16,025 (1,260) (7.3)%
Restructuring recoveries (220) (389) (169) 76.8%

117,590 150,001 32,411 27.6%

Income from operations 47,411 92,468 45,057 95.0%
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (2,498) (2,121) 377 (15.1)%
Interest income 1,629 2,406 777 47.7%

Income before minority interest and income taxes 46,542 92,753 46,211 99.3%
Minority interest � (104) (104) �

Income before minority interest 46,542 92,649 46,107 99.1%
Provision for income taxes 1,166 37,251 36,085 3094.8%

Net income 45,376 55,398 10,022 22.1%
Dividends on and accretion of preferred stock (9,737) (4,313) 5,424 (55.7)%

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 35,639 $ 51,085 $ 15,446 43.3%

Net income attributable to common stockholders per
common share:
Basic $ 6.33 $ 1.48
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Diluted $ 0.57 $ 0.72

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 5,632 34,437

Diluted 80,237 77,046

Revenue

Total revenue.  Total revenue increased $77.5 million due to increases in addressing, interoperability and
infrastructure transactions. Contributing to this increase was a contractual reduction in the total volume-based
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credits available to our customers under our contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, which
resulted in an $11.9 million reduction in revenue in 2004, compared to a $7.5 million reduction in 2005.

Addressing.  Addressing revenue increased $24.2 million due to the continued implementation of, and expansion of
carrier networks to facilitate, new communications services, such as Internet telephony, as well as growth in the use of
U.S. Common Short Codes and other wireless data services. Of this amount, revenue from pooling transactions
increased $17.3 million, primarily as service providers continued to build inventories of telephone numbers in
multiple area codes and rate centers to be able to offer them to Internet and wireless telephony users. In addition,
U.S. Common Short Codes revenue increased $5.5 million due to an increase in the number of subscribers for
U.S. Common Short Codes. Revenue from our domain name services increased $1.7 million due in large part to the
increased number of names under management, partially offset by a reduction of approximately $0.6 million in our
administration fees under our contract to serve as the North American Numbering Plan Administrator.

Interoperability.  Interoperability revenue increased $18.3 million due to an increase in wireline and wireless
competition and the associated movement of end users from one CSP to another, carrier consolidation, and broader
usage of our expanding service offerings such as enhanced order management services for wireless data and Internet
telephony providers. Specifically, revenue from number portability transactions increased $10.5 million, and revenue
from our order management services increased $7.1 million.

Infrastructure and other.  Infrastructure and other revenue increased $35.0 million due to an increase in the demand
for our network management services. Of this amount, $28.9 million was attributable to customers making changes to
their networks that required actions such as disconnects and modifications to network elements. We believe these
changes were driven largely by trends in the industry, including the implementation of new technologies by our
customers, wireless technology upgrades, carrier vendor changes and network optimization. Connection fees and other
revenue increased $5.2 million in 2005 due in part to revenue related to one-time functionality improvements that our
customers requested.

Expense

Cost of revenue.  Cost of revenue increased $15.6 million due to growth in personnel, contractor costs to support
higher transaction volumes and royalties related to our U.S. Common Short Code services. Of this amount, personnel
and personnel-related expense increased $8.6 million due to increased personnel to support our customer deployment
group, software engineering group and operations group. Contractor costs increased $4.1 million for software
maintenance activities and managing industry changes to our clearinghouse. Additionally, cost of revenue increased
by $4.1 million due to royalty expenses related to U.S. Common Short Code services and revenue share cost
associated with our Internet domain names and registry gateway services. These increases were partially offset by a
$1.2 million decrease in facilities expense, maintenance of hardware and software and other clearinghouse expenses.

Sales and marketing.  Sales and marketing expense increased $6.8 million due to additions to our sales and marketing
team to focus on branding, product launches and new business development opportunities, including international
expansion. Of this amount, personnel and personnel-related expense increased $6.2 million, and costs related to
industry events increased $0.3 million.

Research and development.  Research and development expense increased $4.5 million due to the development of
Internet telephony solutions to enhance our service offerings. Of this increase, personnel and personnel-related costs
increased $3.1 million due to increased headcount, and fees for consultants to augment our internal research and
development resources increased $0.9 million.
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General and administrative.  General and administrative expense increased $6.9 million primarily due to costs
incurred to support business growth and costs incurred in preparation for, and in conjunction with, becoming a public
company. We recorded $5.8 million of offering costs related to our public offerings in 2005 and other related expense,
which includes legal, accounting and consulting fees. In addition, personnel and personnel-related expense increased
$2.0 million, which was partially offset in part by a reduction of $0.7 million in general and administrative facility
costs.
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Depreciation and amortization.  Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $1.3 million due to the expiration
of certain capital leases.

Restructuring recoveries.  In 2005, we recorded a net restructuring recovery of $0.4 million, which included a
restructuring recovery of $0.7 million after entering into a sub-lease for our leased property in Chicago with sub-lease
rates more favorable than originally assumed when the restructuring liability for the closure of excess facilities was
recorded in 2002. This was partially offset by a restructuring charge of $317,000 for the closure of our facility in
Oakland, CA, which was completed on October 31, 2005.

Interest expense.  Interest expense decreased $0.4 million in 2005 as compared to 2004 due to decrease in the number
of capital leases.

Interest income.  Interest income increased $0.8 million due to higher average cash balances.

Provision for income taxes.  We recorded a provision for income taxes of $37.3 million in 2005 to reflect the expected
2005 effective tax rate, as compared to $1.2 million in 2004. As of June 30, 2004, we had generated operating profits
for six consecutive quarters. As a result of this earnings trend, we determined that it was more likely than not that we
would realize our deferred tax assets and reversed approximately $20.2 million of our deferred tax asset valuation
allowance. The reversal resulted in the recognition of an income tax benefit of $16.9 million, and a reduction of
goodwill of $3.3 million. The benefit was offset by current income tax expense of $7.6 million and deferred income
taxes of $10.7 million, resulting in a net income tax expense of $1.2 million for 2004. Our annual effective income tax
rate increased from 2.5% for the year ended December 31, 2004 to 40.2% for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, our principal source of liquidity has been cash provided by operations. In accordance with
SFAS No. 123(R), the benefits of tax deductions in excess of compensation cost recognized for the exercise of
common stock options (excess tax benefits) are classified as a financing cash inflow and a corresponding operating
cash outflow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). As a result,
currently our principal sources of liquidity are cash provided by operating activities and cash inflows relating to
excess tax benefits.

Our principal uses of cash have been to fund acquisitions, facility expansions, capital expenditures, working capital,
dividend payouts on preferred stock, and debt service requirements. We anticipate that our principal uses of cash in
the future will be acquisitions, working capital, facility expansion and capital expenditures.

Total cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments were $58.3 million at December 31, 2006, a decrease
from $103.5 million at December 31, 2005. This decrease was due primarily to cash expenditures of approximately
$206.8 million to fund the acquisitions of UltraDNS and Followap. This decrease was offset by cash provided by
operating activities and cash inflows relating to excess tax benefits.

As of December 31, 2006, we had $4.3 million available under the revolving loan commitment of our bank credit
facility, subject to the terms and conditions of that facility. On February 6, 2007, we entered into a credit agreement
with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer, J.P. Morgan
Securities, Inc., as Lead Arranger and as Book Manager, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC, as Syndication Agent,
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas and Sun Trust Bank, as Documentation Agents and the lenders under the
credit agreement. As of February 15, 2007, we had $100.0 million available under the revolving loan commitment of
this credit agreement.
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We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and cash from operations will be
sufficient to fund our operations for the next twelve months.
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Discussion of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operations

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $117.4 million, as compared to
$61.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This $56.2 million increase in net cash provided by operating
activities was principally the result of net changes in operating assets and liabilities of $81.4 million, including an
increase of $77.8 million in cash flows due to income tax receivables, and an $18.5 million increase in net income,
which was partially offset by a decrease of non-cash adjustments of $43.7 million, including a cash outflow increase
of $66.5 million relating to excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2006,
which is the required presentation under SFAS No. 123(R). In the corresponding period in 2005, we did not record
excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation as a cash outflow from operating activities.

Cash flows from investing

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $167.8 million, as compared to
$46.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This $121.3 million increase in net cash used in investing
activities was principally due to an increase of $208.5 million of cash paid for acquisitions, which was partially offset
by an increase of the sales of short-term investments totaling $88.0 million.

Cash flows from financing

Net cash provided by financing activities was $62.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to net
cash used in financing activities of $6.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. This $68.3 million increase in
net cash provided by financing activities was principally the result of $49.5 million of excess tax benefits from
stock-based compensation being recorded as an inflow to cash provided by financing activities during the year ended
December 31, 2006, as well as an increase of $14.0 million of proceeds from the exercise of common stock options. In
prior periods, excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation were recorded as cash flows provided by operating
activities, which was the presentation required prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). In addition, the overall
increase in net cash provided by financing activities resulted from a decrease in 2006 of $6.3 million for the payment
of preferred stock dividends in 2005 for which there was no corresponding payment in 2006 and a $3.9 million
decrease in repayments of notes payable and capital leases. These reductions in cash used in financing activities from
2005 as compared to 2006 were offset by a decrease of $4.9 million for cash collateralized letters of credit relating to
our December 2003 contract amendments with the North American Portability Management LLC.

Contractual Obligations

Our principal commitments consist of obligations under leases for office space, computer equipment and furniture and
fixtures. The following table summarizes our long-term contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006.

Payments Due by Period

Less Than 1-3 4-5
More
Than

Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
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Capital lease obligations $ 8,118 $ 4,367 $ 3,751 $ � $ �
Operating lease obligations 23,322 6,366 16,133 823 �
Long-term debt 942 768 174 � �

Total $ 32,382 $ 11,501 $ 20,058 $ 823 $ �

Debt and Credit Facilities

On February 6, 2007, we entered into a new credit agreement, which provides for a revolving credit facility in an
aggregate principal amount of up to $100.0 million. Borrowings under this revolving credit facility bear interest,
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at our option, at either a Eurodollar rate plus a spread ranging from 0.625% to 1.25%, or at a base rate plus a spread
ranging from 0.0% to 0.25%, with such spread in each case depending on the ratio of our consolidated senior funded
indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA. This new credit agreement expires on February 6, 2012. There were no
outstanding borrowings under this facility at February 15, 2007. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility may be
used for working capital, capital expenditures, general corporate purposes and to finance acquisitions as permitted by
the terms of this credit agreement.

The new credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, and
events of default. The new credit agreement requires us to maintain a minimum consolidated EBITDA to consolidated
interest charge ratio and a maximum consolidated senior funded indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA ratio. If an
event of default occurs and is continuing, we may be required to repay all amounts outstanding under the new credit
agreement. Lenders holding more than 50% of the loans and commitments under the new credit agreement may elect
to accelerate the maturity of amounts due thereunder upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an event of
default.

In addition, the new credit agreement contains terms that enable us to ensure compliance with neutrality obligations to
which it is subject, including neutrality-based restrictions on assignment and provisions that allow us to replace or
remove a lender or agent to preserve our ability to comply with our neutrality obligations.

Until February 6, 2007, we had a revolving credit facility, which provided us with up to $15 million in available
credit. The commitments under this credit agreement were terminated simultaneous with the closing of the new credit
agreement on February 6, 2007. This credit agreement provided for a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount
of up to $15 million and was secured by substantially all of our assets, subject to certain previously disclosed
limitations. Upon the execution of the new credit agreement on February 6, 2007, letters of credit with a face amount
of $9.6 million, issued under this credit agreement remained outstanding after the termination thereof and are
supported by cash collateral pledged by us. Borrowings under our former revolving credit facility could be either base
rate loans or Eurodollar rate loans. There were no outstanding borrowings under this facility at December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2006; however, total available borrowings were reduced by outstanding letters of credit of
$10.7 million and $9.6 million at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006, respectively, which reduced the amount
we could borrow under the revolving credit facility. Base rate loans bore interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal
to the higher of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% or the lender�s prime rate. Eurodollar rate loans bore interest at the
Eurodollar rate plus the applicable margin.

Under the terms of our previous revolving credit facility, we were required to comply with certain financial covenants,
such as maintaining minimum levels of consolidated net worth, quarterly consolidated EBITDA and liquid assets and
not exceeding certain levels of capital expenditures and leverage ratios. Additionally, there were negative covenants
that limited our ability to declare or pay dividends, acquire additional indebtedness, incur liens, dispose of significant
assets, make acquisitions or significantly change the nature of our business without the permission of the lender.
During 2004, 2005 and 2006, we were not in compliance with certain covenants and obtained waivers for such
defaults.

Effect of Inflation

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor and equipment. We do not believe that inflation had any
material effect on our results of operations during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
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In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of SFAS No. 109. This interpretation clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing that a
company should use a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the tax position
taken. Tax provisions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be measured as the largest
amount of tax benefits, determined on a cumulative probability basis, which is more likely than not to be realized
upon ultimate settlement in the financial statements. The interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting for interim periods, disclosure and transition, and explicitly excludes
income taxes from the scope of SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.
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FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. We are currently assessing the effect of FIN 48
on our consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No. 157
provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. It clarifies the principle that fair
value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability and
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. SFAS No. 157 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 157
on our consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2005 and 2006.

ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are subject to market risk associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Our
exchange rate risk related to foreign currency exchange for 2006 was principally due to our number portability
contract with Canadian LNP Consortium, Inc. Based on this agreement, we recognize revenue on a per transaction
basis as the services are performed and bill for these services using the Canadian dollar at a fixed exchange rate that is
updated annually. As a result, we are affected by currency fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar as compared to
the Canadian dollar. The net impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on earnings was not material for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2005 or 2006, respectively.

Interest rate exposure is primarily limited to the approximately $19.0 million of short-term investments owned by us
at December 31, 2006. Such investments consist principally of commercial paper, high-grade auction rate securities
and U.S. government or corporate debt securities. We do not actively manage the risk of interest rate fluctuations on
our short-term investments; however, such risk is mitigated by the relatively short-term nature of these investments.
For the year ended December 31, 2006, a one-percentage point adverse change in interest rates would have reduced
our interest income for the year ended December 31, 2006 by approximately $300,000. In addition, we do not
consider the present rate of inflation to have a material impact on our business.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
NeuStar, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NeuStar, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2006,
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders� (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in
the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company�s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of NeuStar, Inc. at December 31, 2005 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of NeuStar, Inc.�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on
criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, NeuStar, Inc. changed its
method of accounting for equity-based compensation.

/s/  Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2007
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NEUSTAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2005 2006

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,529 $ 39,242
Restricted cash 374 �
Short-term investments 75,946 19,010
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $494 and $1,103,
respectively 32,426 53,108
Unbilled receivables 6,394 810
Securitized notes receivable 1,074 �
Notes receivable � 1,994
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 8,054 6,945
Deferred costs 4,819 6,032
Income taxes receivable 14,595 893
Deferred tax asset 12,216 7,641

Total current assets 183,427 135,675
Property and equipment, net 39,627 42,678
Goodwill 51,495 205,855
Intangible assets, net 2,655 51,196
Notes receivable, long-term � 2,918
Deferred costs, long-term 5,454 4,411
Deferred tax asset, long-term � 4,500
Other assets 557 1,026

Total assets $ 283,215 $ 448,259

See accompanying notes.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2005 2006

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,119 $ 3,619
Accrued expenses 38,324 49,460
Deferred revenue 20,006 22,923
Notes payable 1,232 768
Capital lease obligations 5,540 4,367
Accrued restructuring reserve 536 368
Other liabilities � 200

Total current liabilities 69,757 81,705
Deferred revenue, long-term 18,463 17,921
Notes payable, long-term 1,019 174
Capital lease obligations, long-term 3,440 3,751
Accrued restructuring reserve, long-term 2,572 2,206
Other liabilities, long-term 500 1,356
Deferred tax liability 1,197 �

Total liabilities 96,948 107,113
Minority interest 104 �
Commitments and contingencies � �
Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; No shares issued or
outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 � �
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized;
68,150,690 shares issued or outstanding as of December 31, 2005; 74,351,200 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2006 68 74
Class B common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 199,152 and
18,330 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively � �
Additional paid-in capital 163,741 243,395
Deferred stock compensation (1,446) �
Treasury stock, 756 shares at cost at December 31, 2006 � (22)
Retained earnings 23,800 97,699

Total stockholders� equity 186,163 341,146

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 283,215 $ 448,259

See accompanying notes.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

Revenue:
Addressing $ 50,792 $ 75,036 $ 103,858
Interoperability 34,228 52,488 56,454
Infrastructure and other 79,981 114,945 172,645

Total revenue 165,001 242,469 332,957
Operating expense:
Cost of revenue (excluding depreciation and amortization shown
separately below) 49,261 64,891 86,106
Sales and marketing 22,743 29,543 47,671
Research and development 7,377 11,883 17,639
General and administrative 21,144 28,048 34,902
Depreciation and amortization 17,285 16,025 24,016
Restructuring recoveries (220) (389) �

117,590 150,001 210,334

Income from operations 47,411 92,468 122,623
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (2,498) (2,121) (1,300)
Interest income 1,629 2,406 4,024

Income before minority interest and income taxes 46,542 92,753 125,347
Minority interest � (104) (95)

Income before income taxes 46,542 92,649 125,252
Provision for income taxes 1,166 37,251 51,353

Net income 45,376 55,398 73,899
Dividends on and accretion of preferred stock (9,737) (4,313) �

Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 35,639 $ 51,085 $ 73,899

Net income attributable to common stockholders:
Basic $ 6.33 $ 1.48 $ 1.02

Diluted $ 0.57 $ 0.72 $ 0.94

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 5,632 34,437 72,364
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Diluted 80,237 77,046 78,267

See accompanying notes.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS� (DEFICIT) EQUITY
(In thousands)

(Accumulated Total
Class A Class B Additional Deferred Deficit) Stockholders�

Common Stock Common Stock Paid-In Stock Treasury Retained (Deficit)
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Compensation Stock Earnings Equity

Balance at
December 31, 2003 � $ � 5,549 $ 5 $ � $ (28) $ � $ (68,558) $ (68,581)
Common stock
options exercised � � 611 1 90 � � � 91
Deferred stock
compensation
expense associated
with issuance of
restricted stock � � � � 2,187 (2,187) � � �
Repurchase of
common stock � � � � � � (1,012) � (1,012)
Return of common
stock originally
issued for
acquisition of
NightFire Software,
Inc � � � � � � (113) � (113)
Compensation
expense associated
with options issued
to nonemployees � � � � 654 � � � 654
Compensation
expense associated
with repurchase of
immature shares � � � � 982 � � � 982
Accretion of
preferred stock and
related dividends � � � � (3,913) � � (5,824) (9,737)
Amortization of
deferred stock
compensation � � � � � 482 � � 482
Net income � � � � � � � 45,376 45,376

Balance at
December 31, 2004 � � 6,160 6 � (1,733) (1,125) (29,006) (31,858)
Common stock
options exercised � � 466 1 246 � � � 247

� � � � 2,214 � � � 2,214
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Compensation
expense associated
with options issued
to nonemployees
Shares issued for
acquisition of
fiducianet, Inc. � � 36 � 388 � � � 388
Retirement of
treasury stock � � (236) � (1,125) � 1,125 � �
Accretion of
preferred stock and
related dividends � � � � (1,721) � � (2,592) (4,313)
Issuance of Class B
common stock
pursuant to
conversion of
convertible
preferred stock � � 53,435 53 138,452 � � � 138,505
Conversion of
Class B common
stock to Class A
common stock 59,662 60 (59,662) (60) � � � � �
Deferred stock
compensation
expense associated
with issuance of
restricted stock 5 � � � 160 (160) � � �
Amortization of
deferred stock
compensation � � � � � 447 � � 447
Common stock
options exercised 2,122 2 � � 7,709 � � � 7,711
Warrants exercised 6,362 6 � � 418 � � � 424
Tax benefit from
stock option
exercises � � � � 17,000 � � � 17,000
Net income � � � � � � � 55,398 55,398

Balance at
December 31, 2005 68,151 68 199 � 163,741 (1,446) � 23,800 186,163
Deferred stock
compensation
reclassification � � � � (1,446) 1,446 � � �
Common stock
options exercised 5,919 6 19,693 � � � 19,699
Stock-based
compensation
expense � � � � 11,890 � � � 11,890
Conversion of
Class B common
stock to Class A

181 � (181) � � � � � �
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common stock
Restricted stock
issued, net of
forfeitures 100 � � � � � � � �
Repurchase of
common stock � � � � � � (22) � (22)
Tax benefit from
stock option
exercises � � � � 49,517 � � � 49,517
Net income � � � � � � � 73,899 73,899

Balance at
December 31, 2006 74,351 $ 74 18 $ � $ 243,395 $ � $ (22) $ 97,699 $ 341,146

See accompanying notes.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

Operating activities:
Net income $ 45,376 $ 55,398 $ 73,899
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization 17,285 16,025 24,016
Stock-based compensation 2,118 2,661 11,890
Amortization of deferred financing costs 150 57 5
Tax benefit from stock option exercises � 17,000 (49,517)
Deferred income taxes (6,419) (2,289) 1,448
Noncash restructuring recoveries (220) (389) �
Provision for doubtful accounts 960 551 2,041
Minority interest � 104 95
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (7,697) (5,254) (21,221)
Unbilled receivables 139 (5,414) 5,944
Notes receivable 4,938 4,290 (3,838)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,524) (1,570) 2,560
Deferred costs (869) (5,902) (170)
Income tax receivable � (14,595) 63,219
Other assets (102) 658 (411)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 11,119 7,840 6,263
Income taxes payable 44 (419) �
Accrued restructuring reserve (386) (1,551) (534)
Customer credits (5,459) (15,541) �
Deferred revenue 5,279 9,542 1,691

Net cash provided by operating activities 64,732 61,202 117,380
Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (13,271) (12,890) (13,658)
(Purchases) sales of investments, net (41,155) (31,036) 56,936
Businesses acquired, net of cash acquired � (2,540) (211,072)

Net cash used in investing activities (54,426) (46,466) (167,794)
Financing activities:
(Release) disbursement of restricted cash (5,112) 5,296 374
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable 2,166 � �
Principal repayments on notes payable (9,823) (5,406) (1,443)
Principal repayments on capital lease obligations (7,505) (5,939) (5,998)
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options 91 5,661 19,699
Proceeds from exercise of warrants � 424 �
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Payment of preferred stock dividends (30,324) (6,262) �
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation � � 49,517
Repurchase of common stock (1,012) � (22)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (51,519) (6,226) 62,127

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (41,213) 8,510 11,713
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 60,232 19,019 27,529

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 19,019 $ 27,529 $ 39,242

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 1,693 $ 1,377 $ 870

Cash paid for income taxes (net of refunds) $ 7,291 $ 37,583 $ (14,172)

See accompanying notes.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND ORGANIZATION

NeuStar, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated as a Delaware corporation in 1998. The Company provides the
communications industry with essential clearinghouse services. Its customers use the databases the Company
contractually maintains in its clearinghouse to obtain data required to successfully route telephone calls in North
America, to exchange information with other communications service providers and to manage technological changes
in their own networks. The Company operates the authoritative directories that manage virtually all telephone area
codes and numbers, and it enables the dynamic routing of calls among thousands of competing communications
service providers, or CSPs, in the United States and Canada. All CSPs that offer telecommunications services to the
public at large, or telecommunications service providers, must access the Company�s clearinghouse to properly route
virtually all of their customers� calls. The Company also provides clearinghouse services to emerging CSPs, including
Internet service providers, mobile network operators, cable television operators, and voice over Internet protocol, or
VoIP, service providers. In addition, the Company provides domain name services, including internal and external
managed DNS solutions that play a key role in directing and managing traffic on the Internet, and it also manages the
authoritative directories for the .us and .biz Internet domains. The Company operates the authoritative directory for
U.S. Common Short Codes, part of the short messaging service relied upon by the U.S. wireless industry, and
provides solutions used by mobile network operators throughout Europe to enable mobile instant messaging for their
end users.

The Company was founded to meet the technical and operational challenges of the communications industry when the
U.S. government mandated local number portability in 1996. While the Company remains the provider of the
authoritative solution that the communications industry relies upon to meet this mandate, the Company has developed
a broad range of innovative services to meet an expanded range of customer needs. The Company provides the
communications industry with critical technology services that solve the addressing, interoperability and infrastructure
needs of CSPs. These services are now used by CSPs to manage a range of their technical and operating requirements,
including:

� Addressing.  The Company enables CSPs to use critical, shared addressing resources, such as telephone
numbers, Internet top-level domain names, and U.S. Common Short Codes.

� Interoperability.  The Company enables CSPs to exchange and share critical operating data so that
communications originating on one provider�s network can be delivered and received on the network of another
CSP. The Company also facilitates order management and work flow processing among CSPs.

� Infrastructure and Other.  The Company enables CSPs to manage their networks more efficiently by centrally
managing certain critical data they use to route communications over their own networks.

On June 28, 2005, the Company effected a recapitalization, which involved (i) the payment of $6.3 million for all
accrued and unpaid dividends on all of the then-outstanding shares of preferred stock, followed by the conversion of
such shares into shares of common stock, (ii) the amendment of the Company�s certificate of incorporation to provide
for Class A common stock and Class B common stock, (iii) and the split of each share of common stock into
1.4 shares and the reclassification of the common stock into shares of Class B common stock (collectively, the
�Recapitalization�). Each share of Class B common stock is convertible at the option of the holder into one share of
Class A common stock.
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On June 28, 2005, the Company made an initial public offering of 31,625,000 shares of Class A common stock, which
included the underwriters� over-allotment option exercise of 4,125,000 shares of Class A common stock. All the shares
of Class A common stock sold in the initial public offering were sold by selling stockholders and, as such, the
Company did not receive any proceeds from that offering. Prior to the Company�s initial public offering, holders of
100,000 shares of Series B Voting Convertible Preferred Stock, 28,569,692 shares of Series C Voting Convertible
Preferred Stock, and 9,098,525 shares of Series D Voting Convertible Preferred Stock converted their shares into
500,000, 28,569,692, and 9,098,525 shares of the Company�s common stock, respectively, after which the split by
means of a reclassification, as described in clauses (ii) and (iii) of the previous paragraph, was effected.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)

The accompanying consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect to the amendment of the Company�s
certificate of incorporation to provide for Class A common stock and Class B common stock and the split of each
share of common stock into 1.4 shares and the reclassification of the common stock into shares of Class B common
stock, as though these events occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented.

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries. All
material intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation. The Company consolidates
investments where it has a controlling financial interest as defined by Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, as amended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 94,
Consolidation of all Majority-Owned Subsidiaries. The usual condition for controlling financial interest is ownership
of a majority of the voting interest and, therefore, as a general rule, ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than
50% of the outstanding voting shares is a condition indicating consolidation. Minority interest is recorded in the
statement of operations for the share of income or loss allocated to minority stockholders to the extent that the
minority stockholder�s investment in the subsidiary does not fall below zero. For investments in variable interest
entities, as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities, the Company would consolidate when it is determined to be the primary beneficiary of a variable
interest entity. For those investments in entities where the Company has significant influence over operations, but
where the Company neither has a controlling financial interest nor is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest
entity, the Company follows the equity method of accounting pursuant to Accounting Principles Board (APB)
Opinion No. 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. The Company does not have
any variable interest entities or investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expense during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior years� financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires disclosures of fair value information
about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the balance sheet, for which it is practicable to estimate that
value. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
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approximate the fair value for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses.
As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company believes the carrying value of its long-term notes receivable
approximates fair value as the interest rates approximate a market rate. The fair value of the Company�s long-term debt
is based upon quoted market prices for the same and similar issuances giving consideration to quality, interest rates,
maturity and other characteristics. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company believes the carrying amount of
its long-term debt approximates its fair value since the fixed and variable interest rates of the debt approximate a
market rate.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible into cash and have original
maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase, to be cash equivalents. Supplemental non-cash information
to the consolidated statements of cash flows is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

(In thousands)

Fixed assets acquired through capital leases $ 8,054 $ 3,470 $ 5,154
Fixed assets acquired through notes payable 1,359 1,002 �
Accounts payable incurred to purchase fixed assets 125 79 85
Business acquired with common shares (see Note 3) (113) 388 �
Dividends to preferred stockholders 2,095 � �

Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2005 and 2006, approximately $374,000 and $0, respectively, of cash was pledged as collateral on
outstanding letters of credit related to 2003 customer credits and lease obligations and was classified as restricted cash
on the consolidated balance sheets.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

The Company recognizes all derivative financial instruments in the consolidated financial statements at fair value
regardless of the purpose or intent for holding the instrument, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial
instruments are either recognized periodically in the results of operations or in stockholders� equity as a component of
other comprehensive income, depending on whether the derivative financial instrument qualifies for hedge accounting
and, if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or cash flow hedge. Generally, changes in the fair value of the
derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges are recorded in the results of operations along with the portions of the
changes in the fair values of the hedged items that relate to the hedged risks. Changes in fair value of derivatives
accounted for as cash flow hedges, to the extent they are effective as hedges, are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Changes in fair values of derivatives not qualifying as hedges are reported in the results of operations.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subject to a concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash, cash
equivalents, short-term investments and accounts receivable. The Company�s cash and short-term investment policies
are in place to restrict placement of these instruments with only financial institutions evaluated as highly creditworthy.
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With respect to accounts receivable, the Company performs ongoing evaluations of its customers, generally granting
uncollateralized credit terms to its customers, and maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical
experience and management�s expectations of future losses. Customers under the Company�s contracts with the North
American Portability Management LLC are charged a Revenue Recovery Collection fee (See Accounts Receivable,
Revenue Recovery Collection and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts).

Short-term Investments

Investments in debt and equity securities that have readily determinable fair values are accounted for as
available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value as determined by the most recently
traded price of each security at the balance sheet date, with the unrealized gains and losses recorded as a component
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NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)
of other comprehensive income. The specific-identification method is used to compute the realized gains and losses on
debt and equity securities. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, the carrying value of the investments approximated
their fair value. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006, these investments consisted principally of commercial paper,
high-grade auction rate securities and U.S. government or corporate debt securities.

Accounts Receivable, Revenue Recovery Collections and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. In accordance with the Company�s
contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, the Company bills a Revenue Recovery Collections
(RRC) fee to offset uncollectible receivables from any individual customer. The RRC fee is based on a percentage of
monthly billings. From January 1, 2003 through June 30, 2004, the RRC fee was 3%. On July 1, 2004, the RRC fee
was reduced to 2%. On July 1, 2005, the RRC fee was reduced to 1%. The RRC fees are recorded as an accrued
liability when collected. If the RRC fee is insufficient, the amounts can be recovered from the customers. Any accrued
RRC fees in excess of uncollectible receivables are paid back to the customers annually on a pro rata basis. RRC fees
of $2.5 million and $2.9 million are included in accrued expenses as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
All other receivables related to services not covered by the RRC fees are evaluated and, if deemed not collectible, are
reserved. The Company recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts of $494,000 and $1.1 million as of
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Bad debt expense amounted to $960,000, $551,000 and $2.0 million for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company amortizes deferred financing costs using the effective-interest method and records such amortization as
interest expense. Amortization of debt discount and annual commitment fees for unused portions of available
borrowings are also recorded as interest expense.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements and assets acquired through capital leases, are recorded at
cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment are
determined using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Computer hardware 3-5 years
Equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of related lease term or useful life

Amortization expense of capital leased assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated
statements of operations. Replacements and major improvements are capitalized; maintenance and repairs are charged
to expense as incurred.

The Company capitalizes software development and acquisition costs in accordance with Statement of Position (SOP)
No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.  SOP No. 98-1
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requires the capitalization of costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining software for internal use. Costs
incurred to develop the application are capitalized, while costs incurred for planning the project and for
post-implementation training and maintenance are expensed as incurred. The capitalized costs of purchased
technology and software development are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of
three to five years. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company capitalized costs related to
internal use software of $8.2 million and $7.9 million, respectively. Amortization expense related to internal use
software for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was $5.5 million, $3.7 million and $5.8 million,
respectively, and is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of costs over fair value of assets of businesses acquired. Goodwill and intangible
assets that are determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized, but instead tested for impairment
annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142).

The Company performs its annual impairment analysis on October 1 of each year or more often if indicators of
impairment arise. The impairment review may require an analysis of future projections and assumptions about the
Company�s operating performance. If such a review indicates that the assets are impaired, an expense would be
recorded for the amount of the impairment, and the corresponding impaired assets would be reduced in carrying value.
The Company performed its annual impairment test with regard to the carrying value of goodwill on October 1, 2005
and 2006 and determined that goodwill was not impaired at those dates. There were no impairment charges
recognized during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 or 2006.

Identifiable Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives using a method of amortization
that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed or otherwise used up and
are reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets (SFAS No. 144).

The Company�s identifiable intangible assets are amortized as follows:

Years Method
Acquired technologies 3 to 4 Straight-line
Customer lists and relationships 3 to 7 Various
Trade name 3 Various

Amortization expense related to intangible assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, a review of long-lived assets for impairment is performed when events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. If an indication of impairment is
present, the Company compares the estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be generated by the asset to its
carrying amount. If the undiscounted future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, the Company
records an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset�s carrying amount over its fair value. The fair value is
determined based on valuation techniques such as a comparison to fair values of similar assets or using a discounted
cash flow analysis. There were no impairment charges recognized during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 or
2006.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company provides the North American communications industry with essential clearinghouse services that
address the industry�s addressing, interoperability, and infrastructure needs. The Company�s revenue recognition
policies are in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition. The Company provides the following services pursuant to various private commercial and government
contracts.
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Addressing

The Company�s addressing services include telephone number administration, implementing the allocation of pooled
blocks of telephone numbers, directory services for Internet domain names and U.S. Common Short Codes, and
internal and external managed domain name services. The Company generates revenue from its telephone number
administration services under two government contracts. Under its contract to serve as the North American
Numbering Plan Administrator, the Company earns a fixed annual fee and recognizes this fee as revenue on a
straight-line basis as services are provided. In the event the Company estimates losses on its fixed fee contract, the
Company recognizes these losses in the period in which a loss becomes apparent. Under the Company�s contract to
serve as the National Pooling Administrator, the Company is reimbursed for costs incurred plus a fixed fee associated
with administration of the pooling system. The Company recognizes revenue for this contract based on costs incurred
plus a pro rata amount of the fixed-fee.

In addition to the administrative functions associated with its role as the National Pooling Administrator, the Company
also generates revenue from implementing the allocation of pooled blocks of telephone numbers under its long-term
contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, and the Company recognizes revenue on a
per-transaction fee basis as the services are performed. For its Internet domain name services, the Company generates
revenue for Internet domain registrations, which generally have contract terms between one and ten years. The
Company recognizes revenue on a straight-line basis over the lives of the related customer contracts.

Following the acquisition of UltraDNS Corporation in April 2006, the Company generates revenue through internal
and external managed domain name services. The Company�s revenue consists of customer set-up fees followed by
transaction processing under contracts with terms ranging from one to three years. Customer set-up fees are not
considered a separate deliverable and are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract.
Under the Company�s contracts to provide its managed domain name services, customers have contractually
established monthly transaction volumes for which they are charged a recurring monthly fee. Transactions processed
in excess of the pre-established monthly volume are billed at a contractual per-transaction rate. Each month the
Company recognizes the recurring monthly fee and usage in excess of the established monthly volume on a
per-transaction basis as services are provided. The Company generates revenue from its U.S. Common Short Code
services under short-term contracts ranging from three to twelve months, and the Company recognizes revenue on a
straight-line basis over the term of the customer contracts.

Interoperability

The Company�s interoperability services consist primarily of wireline and wireless number portability and order
management services. The Company generates revenue from number portability under its long-term contracts with
North American Portability Management LLC and Canadian LNP Consortium, Inc. The Company recognizes revenue
on a per-transaction fee basis as the services are performed. The Company provides order management services
(OMS), consisting of customer set-up and implementation followed by transaction processing, under contracts with
terms ranging from one to three years. Customer set-up and implementation are not considered separate deliverables;
accordingly, the fees are deferred and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract.
Per-transaction fees are recognized as the transactions are processed.

Infrastructure and Other
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The Company�s infrastructure services consist primarily of network management and connection services. The
Company generates revenue from network management services under its long-term contracts with North American
Portability Management LLC. The Company recognizes revenue on a per-transaction fee basis as the services are
performed. In addition, the Company generates revenue from connection fees and system enhancements under its
contracts with North American Portability Management LLC. The Company recognizes its connection fee revenue as
the service is performed. System enhancements are provided under
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contracts in which the Company is reimbursed for costs incurred plus a fixed fee, and revenue is recognized based on
costs incurred plus a pro rata amount of the fee.

Significant Contracts

The Company provides wireline and wireless number portability, implements the allocation of pooled blocks of
telephone numbers and provides network management services pursuant to seven contracts with North American
Portability Management LLC, an industry group that represents all telecommunications service providers in the
United States. The Company recognizes revenue under its contracts with North American Portability Management
LLC primarily on a per-transaction basis. The aggregate fees for transactions processed under these contracts are
determined by the total number of transactions, and these fees are billed to telecommunications service providers
based on their allocable share of the total transaction charges. This allocable share is based on each respective
telecommunications service provider�s share of the aggregate end-user services revenues of all
U.S. telecommunications service providers, as determined by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC). Under
the Company�s contracts, the Company also bills an RRC fee of a percentage of monthly billings to its customers,
which is available to the Company if any telecommunications service provider fails to pay its allocable share of total
transactions charges. The amount of revenue derived under the Company�s contracts with North American Portability
Management LLC was approximately $130.0 million, $188.8 million and $249.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

The per-transaction pricing under these contracts provided for annual volume-based credits that were earned on all
transactions in excess of the pre-determined annual volume threshold. For 2005 and 2006, the maximum aggregate
volume-based credit was $7.5 million, which was applied via a reduction in per-transaction pricing once the
pre-determined annual volume threshold was surpassed. When the aggregate credit was fully satisfied, the
per-transaction pricing was restored to the prevailing contractual rate. In both 2005 and 2006, the pre-determined
annual transaction volume threshold under these contracts was exceeded, which resulted in the issuance of
$7.5 million of volume-based credits for both years. In September 2006, the Company amended its contracts with
North American Portability Management LLC. Under these amended terms, there are no volume-based credits that
will be applied in 2007 or later fiscal periods.

Contrasted to the application of volume-based credits in 2005 and 2006, billings in 2004 continued at the original
contractual rate after the annual volume threshold was surpassed. Billings in excess of the discounted pricing were
recorded as customer credits (liabilities) on the consolidated balance sheet with a corresponding reduction to revenue.
In the following year when the credits were applied to invoices rendered, customer credits were reduced with a
corresponding credit to accounts receivable. The annual pre-determined volume threshold was surpassed in the fourth
quarter of 2004, resulting in the reduction of revenue and recognition of customer credits of $11.9 million in the
aggregate for 2004. Further, as part of the amendments to these contracts in December 2003, the Company agreed to
apply the then-current transaction fee retroactively to all 2003 transactions processed and granted credits totaling
$16.0 million. These credits were applied to customer invoices over a 23-month period beginning in January 2004.
Additionally, we obtained letters of credit totaling $16.0 million in January 2004 to secure a portion of these customer
credits. As of December 31, 2005, none of these customer credits were outstanding.

Service Level Standards
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Pursuant to certain of the Company�s private commercial contracts, the Company is subject to service level standards
and to corresponding penalties for failure to meet those standards. The Company records a provision for these
performance-related penalties when it becomes aware that required service levels that would trigger such a penalty
have not been met, which results in a corresponding reduction to revenue.
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Cost of Revenue and Deferred Costs

Cost of revenue includes all direct materials, direct labor, and those indirect costs related to generation of revenue
such as indirect labor, materials and supplies and facilities cost. The Company�s primary cost of revenue is related to
personnel costs associated with service implementation, product maintenance, customer deployment and customer
care, including salaries, stock-based compensation and other personnel-related expense. In addition, cost of revenue
includes costs relating to maintaining the Company�s existing technology and services, as well as royalties paid related
to the Company�s U.S. Common Short Code services. Cost of revenue also includes the Company�s information
technology and systems department, including network costs, data center maintenance, database management, data
processing costs, and facilities costs.

Deferred costs represent direct labor related to professional services incurred for the setup and implementation of
contracts. These costs are recognized in cost of revenue on a straight-line basis over the contract term Deferred costs
also include royalties paid related to the Company�s U.S. Common Short Code services, which are recognized in cost
of revenue on a straight-line basis over the contract term. Deferred costs are classified as such on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Research and Development

The Company expenses its research and development costs as incurred. Research and development expense consists
primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, stock-based compensation and other personnel-related expense;
consulting fees; and the costs of facilities, computer and support services used in service and technology development.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising as incurred. Advertising expense was approximately $447,000, $809,000 and
$1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which requires companies to expense
the estimated fair value of employee stock options and similar awards. This statement is a revision to SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (APB No. 25),
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based compensation plans under the recognition and
measurement provisions of APB No. 25, and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123. Effective
January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R), including the fair value recognition provisions, using the
modified-prospective transition method. Under the modified-prospective transition method, compensation cost
recognized in fiscal 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all stock-based awards granted prior to but not yet vested
as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS No. 123, and (b) compensation cost for all stock-based awards granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on
the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Under the modified
prospective transition method, prior periods are not restated. Both prior and subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No.
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123(R), the Company estimated the value of stock-based awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing models. For stock-based awards subject to graded vesting, the Company has utilized the �straight-line�
method for allocating compensation cost by period.

In accordance with FASB Staff Position No. FAS 123(R)-3, Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax Effects
of Share-Based Payment Awards, the Company elected to adopt the alternative method for calculating the tax effects
of stock-based compensation pursuant to SFAS No. 123(R), as provided in this FASB Staff Position. The
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alternative transition method includes a simplified method to establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in
capital pool (APIC pool) related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation, which is available to absorb
tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

Prior to adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company presented all benefits of tax deductions resulting from the
exercise of stock-based compensation as an operating cash flow in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
Beginning on January 1, 2006, the Company changed its cash flow presentation in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R),
which requires benefits of tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized (excess tax benefits) to be
classified as a financing cash inflow with a corresponding operating cash outflow. For the year ended December 31,
2006, the Company included $49.5 million of excess tax benefits as a financing cash inflow with a corresponding
operating cash outflow.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company recognized the full fair value of phantom stock units and
restricted stock awards upon issuance within stockholders� (deficit) equity. As of December 31, 2005, approximately
$1.4 million of deferred compensation costs had been recognized in additional paid-in capital, offset by an equal
amount recorded in deferred stock compensation. Pursuant to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006,
the Company reversed previously recorded deferred stock compensation costs and recognized stock-based awards
pertaining to phantom stock units and restricted stock awards in accordance with the related awards� vesting
provisions.

Basic and Diluted Net Income Attributable to Common Stockholders per Common Share

Basic net income attributable to common stockholders per common share excludes dilution for potential common
stock issuances and is computed by dividing net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income attributable to common stockholders per
common share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock
were exercised or converted into common stock.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes
(SFAS No. 109). Under SFAS No. 109, the liability method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rate and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one business segment; namely providing critical technology services to the
communications industry. The Company is not organized by market and is managed and operated as one business. A
single management team reports to the chief operating decision maker who comprehensively manages the business.
The Company does not operate any material separate lines of business or separate business entities with respect to its
services. Accordingly, the Company does not accumulate discrete financial information with respect to separate
service lines and does not have separately reportable segments as defined by SFAS No. 131, Disclosure About
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Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.

Substantially all of the Company�s material identifiable assets are located in the United States. Revenue derived from
customers outside the United States was $5.2 million, $7.0 million and $15.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.
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Comprehensive Income

There were no material differences between net income and comprehensive net income for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of SFAS No. 109. This interpretation clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing that a
company should use a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the tax position
taken. Tax provisions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be measured as the largest
amount of tax benefits, determined on a cumulative probability basis, which is more likely than not to be realized
upon ultimate settlement in the financial statements. The Interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting for interim periods, disclosure and transition, and explicitly excludes
income taxes from the scope of SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently assessing the effect of FIN 48 on its consolidated
financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No. 157
provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. It clarifies the principle that fair
value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability and
establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. SFAS No. 157 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
SFAS No. 157 on its consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

3.  ACQUISITIONS

fiducianet, Inc.

In February 2005, the Company acquired fiducianet, Inc. (Fiducianet) for $2.2 million in cash and the issuance of
35,745 shares of the Company�s common stock for total purchase consideration of $2.6 million. The acquisition of
Fiducianet enables the Company to serve as a single point of contact in managing all day-to-day customer obligations
involving subpoenas, court orders and law enforcement agency requests under electronic surveillance laws including
the Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement Act, the USA Patriot Act of 2001 and the Homeland Security
Act of 2002. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase, and the results of Fiducianet have been included in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations since the date of the acquisition.

The Company allocated the purchase price principally to customer lists ($2.6 million) and goodwill ($1.1 million)
based on their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. Customer lists are included in intangible assets and are
being amortized on a straight-line basis over five years. In accordance with SFAS No. 109, the Company recorded a
deferred tax liability of approximately $1.0 million with a corresponding increase to goodwill. Goodwill is not
deductible for tax purposes.
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Foretec Seminars Inc.

In December 2005, the Company acquired Foretec Seminars, Inc. (Foretec) a provider of secretariat services to the
Internet Engineering Task Force (IETF), from the Corporation for National Research Initiatives (CNRI) for $875,000
in cash, of which $500,000 is payable upon the achievement of certain milestones, as well as the payment of
approximately $213,000 in legal fees incurred by CNRI to establish a public trust to administer IETF-related
intellectual property. In accordance with FASB Statement No. 141, Business Combinations (SFAS No. 141), the
$500,000 payable upon the achievement of certain milestones has been included in the purchase consideration since
this amount was determinable as of the date of acquisition.
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The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase and accordingly, the results of Foretec have been included in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations since the date of the acquisition. The purchase price was
allocated to net liabilities assumed of approximately $53,000 and goodwill ($929,000) based on their estimated fair
values on the acquisition date. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.

NeuLevel, Inc.

In March 2006, the Company acquired 10% of NeuLevel, Inc. (NeuLevel), from Melbourne IT Limited for cash
consideration of $4.3 million, raising the Company�s ownership interest from 90% to 100%. The acquisition of the
remaining 10% of NeuLevel was accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance with
SFAS No. 141. The Company allocated the purchase price principally to customer relationships ($4.1 million) based
on their estimated fair values on the acquisition date. Customer relationships are included in intangible assets and are
being amortized on an accelerated basis over five years. In accordance with SFAS No. 109, the Company recorded a
deferred tax liability of approximately $1.6 million with a corresponding increase to goodwill. Goodwill is not
deductible for tax purposes.

UltraDNS Corporation

On April 21, 2006, the Company acquired UltraDNS Corporation (UltraDNS) for $61.8 million in cash and
acquisition costs of $0.8 million. The acquisition further expanded the Company�s domain name services and its
Internet protocol technologies. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance
with SFAS No. 141 and the results of operations of UltraDNS have been included in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations since the date of acquisition.

Of the total cash consideration, approximately $6.1 million was distributed to an escrow account, of which
$6.0 million may be used for indemnification claims as set forth in the acquisition agreement. The other $0.1 million
will be used for reimbursement of certain costs of the representative of the former stockholders of UltraDNS. All
funds remaining in the account will be distributed to the former UltraDNS stockholders in accordance with the
acquisition agreement on the first anniversary of the acquisition.
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Under the purchase method of accounting, the total purchase price as shown in the table below was allocated to
UltraDNS�s net tangible and identifiable intangible assets based on their estimated fair values as of April 21, 2006. The
excess purchase price over the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets was recorded as goodwill. The
preliminary purchase price was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Accounts receivable $ 1,221
Unbilled receivables 360
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 298
Property and equipment 1,020
Other assets 63
Deferred tax assets, net 8,505
Accounts payable (173)
Accrued expenses (1,175)
Deferred revenue (472)
Notes payable (134)
Other liabilities (14)

Net tangible assets acquired 9,499
Definite-lived intangible assets acquired 20,000
Goodwill 33,126

Total purchase price $ 62,625

Of the total purchase price, a preliminary estimate of $9.5 million has been allocated to net tangible assets acquired
and $20.0 million has been allocated to definite-lived intangible assets acquired. The Company utilized a third party
valuation specialist to assist management in determining the fair value of the definite-lived intangible asset base. The
income approach, which includes an analysis of cash flows and the risks associated with achieving such cash flows,
was the primary technique utilized in valuing the identifiable intangible assets. The $20.0 million of definite-lived
intangible assets acquired consists of the value assigned to UltraDNS�s direct customer relationships of $14.7 million,
web customer relationships of $0.3 million, acquired technology of $4.8 million, and trade names of $0.2 million. The
Company is amortizing the value of the UltraDNS direct and web customer relationships in proportion to the
respective discounted cash flows over an estimated useful life of 7 and 5 years, respectively. Both acquired technology
and trade names are being amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years.

As a result of the UltraDNS acquisition, the Company recorded net deferred tax assets of $8.5 million in purchase
accounting. This balance is comprised primarily of $16.5 million of deferred tax assets related to federal and state net
operating losses, capitalized research and development, and certain amortization and depreciation expenses. These
deferred tax assets were offset by $8.0 million in deferred tax liabilities resulting from the related intangibles
identified from the acquisition. Of the total purchase price, approximately $33.1 million has been allocated to
goodwill. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
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The Company has currently not identified any material pre-acquisition contingencies where a liability is probable and
the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. If information becomes available prior to the end of the
purchase price allocation period which would indicate that such a liability is probable and the amounts can be
reasonably estimated, such items will be included in the purchase price allocation.

Followap Inc.

On November 27, 2006, the Company acquired Followap Inc. (Followap) for $139.0 million in cash and acquisition
costs of $1.8 million along with the assumption and payment of certain Followap debt and other liabilities of
$5.6 million. Followap is a leading provider of next-generation communications solutions for network
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operators, delivering interoperability between operators and Internet portals in five different functional areas, which
are instant messaging, presence, multimedia gateways, inter-carrier messaging hubs, and services for handset clients.
The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase business combination in accordance with SFAS No. 141 and the
results of operations of Followap have been included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations since
the date of acquisition.

Of the total cash consideration, approximately $14.1 million was distributed to an escrow account, of which
$13.8 million will be used for indemnification claims as set forth in the acquisition agreement. The other $0.3 million
will be used for the reimbursement of certain costs and expenses of the representative for the former stockholders of
Followap. All funds remaining in the account will be distributed to former Followap stockholders in accordance with
the agreement and plan of merger on the first anniversary of the acquisition.

Under the purchase method of accounting, the total purchase price is allocated to Followap�s net tangible liabilities
assumed and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values as of November 27, 2006, the effective
date of the acquisition. The excess purchase price over the net tangible liabilities and identifiable intangible assets was
recorded as goodwill. The preliminary purchase price is allocated as follows (in thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,218
Accounts receivable 1,161
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 283
Property and equipment 1,094
Other assets 870
Accounts payable (707)
Accrued expenses (3,223)
Deferred revenue (212)
Other liabilities (1,019)
Deferred tax liabilities, net (4,366)

Net tangible liabilities assumed (3,901)
Definite-lived intangible assets acquired 30,600
Goodwill 119,665

Total purchase price $ 146,364

Of the total estimated purchase price, a preliminary estimate of $3.9 million has been allocated to net tangible
liabilities assumed and $30.6 million has been allocated to definite-lived intangible assets acquired. The Company
utilized a third party valuation specialist in determining the fair value of the definite-lived intangible asset base. The
income approach, which includes an analysis of cash flows and the risks associated with achieving such cash flows,
was the primary technique utilized in valuing the identifiable intangible assets. The $30.6 million of definite lived
intangible assets acquired consists of the value assigned to Followap�s customer relationships of $20.8 million and
acquired technology of $9.8 million. The Company is amortizing the value of the Followap customer relationships
using an accelerated basis over five years and the value of the acquired technology on a straight-line basis over
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3 years.

As a result of the Followap acquisition, the Company recorded net deferred tax liabilities of $4.4 million in purchase
accounting. This balance is comprised of $7.8 million of deferred tax assets primarily related to federal and state net
operating losses. These deferred tax assets were offset by $12.2 million in deferred tax liabilities resulting from the
related intangibles identified from the acquisition. Of the total purchase price, approximately $119.7 million has been
allocated to goodwill. Goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes.
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The Company has currently not identified any material pre-acquisition contingencies where a liability is probable and
the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. If information becomes available prior to the end of the
purchase price allocation period which would indicate that such a liability is probable and the amounts can be
reasonably estimated, such items will be included in the purchase price allocation.

Pro Forma Financial Information for acquisitions of UltraDNS and Followap

The unaudited financial information in the table below summarizes the combined results of operations of the
Company, UltraDNS and Followap on a pro forma basis, as though the companies had been combined as of the
beginning of each of the periods presented. The pro forma financial information is presented for information purposes
only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the acquisition had taken place
at the beginning of each of the periods presented. The pro forma financial information for all periods presented also
includes amortization expense from acquired intangible assets, adjustments to interest income and related tax effects.

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006
(In thousands, except

per share data)
(Unaudited)

Total revenue $ 267,387 $ 344,236
Net income $ 43,703 $ 57,201
Net income attributable to common stockholders per common share:
Basic $ 1.14 $ 0.79
Diluted $ 0.57 $ 0.73

4.  SECURITIZED NOTES RECEIVABLE

The Company has notes receivables for functionality upgrades on behalf of its customers under its Statement of Work
(SOW) contracts with North American Portability Management LLC. At the option of these customers, payment of
these securitized notes receivable is made over 36 months from completion of the contract. The obligations, which are
unsecured, accrue interest monthly on the unpaid balance. The interest charges range from 7.3% to 9.6% per annum.
Payments are received from each customer for its pro-rata share of the obligation under the SOW contracts.

5.  DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS

During 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company did not pay any loan origination fees. Total amortization expense was
approximately $150,000, $57,000 and $7,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively,
and is reported as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2005 and 2006,
the balance of unamortized deferred financing fees was $7,000 and $0, respectively, and is included within other
noncurrent assets.
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6.  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006

Computer hardware $ 32,608 $ 36,178
Equipment 969 1,572
Furniture and fixtures 2,537 1,379
Leasehold improvements 14,781 15,240
Construction in-progress 1,927 1,252
Capitalized software 33,091 39,319

85,913 94,940
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (46,286) (52,262)

Property and equipment, net $ 39,627 $ 42,678

The Company entered into capital lease obligations of $3.5 million and $5.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2006, respectively, primarily for computer hardware.

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2005 and 2006 was $16.0 million, $14.8 million and $17.8 million, respectively.

7.  GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006

Goodwill $ 51,495 $ 205,855
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Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

Weighted-
Average

Amortization
December 31, Period

2005 2006 (in years)

Intangible assets:
Customer lists and relationships $ 3,566 $ 43,467 5.6
Accumulated amortization (1,441) (5,817)

Customer lists and relationships, net 2,125 37,650

Acquired technology 2,208 16,808 3.1
Accumulated amortization (1,678) (3,416)

Acquired technology, net 530 13,392

Trade name � 200 3.0
Accumulated amortization � (46)

Trade name, net � 154

Intangible assets, net $ 2,655 $ 51,196

Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 of
approximately $1.3 million, $1.2 million and $6.2 million, respectively, is included in depreciation and amortization
expense. Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010
and 2011 is expected to be approximately $14.7 million, $13.0 million, $10.9 million, $6.5 million and $5.0 million,
respectively.

8.  ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006

Accrued compensation $ 23,254 $ 29,720
RRC reserve 2,501 2,908
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Other 12,569 16,832

$ 38,324 $ 49,460
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9.  NOTES PAYABLE

Notes payable consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006

Promissory note payable to vendor; principal and interest payable quarterly at 1.73% per
annum with a maturity date of April 1, 2006; secured by the equipment financed $ 155 $ �
Promissory note payable to vendor; principal and interest payable quarterly at 2.88% per
annum with a maturity date of April 1, 2006; secured by the equipment financed 10 �
Promissory note payable to vendor; principal and interest payable quarterly at 3.87% per
annum with a maturity date of April 1, 2006; secured by the equipment financed 30 �
Promissory note payable to vendor; principal and interest payable quarterly at 2.08% per
annum with a maturity date of April 1, 2007; secured by the equipment financed 810 164
Promissory note payable to vendor; principal and interest payable quarterly at 0.0% per
annum with a maturity date of March 1, 2008; secured by the equipment financed 1,246 693
Promissory note payable to vendor; principal and interest payable quarterly at 6.31% per
annum with a maturity date of April 1, 2008; secured by the equipment financed � 85

2,251 942
Less: current portion (1,232) (768)

Notes payable, long-term $ 1,019 $ 174

As of December 31, 2006, remaining principal payments under promissory notes payable are as follows (in
thousands):

2007 $ 768
2008 174

Total $ 942

Revolving Credit Facility

In August 2002, the Company entered into a Revolving Credit Facility (Revolving Credit Facility), which provides the
Company with up to $15 million in available credit. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility may be either
Base Rate loans or Eurodollar rate loans. Base Rate loans bear interest at a fluctuating rate per annum equal to the
higher of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% or the lender�s prime rate. Eurodollar rate loans bear interest at the
Eurodollar rate plus the applicable margin. There were no outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility
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at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006; however, total available borrowings were reduced by outstanding
letters of credit of $10.7 million and $9.6 million at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006, respectively (see
Note 10), which reduce the amount the Company may borrow under the Revolving Credit Facility. Accordingly, as of
December 31, 2005 and 2006, the available capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $4.3 million and
$5.4 million, respectively.

The Company�s obligations under the Revolving Credit Facility are secured by substantially all of the Company�s
assets. Under the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company must comply with certain
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financial covenants such as maintaining minimum levels of consolidated net worth, quarterly consolidated EBITDA,
and liquid assets and not exceeding certain levels of capital expenditures and leverage ratios. Additionally, there are
negative covenants that limit the Company�s ability to declare or pay dividends, acquire additional indebtedness, incur
liens, dispose of significant assets, make acquisitions or significantly change the nature of the business without
permission of the lender. During 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company was not in compliance with certain covenants
and obtained waivers for such defaults. On February 6, 2007, the Company terminated the Revolving Credit Facility
(See Note 19).

Receivables Facilities

In October 2003, the Company established a Receivables Facility with a bank (2003 Receivables Facility), pursuant to
which it borrowed $10.1 million, secured by, and payable from the proceeds of, its securitized notes receivable (see
Note 4). An independent third party administered the collection of the securitized notes receivable. As the securitized
notes receivable were collected, the third party paid the bank directly for all secured amounts on a monthly basis,
thereby reducing the amounts outstanding under the facility. Minimum payments of $1 million had been due every six
months since January 2004, and all amounts outstanding were due February 1, 2007. The Company guaranteed a
portion of the 2003 Receivables Facility (less than 10% of the outstanding principal balance) but was otherwise not
liable for the collection of amounts owed under the secured securitized notes receivable. The 2003 Receivables
Facility bore interest at the reserve adjusted one month LIBOR rate plus 2%. As of December 31, 2006, the rate was
7.33%. As of January 1, 2006, all outstanding obligations under the 2003 Receivables Facility had been performed,
and the 2003 Receivables Facility expired in accordance with its terms.

10.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital Leases

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments due under capital lease obligations (in thousands):

2007 $ 4,752
2008 2,312
2009 1,854
2010 445

Total minimum lease payments 9,363
Less: amounts representing interest (1,245)

Present value of minimum lease payments 8,118
Less: current portion (4,367)

Capital lease obligation, long-term $ 3,751

The following assets were capitalized under capital leases at the end of each period presented (in thousands):
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December 31,
2005 2006

Equipment and hardware $ 18,392 $ 18,166
Furniture and fixtures 1,918 334

20,310 18,500
Less: accumulated amortization (10,838) (10,376)

$ 9,472 $ 8,124
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Operating Leases

The Company leases office space under noncancelable operating lease agreements. The leases terminate at various
dates through 2010 and generally provide for scheduled rent increases. Future minimum lease payments under
noncancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2006, are as follows (in thousands):

Operating

2007 $ 6,366
2008 6,247
2009 6,059
2010 3,827
2011 823

$ 23,322

Rent expense was $3.0 million, $3.6 million and $4.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively.

Contingencies

Currently, and from time to time, the Company is involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of its business. The
Company is not a party to any lawsuit or proceeding that, in the opinion of management, is reasonably possible to
have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

11.  RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

Workforce Reduction

The restructuring program during 2005 resulted in workforce reductions of approximately 20 employees which were
located in the Company�s Oakland, California office. The Company recorded workforce reduction charges of $317,000
during the year ended December 31, 2005, primarily for severance and fringe benefits.

Closure of Excess Facilities

During 2004, the Company recorded a change in estimate of approximately $220,000 to reduce a previously
established restructuring liability in connection with the cancellation of a lease for property abandoned in 2002. This
change in estimate was as a result of changes in the Company�s assumptions regarding the time period over which this
property would remain vacant. During 2005, the Company recorded a change in estimate of approximately $706,000
to reduce the restructuring liability due to a change in the Company�s assumptions regarding the sub-lease rate for this
property.
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At December 31, 2005 and 2006, the accrued liability associated with the restructuring and other related charges was
$3.1 million and $2.6 million, respectively. Amounts related to the lease termination due to the closure of excess
facilities will be paid over the respective lease terms, the longest of which extends through 2011. The Company paid
approximately $900,000, $1.9 million and $534,000, in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively, related to restructuring charges.
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12.  INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following components (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

Current:
Federal $ 5,609 $ 32,381 $ 50,054
State 1,976 5,905 9,129

Total current 7,585 38,286 59,183
Deferred:
Federal (5,429) (876) (6,585)
State (990) (159) (1,245)

Total deferred (6,419) (1,035) (7,830)

Total provision for income taxes $ 1,166 $ 37,251 $ 51,353

A reconciliation of the statutory United States income tax rate to the effective income tax rate follows:

Year ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

Tax at statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State taxes 5.1 4.1 4.0
AMT Credit/Tax (1.0) 1.6 0.0
Other 0.1 (0.5) 2.0
Change in valuation allowance (36.7) 0.0 0.0

Effective tax rate 2.5% 40.2% 41.0%

As of June 30, 2004, the Company had generated operating profits for six consecutive quarters and had fully utilized
its federal net operating loss carryforwards. As a result of this earnings trend and projected operating results over
future years, the Company reversed approximately $20.2 million of its deferred tax asset valuation allowance, having
determined that it was more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized. This reversal resulted in the
recognition of an income tax benefit of $16.9 million and a reduction of goodwill of $3.3 million. Of the total income
tax benefit recognized, approximately $14.5 million relates to a federal deferred tax benefit with the remainder
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representing the state deferred tax benefit.

The Company realized certain tax benefits related to nonqualified and incentive stock option exercises in the amounts
of $0, $17.0 million and $49.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006.

72

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

140



NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of
the Company�s net deferred income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006

Deferred tax assets:
Domestic NOL carryforwards $ 111 $ 21,105
Foreign NOL carryforwards � 1,011
Restructuring accrual 1,209 1,002
Deferred revenue 6,328 7,887
Accrued compensation 7,535 1,330
Start-up costs 689 �
Stock-based compensation expense 1,119 3,589
Other reserves 1,281 90
Other 777 1,840

Total deferred tax assets 19,049 37,854
Valuation allowance for foreign NOL carryforwards � (1,011)

Total deferred tax assets, net � 36,843

Deferred tax liabilities:
Unbilled receivables (3,162) (315)
Depreciation and amortization (2,575) (1,634)
Identifiable intangibles (816) (20,000)
Deferred expenses (1,462) (2,693)
Other (15) (60)

Total deferred tax liabilities (8,030) (24,702)

Net deferred tax assets $ 11,019 $ 12,141

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had U.S. net operating loss carryforwards for federal tax purposes of
approximately $54.8 million. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $4.4 million. The Company�s U.S. net operating loss carryforwards expire, if unused, in various years
from 2021 to 2026. The Company�s foreign net operating loss carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely under
current local tax laws.

13.  CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
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Prior to the Company�s initial public offering on June 28, 2005 (See Note 1), holders of 100,000 shares of Series B
Voting Convertible Preferred Stock, 28,569,692 shares of Series C Voting Convertible Preferred Stock, and
9,098,525 shares of Series D Voting Convertible Preferred Stock converted their shares into 500,000, 28,569,692, and
9,098,525 shares of the Company�s common stock, respectively, after which each share of common stock was split by
means of a reclassification into 1.4 shares of Class B common stock and subsequently converted, at the election of the
holder, into Class A common stock.
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Series B Preferred Stock

The holders of the Series B were entitled to receive preferential cumulative dividends in cash at the rate per share of
6% of stated value ($0.651) or $0.04 per annum, compounded quarterly. Dividends were declared and paid on the
Series B. Each share of Series B was convertible into seven shares of common stock, subject to anti-dilution
adjustments, and was entitled to that number of votes. Conversion into common stock was automatic in the event of an
underwritten public offering (or a combination of offerings) of common stock with gross proceeds to the Company of
not less than $50 million (Qualified IPO). In the event of liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the
holders of the Series B would have received, on par with the holders of the Series C, a liquidation preference of
$0.651 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends per share. Dividends on the Series B were approximately
$4,800 and $2,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004, and 2005, respectively. Accrued and unpaid dividends on
Series B were $1,000 at December 31, 2004. All accrued and unpaid dividends were fully paid in cash on June 28,
2005 in connection with the Company�s initial public offering.

The Series B had a deemed liquidation provision included among the rights given to its holders whereby, upon the
sale of the Company or substantially all the Company�s assets, the holders of the Series B were entitled to elect to
receive a cash payment equal to the liquidation preference or the amount of consideration that would have been
payable had the Series B converted to common stock.

Series C Preferred Stock

The holders of the Series C were entitled to receive cumulative dividends in cash at the rate per share of 6% of stated
value ($2.956) or $0.18 per annum, compounded quarterly. Dividends were declared and paid on the Series C in
preference in respect to other series of stock determined as subordinate. The Series C were convertible to common
shares on a 1.4-for-1 basis, subject to anti-dilution adjustments. Upon a Qualified IPO, the Series C would have
automatically converted to common stock at the applicable conversion price. Each share of Series C was entitled to
the same number of votes as the shares of common stock into which it was convertible. The Company also had the
right to redeem, in whole or in part, the Series C outstanding at the Series C redemption price of $2.956 per share, plus
an amount equal to any and all dividends accrued and unpaid, with consent of the holders of a majority of the
Series C. In the event of liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series C would
have received, on par with the holders of the Series B, a liquidation preference of $2.956 per share plus any accrued
and unpaid dividends per share. Dividends on the Series C were approximately $5.8 million and $2.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Accrued and unpaid dividends on the Series C were
approximately $1.3 million at December 31, 2004. All accrued and unpaid dividends were fully paid in cash on
June 28, 2005 in connection with the Company�s initial public offering.

The Series C had a deemed liquidation provision included among the rights given to its holders whereby, upon the
sale of the Company or substantially all the Company�s assets, the holders of the Series C were entitled to elect to
receive a cash payment equal to the liquidation preference or the amount of consideration that would have been
payable had the Series C converted to common stock.

Series D Preferred Stock
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Holders of the Series D were entitled to receive cumulative dividends in cash at the rate per share of 6% of stated
value ($5.935) or $0.36 per annum, compounded quarterly. Dividends were declared and paid on the Series D. Upon a
Qualified IPO, the Series D would have automatically converted to common stock at the conversion price applicable
at that time. Each share of Series D was entitled to that number of votes as the shares of common stock into which it
was convertible.

During the period commencing on August 5, 2006 and ending September 5, 2006, the holders of a majority of the
then-outstanding shares of Series D could have required the Company to engage an independent investment banker to
seek a third-party purchaser for then-outstanding Series D at not less than the applicable liquidation
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amount or some or all of the Company�s assets or to sell additional securities to fund the redemption of the Series D,
such that the holders of such shares would have received the applicable liquidation amount. If the shares of Series D
had not been purchased or redeemed by the Company prior to June 5, 2007, the Company would have been required
to redeem such shares on that date. If a majority of the holders of Series D did not elect to have their shares redeemed,
a certain holder of Series D had a one-month period ending in October 2006 to have required the Company to redeem
their shares on June 5, 2009. If the board of directors had determined that funds would not be reasonably available to
satisfy the redemption obligation, the Company would not have been required to do so, provided that it increased the
dividend rate on shares held by a certain holder of Series D by 0.5% per annum, up to a maximum dividend rate of
15% per annum. Series D was redeemable in amounts equal to the original investment plus accrued and unpaid
dividends. The redemption amount of the Series D, $54.0 million plus accrued and unpaid dividends, was accreted to
its redemption rate.

In the event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series D were entitled to a
liquidation preference over holders of all other series of preferred and common stock. The holders of the Series B and
C were pari passu and had preference over the common stockholders. Dividends on and accretion of the Series D were
approximately $3.7 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively. Accrued
and unpaid dividends on the Series D were $817,000, $0 and $0 at December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
All accrued and unpaid dividends were fully paid in cash on June 28, 2005 in connection with the Company�s initial
public offering.

14.  STOCKHOLDERS� (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share, in one or
more series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each series, and to fix the rights,
preferences, privileges, qualifications, limitations and restrictions of the shares of each wholly unissued series.

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 200,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, $0.001 par value per share
and 100,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, $0.001 par value per share. Each holder of Class A and Class B
common stock is entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders. Subject to preferences that may apply to shares of preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of
Class A and Class B common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of assets legally available at the times and in
the amounts as the Company�s board of directors may from time to time determine.

On June 28, 2005, the Company made an initial public offering of 31,625,000 shares of Class A common stock, which
included the underwriters� over-allotment option exercise of 4,125,000 shares of Class A common stock. All the shares
of Class A common stock sold in the IPO were sold by selling stockholders and, as such, the Company did not receive
any proceeds from the offering. In connection with this transaction, the Company incurred offering costs and other
IPO-related expenses of approximately $4.9 million.
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On December 6, 2005, the Company completed an additional offering (December 2005 offering) of 20,000,000 shares
of Class A common stock. All the shares of Class A common stock sold in the December 2005 offering were sold by
selling stockholders and, as such, the Company did not receive any proceeds from that offering. In connection with
this transaction, the Company incurred offering costs of approximately $900,000.
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Warrants

In prior years, the Company issued warrants to purchase 6,361,383 shares of common stock at $0.0667 per share in
connection with certain debt financings. On December 12, 2005, the Company issued 6,361,383 shares of Class A
common stock upon the exercise these warrants in exchange for cash proceeds of approximately $424,000.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has two stock incentive plans, the NeuStar, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the 1999 Plan) and the
NeuStar, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2005 Plan). Under the 1999 Plan, the Company had the ability to grant to
its directors, employees and consultants stock or stock-based awards in the form of incentive stock options,
nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance share units, shares of restricted common stock,
phantom stock units and other stock-based awards. In May 2005, the Company�s board of directors adopted the 2005
Plan, which was approved by the Company�s stockholders in June 2005. In connection with the adoption of the 2005
Plan, the Company�s board of directors amended the 1999 Plan to provide that no further awards would be granted
under the 1999 Plan as of the date stockholder approval for the 2005 Plan was obtained. All shares available for grant
as of that date, plus any other shares under the 1999 Plan that again become available due to forfeiture, expiration,
settlement in cash or other termination of awards without issuance, will be available for grant under the 2005 Plan.
Under the 2005 Plan, the Company may grant to its directors, employees and consultants awards in the form of
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of restricted stock, restricted
stock units, performance awards and other stock-based awards. The aggregate number of shares of Class A common
stock with respect to which all awards may be granted under the 2005 Plan is 6,044,715, plus any shares available for
issuance under the 1999 Plan. As of December 31, 2006, 4,682,399 shares were available for grant or award under the
2005 Plan.

The term of any stock option granted under the 1999 Plan or the 2005 Plan may not exceed ten years. The exercise
price per share for options granted under these Plans is not less than 100% of the fair market value of the common
stock on the option grant date. The board of directors or Compensation Committee of the board of directors
determines the vesting of the options, with a maximum vesting period of ten years. Options issued generally vest with
respect to 25% of the shares on the first anniversary of the grant date and 2.083% of the shares on the last day of each
succeeding calendar month thereafter. The options expire seven to ten years from the date of issuance and are
forfeitable upon termination of an option holder�s service.

The board of directors or Compensation Committee of the board of directors has granted and may in the future grant
restricted stock to directors, employees and consultants. The board of directors or Compensation Committee of the
board of directors determines the vesting of the restricted stock, with a maximum vesting period of ten years.
Restricted stock issued generally vests in equal annual installments over a four-year term.

Stock-based compensation expense recognized under SFAS No. 123(R) for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
$11.9 million. As of December 31, 2006, total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock
options, non-vested restricted stock and non-vested phantom stock units granted prior to that date is estimated at
$30.5 million, which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of approximately 2.1 years.
Total unrecognized compensation expense as of December 31, 2006 is estimated based on outstanding non-vested
stock options, restricted stock and phantom stock units, and may be increased or decreased in future periods for
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subsequent grants or forfeitures.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income attributable to common stockholders and net income
attributable to common stockholders per common share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to stock-based employee compensation for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2005. The pro forma disclosure for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 utilized the Black-Scholes option-
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NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)
pricing model to estimate the value of the respective options with such value amortized to compensation expense over
the options� vesting periods.

Year Ended
December 31,

2004 2005
(In thousands, except

per share data)

Pro forma basic net income attributable to common stockholders:
Basic net income attributable to common stockholders, as reported $ 35,639 $ 51,085
Add: stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income attributable to
common stockholders 2,065 1,607
Deduct: total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value-based
method for all awards (6,707) (6,282)

Pro forma basic net income attributable to common stockholders $ 30,997 $ 46,410

Pro forma diluted net income attributable to common stockholders:
Basic net income attributable to common stockholders, as reported $ 35,639 $ 51,085
Dividends on and accretion of convertible preferred stock 9,737 4,313

Diluted net income attributable to common stockholders 45,376 55,398
Add: stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income attributable to
common stockholders 2,065 1,607
Deduct: total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value-based
method for all awards (6,707) (6,282)

Pro forma diluted net income attributable to common stockholders $ 40,734 $ 50,723

Net income attributable to common stockholders per common share:
Basic � as reported $ 6.33 $ 1.48

Basic � pro forma $ 5.50 $ 1.35

Diluted � as reported $ 0.57 $ 0.72

Diluted � pro forma $ 0.51 $ 0.66

The above pro forma disclosures are provided for 2004 and 2005 because, in contrast to the presentation for the year
ended December 31, 2006, stock-based compensation expense was not recognized using the fair-value method under
SFAS No. 123(R) during the periods presented. Pro forma disclosure has not been presented for the year ended
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December 31, 2006 because stock-based compensation expense has been recognized by the Company in accordance
with the fair-value method set forth in SFAS No. 123(R) for such period.

The Company has utilized the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for estimating the fair value of stock options
granted during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, as well as for option grants during all prior periods. The
weighted-average fair value of options at the date of grant for options granted during the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2005 was $3.92 and $11.19, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)

As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, the Company�s income before income taxes and net
income for the year ended December 31, 2006 were approximately $10.4 million and $7.6 million less, respectively,
than if the Company had continued to account for stock-based compensation under APB No. 25. Basic and diluted net
income per common share for the year ended December 31, 2006 were each approximately $0.10 less than if the
Company had not adopted SFAS No. 123(R). Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company continued to
utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model for estimating the fair value of stock options granted during the year
ended December 31, 2006. The weighted-average fair value of options at the date of grant for options granted during
the year ended December 31, 2006 was $12.24. The following are the weighted-average assumptions used in valuing
the stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2006, and a discussion of the Company�s assumptions.

Dividend yield 0.00%
Expected volatility 38.56%
Risk-free interest rate 4.68%
Expected life of options (in years) 4.56

Dividend yield � The Company has never declared or paid dividends on its common stock and does not anticipate
paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

Expected volatility � Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a financial variable such as a share price has
fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expected to fluctuate (expected volatility) during a period. Given the Company�s
limited historical stock data from its initial public offering in June 2005, the Company has used a blended volatility to
estimate expected volatility. The blended volatility includes the average of the Company�s preceding weekly historical
volatility from its initial public offering to the respective grant date, the Company�s preceding six-months market
implied volatility and an average of the Company�s peer group preceding weekly historical volatility consistent with
the expected life of the option. Market implied volatility is the volatility implied by the trading prices of publicly
available stock options for the Company�s common stock. The Company�s peer group historical volatility includes the
historical volatility of companies that are similar in revenue size, in the same industry or are competitors.

Risk-free interest rate � This is the average U.S. Treasury rate (with a term that most closely resembles the expected life
of the option) for the quarter in which the option was granted.

Expected life of the options � This is the period of time that the options granted are expected to remain outstanding.
This estimate is derived from the average midpoint between the weighted average vesting period and the contractual
term as described in the SEC�s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment.
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NEUSTAR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the Company�s stock option activity:

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Shares Price

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 12,716,593 $ 2.37
Options granted 2,983,173 6.69
Options exercised (611,118) 0.15
Options forfeited (713,006) 3.91

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 14,375,642 3.29
Options granted 1,149,844 20.33
Options exercised (2,588,631) 3.07
Options forfeited (315,302) 6.10

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 12,621,553 4.81
Options granted 1,547,200 31.10
Options exercised (5,919,098) 3.33
Options forfeited (332,927) 10.26

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 7,916,728 10.83

Exercisable at December 31, 2006 4,382,608 3.86

Exercisable at December 31, 2005 8,692,844 2.41

Exercisable at December 31, 2004 8,561,121 1.46

The following table summarizes information regarding options outstanding at December 31, 2006:

Weighted-
Options Outstanding Average Options Exercisable
Number Weighted- Remaining Number Weighted-

of Average Contractual of Average
Options Exercise Life Options Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Price (In Years) Exercisable Price
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$ 0.00 - $ 3.20 2,313,264 $ 0.28 3.52 2,313,264 $ 0.28
$ 3.21 - $ 6.24 888,018 4.44 6.07 729,109 4.41
$ 6.25 - $ 6.41 858,898 6.25 7.48 328,233 6.25
$ 6.42 - $ 8.38 1,213,799 6.43 6.97 637,050 6.43
$ 8.39 - $10.86 452,132 9.25 7.97 164,932 9.94
$10.87 - $22.00 462,717 22.00 8.49 129,002 22.00
$22.01 - $30.20 1,146,200 30.04 6.32 44,560 28.60
$30.21 - $34.84 581,700 32.94 6.99 36,458 31.95

7,916,728 10.83 5.97 4,382,608 3.86

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 was
$3.5 million, $59.0 million and $161.4 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value for all options outstanding
under the Company�s stock plans as of December 31, 2006 was $171.6 million. The aggregate
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS � (Continued)
intrinsic value for options exercisable under the Company�s stock plans as of December 31, 2006 was $125.2 million.

In June 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with an employee which gave the employee the right to put
210,000 shares of common stock to be received upon the exercise of vested stock options back to the Company at
$4.82 per share. In July 2004, the employee exercised vested stock options for 210,000 shares of common stock and
put the shares back to the Company in August 2004. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of
$982,000 on the date the put right was granted in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 44, Accounting for
Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an Interpretation of ABP 25. The shares repurchased were held
in treasury as of December 31, 2004 and were retired in May 2005.

In February 2005, the Company granted fully vested options to nonemployees for the purchase of 22,400 shares of
common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $10.86 per share. The Company recognized compensation
expense of approximately $180,000. The fair value of these awards was calculated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: expected life of the award
equal to the remaining contractual life; volatility 63.11%; risk-free interest rate, 3.38%; and dividend yield of 0.00%
during the option term.

In March 2005, an employee of the Company changed status to a consultant and, in accordance with the terms of that
employee�s original option agreement, continued to vest in 26,250 options as of March 29, 2005. As a result, the
Company re-measured the fair value of the vested options and recognized compensation expense of approximately
$331,000. The fair value of this award was calculated on the modification date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions: expected life of the award equal to the remaining contractual
life; volatility 63.11%; risk-free interest rate, 3.43%; and dividend yield of 0.00% during the option term.

In March 2005, the Company accelerated the vesting of certain options issued to nonemployees. This acceleration
enabled the optionholders to vest immediately in approximately 102,000 options, which otherwise would have vested
over the options� original vesting period, generally 48 months. In connection with this acceleration, the Company
recorded approximately $1.6 million as compensation expense based on the fair value of the options on the date of
acceleration. The fair value of these awards was remeasured on the acceleration date using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: expected life of the award equal to the
remaining contractual life; volatility 63.11%; risk-free interest rate, 3.72%; and dividend yield of 0.00% during the
option term. As of March 31, 2005, all options granted to nonemployees had vested. Prior to this acceleration, the
Company recognized compensation expense of approximately $249,000 and $644,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2004.

Phantom Stock Units

In July 2004, the board of directors granted 350,000 phantom stock units to one of the Company�s executive officers.
Under the terms of the phantom stock agreement, these phantom stock units will vest in full on December 18, 2008.
Upon vesting, this executive officer will be entitled to receive one share of the Company�s Class A common stock for
each phantom stock unit. The vesting of these phantom stock units may accelerate if the Company experiences a
change of control and certain other conditions are met. The aggregate intrinsic value for these phantom stock units as
of December 31, 2006 was $11.4 million. If the executive officer�s employment with us is terminated because of death
or disability at any time, or if the executive officer�s employment is terminated by us without cause or by the executive
officer for good reason after December 18, 2005, the phantom stock unit will vest on a pro-rata basis, based on the
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date that the executive officer�s employment is terminated.
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Restricted Stock

The following table summarizes the Company�s non-vested restricted stock activity:

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Shares Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 � $ �
Restricted stock granted 5,000 31.95
Restricted stock vested � �
Restricted stock forfeited � �

Outstanding at December 31, 2005 5,000 31.95
Restricted stock granted 102,490 31.37
Restricted stock vested (2,367) 31.43
Restricted stock forfeited (1,900) 30.57

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 103,223 31.41

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised for the year ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $70,000.
The aggregate intrinsic value for all restricted stock outstanding under the Company�s stock plans as of December 31,
2006 was $3.3 million.

Restricted Stock Units

In July 2006, the Compensation Committee of the board of directors issued 27,170 restricted stock units to the
Company�s non-management directors. The aggregate intrinsic value of the restricted stock units granted totaled
$880,000. For those directors who were elected at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, as well as incumbent
directors whose terms did not expire in 2006, these restricted stock units were granted on July 1, 2006. For those
directors appointed by the Company�s board of directors on July 26, 2006, the date of grant was July 27, 2006. These
restricted stock units will fully vest on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Upon vesting, each director�s restricted
stock units will be automatically converted into deferred stock units, which will be delivered to the director in shares
of the Company�s stock six months following the director�s termination of Board service. Upon the resignation of one
of the Company�s directors on July 26, 2006, 3,259 restricted stock units were forfeited. The aggregate intrinsic value
for these restricted stock units as of December 31, 2006 was approximately $776,000.
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15.  BASIC AND DILUTED NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS PER
COMMON SHARE

The following table provides a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in computing basic and diluted
net income attributable to common stockholders per common share (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

Basic net income attributable to common stockholders per common share:
Net income $ 45,376 $ 55,398 $ 73,899
Dividends on and accretion of convertible preferred stock (9,737) (4,313) �

Basic net income attributable to common stockholders $ 35,639 $ 51,085 $ 73,899

Basic net income attributable to common stockholders per common share $ 6.33 $ 1.48 $ 1.02

Diluted net income attributable to common stockholders per common
share:
Basic net income attributable to common stockholders $ 35,639 $ 51,085 $ 73,899
Dividends on and accretion of convertible preferred stock 9,737 4,313 �

Diluted net income attributable to common stockholders $ 45,376 $ 55,398 $ 73,899

Diluted net income attributable to common stockholders per common share $ 0.57 $ 0.72 $ 0.94

Weighted average common shares outstanding � basic 5,632 34,437 72,364
Dilutive effect of:
Stock options for the purchase of common stock 7,515 10,163 5,903
Conversion of preferred stock and accrued dividends payable into common
stock 60,801 26,453 �
Warrants for the purchase of common stock 6,289 5,993 �

Weighted average common shares outstanding � diluted 80,237 77,046 78,267

16.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a 401(k) Profit-Sharing Plan for the benefit of all employees who meet certain eligibility
requirements. This plan covers substantially all of the Company�s full-time employees. The plan documents provide
for the Company to make matching and other discretionary contributions, as determined by the board of directors. The
Company recognized contribution expense totaling $1.5 million, $2.0 million and $2.4 million for the years ended
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December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

17.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company received professional services from a
company owned by a family member of the Chairman and CEO of the Company. The services were related to tenant
improvements in the Company�s leased office spaces. The amounts paid to the related party during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 were approximately $117,000, $99,000 and $292,000, respectively. As of
December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company owed $0 and $58,000 for outstanding payables to this party.
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The Company has an agreement with Melbourne IT Limited (MIT), a former holder of a 10% interest in NeuLevel,
whereby MIT serves as a registrar for domain names within the .biz top-level domain. During the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company recorded approximately $512,000, $684,000 and $837,000,
respectively, in revenue from MIT related to domain name registration services and other nonrecurring revenue from
IP claim notification services and pre-registration services.

18.  QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sep. 30, Dec. 31,
2005 2005 2005 2005

(In thousands, except per share data)

Summary consolidated statement of operations:
Total revenue $ 57,792 $ 62,296 $ 58,960(1) $ 63,421(1)
Income from operations 24,475 23,016 21,692 23,285
Net income 14,631 13,883 13,057 13,827
Net income attributable to common stockholders 12,488 11,713 13,057 13,827
Net income attributable to common stockholders per
common share � basic $ 2.08 $ 1.45 $ 0.22 $ 0.22
Net income attributable to common stockholders per
common share � diluted $ 0.19 $ 0.18 $ 0.17 $ 0.18

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, Jun. 30, Sep. 30, Dec. 31,
2006 2006 2006 2006

(In thousands, except per share data)

Summary consolidated statement of operations:
Total revenue $ 76,163 $ 82,263(1) $ 82,509(1) $ 92,022
Income from operations 30,275 32,728 27,930 31,690
Net income 18,285 19,952 17,104 18,558
Net income attributable to common stockholders
Net income attributable to common stockholders per
common share � basic $ 0.26 $ 0.28 $ 0.23 $ 0.25
Net income attributable to common stockholders per
common share � diluted $ 0.24 $ 0.26 $ 0.22 $ 0.24

(1) Revenue for the quarters ended September 30, 2005, December 31, 2005, June 30, 2006 and September 30,
2006 reflects contractual pricing discounts based on pre-established annual aggregate transaction volume targets

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

159



under the Company�s contracts with North American Portability Management LLC, which had an impact of
$5.0 million, $2.5 million, $2.1 million and $5.4 million, respectively.

19.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 8, 2007, the Company acquired certain assets of I-View.com, Inc. (d/b/a MetaInfo) for cash consideration
of $1.7 million. The acquisition of MetaInfo expands the Company�s enterprise domain name systems (DNS) services.
The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase. The Company is currently in the process of completing its
preliminary purchase price allocation.

On February 6, 2007, the Company entered into a new credit agreement, which provides for a revolving credit facility
in an aggregate principal amount of up to $100 million. Borrowings under this revolving credit facility bear interest, at
the Company�s option, at either a Eurodollar rate plus a spread ranging from 0.625% to 1.25%, or at a
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base rate plus a spread ranging from 0.0% to 0.25%, with such spread in each case depending on the ratio of the
Company�s consolidated senior funded indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA. This new credit agreement expires on
February 6, 2012. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility may be used for working capital, capital
expenditures, general corporate purposes and to finance acquisitions as permitted by the terms of this credit
agreement.

The new credit agreement contains customary representations and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, and
events of default. The new credit agreement requires the Company to maintain a minimum consolidated EBITDA to
consolidated interest charge ratio and a maximum consolidated senior funded indebtedness to consolidated EBITDA
ratio. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the Company may be required to repay all amounts outstanding
under the new credit agreement. Lenders holding more than 50% of the loans and commitments under the new credit
agreement may elect to accelerate the maturity of amounts due thereunder upon the occurrence and during the
continuation of an event of default.

Until February 6, 2007, the Company had a revolving credit facility, which provided it with up to $15 million in
available credit. The commitments under this credit agreement were terminated simultaneous with the closing of the
new credit agreement on February 6, 2007 (See Note 10).
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ITEM 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Attached as exhibits to this Form 10-K are certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
which are required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. This
�Controls and Procedures� section includes information concerning the controls and controls evaluation referred to in
the certifications. The report of Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, regarding
management�s assessment of internal control over financial reporting, and its audit of our internal control over
financial reporting is set forth below in this section. This section should be read in conjunction with the certifications
and the Ernst & Young report for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our �disclosure controls and procedures�
as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K. The controls evaluation was conducted under the supervision
and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.
Disclosure controls are controls and procedures designed to reasonably assure that information required to be
disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, such as this Form 10-K, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC�s rules and forms. Disclosure
controls are also designed to reasonably assure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation of disclosure controls includes an evaluation of some
components of our internal control over financial reporting, and internal control over financial reporting is also
separately evaluated on an annual basis for purposes of providing the management report which is set forth below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls included a review of the controls� objectives and design, our implementation
of the controls and their effect on the information generated for use in this Form 10-K. In the course of the controls
evaluation, we reviewed identified data errors, control problems or indications of potential fraud and, where
appropriate, sought to confirm that appropriate corrective actions, including process improvements, were being
undertaken. This type of evaluation is performed on a quarterly basis so that the conclusions of management,
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concerning the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls can be reported in our periodic reports on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the components of our
disclosure controls are also evaluated on an ongoing basis by our finance organization. The overall goals of these
various evaluation activities are to monitor our disclosure controls, and to modify them as necessary. Our intent is to
maintain the disclosure controls as dynamic systems that change as conditions warrant.

Based upon the controls evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as
of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K, our disclosure controls were effective to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Securities Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC, and that material information related to
NeuStar and its consolidated subsidiaries is made known to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, particularly during the period when our periodic reports are being prepared. We reviewed the
results of management�s evaluation with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

162



Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of our financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
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company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding authorization to effect the acquisition, use or disposition of company assets, as well as the
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company�s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Management assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, the end of our fiscal year.
Management based its assessment on criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management�s assessment included evaluation
of such elements as the design and operating effectiveness of key financial reporting controls, process documentation,
accounting policies and our overall control environment. This assessment is supported by testing and monitoring
performed by our finance organization.

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of the end of the fiscal year to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, audited management�s assessment and
independently assessed the effectiveness of the company�s internal control over financial reporting. Ernst & Young has
issued an attestation report, which is included at the end of this section.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that
the control system�s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Other inherent limitations include
the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more
people, or by management override of the controls. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future
periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or
deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

On a quarterly basis we evaluate any changes to our internal control over financial reporting to determine if material
changes occurred. There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the quarterly period
ended December 31, 2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Board of Directors and Stockholders
NeuStar, Inc.

We have audited management�s assessment, included in the accompanying Management�s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, that NeuStar, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). NeuStar, Inc.�s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management�s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management�s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management�s assessment that NeuStar, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our
opinion, NeuStar, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of NeuStar, Inc. as of December 31, 2005 and 2006, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, shareholders� (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006 and our report dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/  Ernst & Young LLP
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McLean, Virginia
February 28, 2007
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ITEM 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information about our directors and executive officers and our corporate governance is incorporated by reference to
our definitive proxy statement for our 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or our 2007 Proxy Statement, which is
anticipated to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of December 31, 2006, under
the headings �Board of Directors,� �Executive Officers and Management� and �Governance of the Company.� Information
about compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference to our 2007 Proxy Statement
under the heading �Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.� Information about our Audit
Committee, including the members of the Audit Committee, and Audit Committee financial experts, is incorporated
by reference to our 2007 Proxy Statement under the heading �Governance of the Company.� Information about the
NeuStar policies on business conduct governing our employees, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer and our controller, is incorporated by reference to our 2007 Proxy Statement under the heading
�Governance of the Company.�

ITEM 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information about director and executive officer compensation is incorporated by reference to our 2007 Proxy
Statement, under the headings �Governance of the Company.�

ITEM 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by Item 12 of this report is incorporated by reference to our 2007 Proxy Statement, under the
headings �Beneficial Ownership of Shares of Common Stock� and �Equity Compensation Plan Information.�

ITEM 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of this report is incorporated by reference to our 2007 Proxy Statement, under
the heading �Governance of the Company.�

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information about the fees for professional services rendered by our independent auditors in 2005 and 2006 is
incorporated by reference to the discussion under the heading �Audit and Non-Audit Fees� in our 2007 Proxy Statement.
Our audit committee�s policy on pre-approval of audit and permissible non-audit services of our independent auditors
is incorporated by reference from the discussion under the heading �Governance of the Company.�

88

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

167



PART IV

ITEM 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1)

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 48
Consolidated Financial Statements covered by the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 49
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 51
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders� (Deficit) Equity for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and
2006 52
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 53
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 54

(2)

Schedule for the three years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006:
II � Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 91

(a) (3) and (b) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K:

89

Edgar Filing: NEUSTAR INC - Form 10-K

168



NEUSTAR, INC.

SCHEDULE II � VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

As of December 31,
2004 2005 2006

(In thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Beginning Balance $ 84 $ 468 $ 494
Additions 960 551 2,041
Reductions(1) (576) (525) (1,432)

Ending Balance $ 468 $ 494 $ 1,103

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance
Beginning Balance $ 20,209 $ � $ �
Additions � � 1,011
Reductions (20,209) � �

Ending Balance $ � $ � $ 1,011

(1) Includes the reinstatement and subsequent collections of accounts receivable that were previously written-off.
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Exhibits identified in parentheses below are on file with the SEC and are incorporated herein by reference. All other
exhibits are provided as part of this electronic submission.

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

(2.1) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 19, 2006, by and among NeuStar, Inc., UDNS
Merger Sub, Inc., UltraDNS Corporation, and Ron Lachman as the Holder Representative,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
April 25, 2006.

(2.2) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 27, 2006, by and among NeuStar, Inc.,
Followap Inc., B&T Merger Sub, Inc. and Carmel V.C. Ltd. And Sequoia Seed Capital II L.P.
(Israel), as Holder Representatives, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed November 27, 2006.

(3.1) Restated Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Amendment No. 7 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed June 28, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws.

(10.1) Contractor services agreement entered into the 7th day of November 1997 by and between
NeuStar, Inc. and North American Portability Management LLC, as amended, incorporated
herein by reference to (a)Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 15,
2005; (b) Exhibit 10.1.1. to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29, 2006;
(c) Exhibit 10.1.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14, 2006;
(d) Exhibit 10.1.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14, 2006**;
(e) Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed September 22, 2006; and
(f) Exhibit 10.1.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14, 2006.

10.1.1 Amendments to the contractor services agreement by and between NeuStar, Inc. and North
American Portability Management LLC, as amended.

(10.2) Contractor services agreement, restated as of June 1, 2003, by and between Canadian LNP
Consortium Inc. and NeuStar, Inc., as amended, incorporated herein by reference to
(a) Exhibit 10.2 to Amendment No. 6 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed June 28,
2005 (File No. 333-123635); (b) Exhibit 10.2.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
August 15, 2005; (c) Exhibit 10.2.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29, 2006;
(d) Exhibit 10.2.2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 29, 2006; and
(e) Exhibit 10.2.3. to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14, 2006.**
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10.2.1 Amendment, entered into as of December 20, 2006, to the contractor services agreement
between Canadian LNP Consortium Inc. and NeuStar, Inc.**

10.2.2 Amendment, entered into as of December 20, 2006, to the contractor services agreement
between Canadian LNP Consortium Inc. and NeuStar, Inc.**

10.2.3 Amendment, entered into as of February 1, 2007, to the contractor services agreement between
Canadian LNP Consortium Inc. and NeuStar, Inc.**

(10.3) National Thousands-Block Pooling Administration agreement awarded to NeuStar, Inc. by the
Federal Communications Commission, effective June 14, 2001, incorporated herein by reference
to (a) Exhibit 10.3 to Amendment No. 6 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed
June 28, 2005 (File No. 333-123635); (b) Exhibit 10.3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
filed August 15, 2005; (c) Exhibit 10.3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
September 15, 2005; (d) Exhibit 10.3.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
November 14, 2005; (e) Exhibit 10.3.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14,
2006; and (f) Exhibit 10.3.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14, 2006.

10.3.1 Amendments to the National Thousands-Block Pooling Administration agreement awarded to
NeuStar, Inc. by the Federal Communications Commission.
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Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

(10.4) North American Numbering Plan Administrator agreement awarded to NeuStar, Inc. by the
Federal Communications Commission, effective July 9, 2003, incorporated herein by reference
to (a) Exhibit 10.4 to Amendment No. 7 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed
June 28, 2005 (File No. 333-123635); (b) Exhibit 10.4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed September 15, 2005; (c) Exhibit 10.4.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed
March 29, 2006; (d) Exhibit 10.4.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 14,
2006; and (e) Exhibit 10.4.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14, 2006.

10.4.1 Amendments to the North American Numbering Plan Administrator agreement awarded to
NeuStar, Inc. by the Federal Communications Commission.

(10.5) .us Top-Level Domain Registry Management and Coordination agreement awarded to NeuStar,
Inc. by the National Institute of Standards and Technology on behalf of the Department of
Commerce on October 26, 2001, incorporated herein by reference to (a) Exhibit 10.5 to
Amendment No. 7 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed June 28, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635); (b) Exhibit 10.5.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14,
2005; (c) Exhibit 10.5.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14, 2005; and
(d) Exhibit 10.5.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14, 2006.

10.5.1 Amendment to .us Top-Level Domain Registry Management and Coordination agreement
awarded to NeuStar, Inc. by the National Institute of Standards and Technology on behalf of the
Department of Commerce on October 26, 2001.

10.6 Registry Agreement by and between the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers
and NeuStar, Inc., dated as of December 18, 2006.

(10.7) Common Short Code License Agreement made and entered into October 17, 2003, by and
between the Cellular Telecommunications and Internet Association and NeuStar, Inc.,
incorporated herein by reference to (a) Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 7 to our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed June 28, 2005 (File No. 333-123635);** (b) Exhibit 10.7.1 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29, 2006; and (c) Exhibit 10.7.2 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, filed November 14, 2006.

(10.8) NeuStar, Inc. 1999 Equity Incentive Plan (the �1999 Plan�), incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.8 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27,
2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.9) NeuStar, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the �2005 Plan�), incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27,
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2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.10) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of April 10, 2000, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Jeffrey Ganek, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.11) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of April 10, 2000, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Mark Foster, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.12) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of March 26, 2002, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Michael Lach, as amended as of June 22, 2004, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�
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Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

(10.13) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of June 6, 2002, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Jeffrey Ganek, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.14) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of June 6, 2002, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Mark Foster, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.15) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of June 6, 2002, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Jeffrey Ganek, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.16) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of January 16, 2003, by
and between NeuStar, Inc. and John Malone, as amended as of December 18, 2003 and as of
June 22, 2004, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Amendment No. 1 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.17) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Jeffrey Ganek, as amended as of June 22, 2004, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.18) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Michael Lach, as amended as of June 22, 2004, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.19) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Mark Foster, as amended as of June 22, 2004, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.20) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and John Malone, as amended as of June 22, 2004 and May 20, 2005,
incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�
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(10.21) Nonqualified Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Jeffrey Ganek, as amended as of June 22, 2004, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.22) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by
and between NeuStar, Inc. and Michael Lach, as amended as of June 22, 2004, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on
Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.23) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by
and between NeuStar, Inc. and Mark Foster, as amended as of June 22, 2004, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on
Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�
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Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

(10.24) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of December 18, 2003, by
and between NeuStar, Inc. and John Malone, as amended as of June 22, 2004 and May 20,
2005, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Amendment No. 3 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.25) Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of June 22, 2004, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Jeffrey Babka, as amended as of May 20, 2005, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.26) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of June 22, 2004, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Jeffrey Babka, as amended as of May 20, 2005, incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.27) Phantom Stock Unit Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of July 19, 2004, by and between
NeuStar, Inc. and Michael R. Lach, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.28) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of April 10, 2000, by and
between NeuStar, Inc. and Ken Pickar, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.29) Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1999 Plan, made as of February 14, 2005, by
and between NeuStar, Inc. and Jim Cullen, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to
Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed April 8, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.30) Loudoun Tech Center Office Lease by and between Merritt-LT1, LLC, Landlord, and NeuStar,
Inc., Tenant, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Amendment No. 2 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 11, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).

(10.31) Credit Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2007, among NeuStar, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., and other lenders, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, filed February 9, 2007.
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(10.32) Guarantee Agreement dated February 6, 2007 among certain subsidiaries of NeuStar, Inc. in
favor of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for the lenders, incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 9, 2007

(10.33) NeuStar, Inc. Annual Performance Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.40 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27,
2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.34) NeuStar, Inc. 2005 Key Employee Severance Pay Plan, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.41 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27,
2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

10.35 Executive Relocation Policy.�

(10.36) Employment Continuation Agreement, made as of April 8, 2004, by and between NeuStar, Inc.
and Jeffrey Ganek, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to Amendment No. 3 to
our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.37) Employment Continuation Agreement, made as of April 8, 2004, by and between NeuStar, Inc.
and Mark Foster, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to Amendment No. 3 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.38) Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2005 Plan, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.45 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27,
2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.39) Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2005 Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.46 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�
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Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

(10.40) Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2005 Plan, incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.47 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1,
filed May 27, 2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.41) Summary of relocation arrangement with Jeffrey A. Babka, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.48 to Amendment No. 3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed May 27,
2005 (File No. 333-123635).�

(10.42) Form of Indemnification Agreement, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to
Amendment No. 5 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed June 10, 2005 (File
No. 333-123635).�

(10.43) Summary Description of Non-Management Director Compensation incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 99.1 to our Current Report on form 8-K, filed April 14, 2006.�

(10.44) Form of Directors� Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K, filed April 14, 2006. �

21.1 Subsidiaries of NeuStar, Inc.

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature page herewith).

31.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(99.1) Update to the Functional Requirements Specification, which is attached as Exhibit B to the
contractor services agreement by and between NeuStar, Inc. and North American Portability
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Management, LLC, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as Exhibit 10.1 and
Exhibit 10.1.1 to this annual report on Form 10-K, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29, 2006.

(99.2) Update to the Interoperable Interface Specification, which is attached as Exhibit C to the
contractor services agreement by and between NeuStar, Inc. and North American Portability
Management, LLC, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission Exhibit 10.1 and
Exhibit 10.1.1 to this annual report on Form 10-K, incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 29, 2006.

�Compensation arrangement.

** Confidential treatment has been requested or granted for portions of this document. The omitted portions of this
document have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 1, 2007.

NEUSTAR, INC.

By: /s/  Jeffrey E. Ganek
Jeffrey E. Ganek

Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer

We, the undersigned directors and officers of NeuStar, Inc., hereby severally constitute Jeffrey E. Ganek and Martin
K. Lowen, and each of them singly, our true and lawful attorneys with full power to them and each of them to sign for
us, in our names in the capacities indicated below, any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 1, 2007.

Signature Title

/s/  Jeffrey E. Ganek

Jeffrey E. Ganek

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  Jeffrey A. Babka

Jeffrey A. Babka

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/  James G. Cullen

James G. Cullen

Director

/s/  Andre Dahan

Andre Dahan

Director
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/s/  Joel P. Friedman

Joel P. Friedman

Director

/s/  Ross K. Ireland

Ross K. Ireland

Director

/s/  Dr. Kenneth A. Pickar

Dr. Kenneth A. Pickar

Director

/s/  Michael J. Rowny

Michael J. Rowny

Director

/s/  Hellene S. Runtagh

Hellene S. Runtagh

Director
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